## University of Windsor Scholarship at UWindsor

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

Theses, Dissertations, and Major Papers

10-30-2020

# Breadth of the Wild: Global Patterns in Elasmobranch Dietary Niche Breadth

Sarah Popov University of Windsor

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd

### **Recommended Citation**

Popov, Sarah, "Breadth of the Wild: Global Patterns in Elasmobranch Dietary Niche Breadth" (2020). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 8469. https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/8469

This online database contains the full-text of PhD dissertations and Masters' theses of University of Windsor students from 1954 forward. These documents are made available for personal study and research purposes only, in accordance with the Canadian Copyright Act and the Creative Commons license—CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative Works). Under this license, works must always be attributed to the copyright holder (original author), cannot be used for any commercial purposes, and may not be altered. Any other use would require the permission of the copyright holder. Students may inquire about withdrawing their dissertation and/or thesis from this database. For additional inquiries, please contact the repository administrator via email (scholarship@uwindsor.ca) or by telephone at 519-253-3000ext. 3208.

# Breadth of the Wild: Global Patterns in Elasmobranch Dietary Niche Breadth

By

Sarah Popov

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies through the Department of Integrative Biology in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science at the University of Windsor

Windsor, Ontario, Canada

2020

© 2020 Sarah Popov

### Breadth of the Wild: Global Patterns in Elasmobranch Dietary Niche Breadth

by

Sarah Popov

APPROVED BY:

C. Semeniuk Great Lakes Institute for Environmental Research

> D. Mennill Department of Integrative Biology

N. E. Hussey, Advisor Department of Integrative Biology

August 31, 2020

### **DECLARATION OF CO-AUTHORSHIP**

### I. Co-Authorship

I hereby declare that this thesis incorporates material that is result of joint research which was undertaken under the supervision of Dr. Nigel Hussey in all cases. The unpublished manuscript presented in Chapter 2 was co-authored by S. Popov, A. Barkley, K. J. Lees, and N. E. Hussey. The author was responsible for providing the main ideas, data analysis and figure creation, interpretation, and writing the final manuscript. Co-authors contributed to the original literature search and data analysis. N. E. Hussey additionally provided guidance on theoretical knowledge input and conducted revisions of all written contributions.

I am aware of the University of Windsor Senate Policy on Authorship and I certify that I have properly acknowledged the contribution of other researchers to my thesis and have obtained written permission from each of the co-author(s) to include the above material(s) in my thesis.

I certify that, with the above qualification, this thesis, and the research to which it refers, is the product of my own work.

### II. General

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, my thesis does not infringe upon anyone's copyright nor violate any proprietary rights and that any ideas, techniques, quotations, or any other material from the work of other people included in my thesis, published or otherwise, are fully acknowledged in accordance with the standard referencing practices. Furthermore, to the extent that I have included copyrighted material that surpasses the bounds of fair dealing within the meaning of the Canada Copyright Act, I certify that I have obtained a written permission from the copyright owner(s) to include such material(s) in my thesis and have included copies of such copyright clearances to my appendix.

I declare that this is a true copy of my thesis, including any final revisions, as approved by my thesis committee and the Graduate Studies office, and that this thesis has not been submitted for a higher degree to any other University or Institution.

### ABSTRACT

A widely recognized pattern in ecology is the latitudinal diversity gradient: increasing biodiversity with decreasing latitude. The latitude niche-breadth hypothesis states that the stable climate of the tropics allows for increased specialization (smaller niche), promoting greater biodiversity in the available niche space. The highly dynamic climate of the poles drives the evolution of generalists (larger niche), limiting biodiversity. While the fundamental question of "what drives species richness?" on land remains debated, it is even less understood in the marine environment. Elasmobranchs (sharks, skates, and rays) are a data-rich, globally distributed group that occupy an array of functional roles, inhabiting coastal to open ocean habitats from the poles to the tropics. In this thesis, I use a global-scale stomach contents dataset to calculate standardized Levin's niche breadth for 237 populations of 85 elasmobranch species in order to examine spatial patterns in niche breadth. I find that niche breadth varies widely across all functional, taxonomic, and regional groups, highlighting the diversity and potential resiliency of this clade. Niche breadth of elasmobranchs does not follow a latitudinal gradient. Instead, niche varies with depth, with niche breadth generally increasing with increasing depth. This depth gradient is strongest in bottom-dwelling elasmobranchs with smaller range sizes and weakest in wide-ranging pelagic elasmobranchs. This pattern suggests that for species with limited mobility, specialization may mediate coexistence in highly biodiverse areas with elevated competition. Why this pattern applies in a depth, but not latitudinal, gradient remains unclear.

### DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my parents, who left everything they knew to chase the evanescent American Dream. Спасибо, что подбодрили эту лягушку путешественницу, and for not being too upset when at the age of 17, I vehemently opposed pursuing a safe career at J.P. Morgan Chase. Without your encouragement and sacrifice I would not be here today. I am so proud to have the family name Popov on this document.

I also dedicate this work to all other graduate students struggling to see the relevance of their work, something I have been grappling with in the midst of a global pandemic, ecosystem and biodiversity collapse, and erosion of social fabric and racial reckoning. Your work is valuable, whether now or in 10, 100, 500

years.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Many hands helped make this thesis a reality. This work firstly would not have been possible without the indomitable support of my supervisor, Nigel Hussey – thank you, Nigel, for your unerring confidence in my abilities, for encouraging me to explore more (both literally aboard the Kiviuq and figuratively) and consequently letting me make mistakes, and for reigning me in when I've strayed too far from my goals. Your enthusiasm for science is contagious. Few people have been so fortunate as to look a bottlenose whale in the eye or run off to exotic England on a scientific whim, and none of that would have been possible without you.

I am extremely grateful to Clive Trueman and Dave Sims, who donated their time, expertise, and a lab desk and chair each for several weeks each while I visited them in England. Thank you both for excellent London tourist tips, many fascinating conversations, and contributing to my growth as a scientist – I will look back fondly on my time in your labs for years to come.

Thank you, Tina, for your tireless advocacy in fostering a more inclusive environment in the Department, which has tangibly improved my university experience. And thank you to Dan, who kindly responded with "well, I look forward to seeing you at the University of Windsor next year," after I mentioned that I was deciding between attending Dalhousie University or the University of Windsor at the 2018 BioBash. Your warm welcome, before I had even truly arrived, was influential in my decision. I am so fortunate to be surrounded by the incredible talent and kindness of the other members of the Hussey Lab, who have made my life in Windsor a genuine joy. Jena and Ellyn, I will always remember our little cupboard under the stairs (the office), and the serious conversations about being women in science and goofy conversations about fishkeeping and neighbors that we had in there. Eric, I hate to admit it, but your rainbow crocs brighten my day, and Dani, our many trips to GreenBean got me through any and all dark days that were not graced by Eric's crocs. Laurissa, thank you for your endlessly effervescent demeanor, which never ceases to bring a smile to my face. Kirsty and Brynn, your experienced guidance as women in the next stage of their careers has been invaluable. To Steph, Harri, Amanda, and Blue, veterans of the Hussey Lab, thank you for helping me feel so welcome as a newcomer, and to Amanda specifically, for providing such wonderful moral support and literal candy aboard the Kiviuq. You make an excellent team leader.

Stepth, without the foundation you helped build, I would never have had a dataset to analyze in the first place. Thank you for organizing and overseeing the massive undergraduate volunteer effort that got the ball rolling. To Arshvinder, Jahanvi, Kaitlyn, Lucas, Morgan, Simeran, and Teah: the generosity of your time helped get the dataset over the finish line. I am grateful to the small legion of women who have answered my various statistical and methodological queries throughout my degree: Tina, Kirsty, Amy Cottrell, Courtney Shuert, Katherine Papacostas, Lesley Lancaster, and Sarah Dier-McComb. Thank you, Amy, for our regular chats about life in grad school, and for offering advice that I will keep with me for the rest of my career.

Thank you to my little west coast family, who all encouraged me to take the leap to move to Windsor and have stayed in touch ever since: Angie, Maeve, Simon-Luc, Sarah, Kevin, Evan, and Aaron. I've promised you all at various points in the past to send you hand drawn cards from Windsor, and somehow two years have gone by and I failed to follow through. I am once again asking for *an extension* and hope I can make up for it by including you all in the coveted final paragraph of the Acknowledgements. I am indebted to you all for the laughter that's brought me to tears and the little D&D group that "gets ya through the hard times." And of course, to Patrick, who dropped everything to move here with me, who's listened to my whinging with endless patience, and who has encouraged me at every step, you fulfill the obligatory "significant other" final line quite nicely. I am so lucky to have you by my side.

ix

DECLAF	RATION OF CO-AUTHORSHIP	iii
ABSTRA	АСТ	V
DEDICA	<b>ATION</b>	vi
ACKNO	WLEDGEMENTS	vii
LIST OF	F TABLES	xii
LIST OF	F FIGURES	xiv
LIST OF	F APPENDICES	xix
СНАРТН	ER 1 General Introduction	1
1.1	Overview of study system: why the oceans?	3
1.2	The lens of niche	4
1.3	The latitude-niche breadth hypothesis	7
1.4	Study taxon and thesis objectives	8
1.5	References	10
СНАРТН	ER 2 A Depth Gradient in Elasmobranch Dietary Niche Breadth	18
2.1	Introduction	
2.1.	1 Other variables affecting niche breadth	21
2.1.2	2 Study objectives	23
2.2	Methods	
2.2.1	1 Data collection	25
2.2.2	2 Data cleaning and standardization	26

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.2.3	External data supplements	
2.2.4	Exclusion criteria	
2.2.5	Niche calculations.	
2.2.6	Modeling	
2.3	Results	
2.3.1	Overall trends.	
2.3.2	Patterns in latitude, body size, and range size	40
2.3.3	Model results.	44
2.4	Discussion	
2.4.1	If not latitude, then what drives niche breadth?	
2.4.2	Effects of clade, range size, and body size	
2.4.3	Bergmann's rule and Rapoport's rule	
2.4.4	Conservation implications.	
2.4.5	Greater macroecological implications.	
2.4.6	Conclusion	66
2.5	References	67
CHAPTE	R 3 General Discussion	92
3.1	Only one piece of the marine environment	
3.2	Only one piece of niche	
3.3	References	
APPENDI	ICES	114
VITA A14	CTORIS	190
, III I AU		

### LIST OF TABLES

<b>Table 1</b> . Four best-fit linear models applied to northern hemisphere dietary nichebreadth. $N = 118$
<b>Table 2.</b> Four best-fit linear models applied to southern hemisphere dietary nichebreadth. $N = 119$
<b>Supplementary Table 1.</b> Number of studies that report each index ( $n = 211$ studies; note this number includes some studies that do not meet certain criteria and were ultimately excluded from analyses; see "Exclusion criteria" above). The majority of studies report multiple indices
<b>Supplementary Table 2.</b> Common reporting standards of stomach content data. Abbreviations used in the literature can vary widely, and the reader must use context to determine which method of reporting is employed within an individual study
<b>Supplementary Table 3.</b> Standardized Levin's dietary niche for all elasmobranch species in the present thesis. <i>S<sub>n</sub></i> , number of non-empty stomachs sampled. DPE, distance to polar edge. LR, latitudinal range in degrees. DR, depth range in meters. C, clade
<b>Supplementary Table 4.</b> Sample sizes of categorical covariates in the northern and southern hemisphere models
<b>Supplementary Table 5.</b> Sample sizes of categorical covariates in the northern and southern hemisphere models with smaller stomach sample sizes excluded165
<b>Supplementary Table 6.</b> Three best-fit models applied to northern hemisphere niche breadth, with a minimum stomach sample size of 100 stomachs. $N = 42 166$
vii

**Supplementary Table 7.** Four best-fit models applied to southern hemisphere niche breadth, with a minimum stomach sample size of 100 stomachs. N = 45 ... 166

Supplementary Table 8. Best-fit northern and southern models applied to niche
breadth without clade compared to best-fit northern and southern models with
clade171

### **LIST OF FIGURES**

**Figure 2.2** Dietary niche breadths of 85 elasmobranch species, ordered by maximum niche. Each point represents the niche of an individual population of a species. Figure includes data from both the southern and northern hemispheres...35

**Figure 2.6** Standardized Levin's dietary niche breadth by elasmobranch clade. Clades are ordered by age, with A being the oldest and J being the youngest (see

Appendix 4.2 for clade methodology).	Figure includes	data from	both the southern
and northern hemispheres.			

Figure 2.7 Body size versus (A) latitudinal range and (B) depth range in the	
southern (S) and northern (N) hemispheres.	.41

**Figure 2.11** Ecosystem depth versus niche breadth within each functional group (colored groupings from left to right: demersal, reef-associated, benthopelagic, and pelagic). Distance from shore has a stronger positive relationship with niche breadth for bottom-dwelling (demersal and reef-associated) elasmobranchs than for benthopelagic and pelagic elasmobranchs. Figure includes data from both the southern and northern hemispheres.

**Figure 2.12** Depth range (**A**) and body size (**B**) versus niche breadth by functional group (colored panels from left to right: demersal, reef-associated, benthopelagic, and pelagic). Pelagic species grow more specialized with increasing bathymetric range (**A**) and body size (**B**). Note that while each model interaction term is

**Figure 2.14** Forest plot of southern hemisphere best-fit model showing effect sizes of each model term on dietary niche breadth (DPE, distance to polar edge). Red dots indicate negative effects, while blue indicate positive. (N = 119;  $R^2 = 0.60$ ).50

**Figure 3.1** Elasmobranch standardized Levin's niche breadth ("Dietary niche") versus (**A**) telemetric niche, measured as 50% kernel density estimations (KDE) of space use (*i.e.*, home range size; km<sup>2</sup> • 10<sup>6</sup>) and (**B**) isotopic niche, measured as Bayesian standard ellipse area (SEA<sub>B</sub>). Home range was calculated across the entire lifetime of the tag; SEA<sub>B</sub> was calculated in  $\delta^{13}$ C and  $\delta^{15}$ N isotopic space. Each point represents the mean of each niche measure (dietary niche, SEA<sub>B</sub>, KDE) of a single elasmobranch species. A holistic version of niche in *n*-dimensional space ideally includes multiple metrics of niche; in this case, three axes are present. As diet breadth increases, telemetric and isotopic breadth appear to decrease. Telemetric niche (**A**) is currently limited to larger, more charismatic Carcharhiniform and Lamniform sharks, while isotopic niche (**B**) is more flexible

in which species can be sampled. Figure includes data from both the southern and northern hemispheres. See Appendix 4.7 for SEA<sub>B</sub> and KDE methodology. ..... 102

Figure 4.1 Elasmobranch clade groupings. Clades are grouped by age based on	
mean branch lengths within each group	117

Figure 4.7 Forest plot of best fit southern hemisphere model applied to dietary niche data with small sample sizes (n < 100) excluded. Red dots indicate negative effects, while blue indicate positive. Ecosystem, body size, and their interaction

remain signifi	cant and explain a	large amount o	of variation in nic	he breadth. ( $N =$
$45; R^2 = 0.59$	)			

### LIST OF APPENDICES

4.1 Dietary indices within the database114
4.2 Elasmobranch clades116
4.3 Niche results118
4.4 Model covariate sample sizes and residuals161
4.5 Model results with smaller sample sizes excluded164
4.6 Clade-only models171
4.7 SEA <sub>B</sub> and KDE methodology172
4.8 Full list of R packages used176

#### **CHAPTER 1**

#### **General Introduction**

Biodiversity has long been recognized as variable on the planet, with species richness peaking at the tropics and decreasing with increasing latitude. This latitudinal diversity gradient (LDG) was first described scientifically in 1808 by Alexander von Humboldt, who noted that plant biodiversity was far greater in tropical Venezuela than in temperate Europe (von Humboldt, 1808). Numerous other gradients have since been explored in the literature, including altitudinal and depth gradients in biodiversity (Macpherson, 2002; Rahbek, 1995; Rohde, 1992), yet no gradient is so widespread or well documented as the LDG (Brown, 2014; Rohde, 1992). Since von Humboldt's initial observations, latitudinal gradients in diversity have been documented in myriad taxa across geologic time, ranging from Permian brachiopods and Triassic ammonoids (Crame, 2001) to modern trees, ants, and marine fishes (Krebs, 1972; Macpherson & Duarte, 1994; Wright, 2002). For example, Krebs (1972) documents 22 species of snake in Canada, 126 in the US, and 293 in Mexico; 7 species of ant in Alaska, 63 in Utah, 101 in Cuba, and 222 in Brazil; and 10-15 species of tree in two hectares in Michigan versus 227 species of tree in two hectares in Malaysia. There are some exceptions to the rule, with cold-adapted taxa notably having the highest biodiversity at temperate latitudes. Penguins, pinnipeds, cetaceans, and their associated parasites, for example, have the highest diversity at higher latitudes (Lomolino et al., 2010; Tittensor et al., 2010). However, these exceptions are comparatively rare and can serve as "natural experiments" to understand which potentially differing processes are driving their biogeography (Brown, 2014).

While the LDG has been a well observed phenomenon for the past two centuries, the cause of the LDG has been a hotly debated topic in the literature. von Humboldt was the first European to formally suggest that temperature was the primary force shaping regional biodiversity, though others before him had noted it in their journals (Caldas, 1966; Forster, 1778; von Humboldt, 1808). The drivers behind the LDG have since proven to be of enduring interest in the field of ecology, with no agreed upon mechanism accounting for the pattern (Brown, 2014; Rohde, 1992). The topic has stimulated much research throughout the last century: Pianka (1966), Stevens (1989), Rohde (1992), Gaston (2000), Mittelbach et al. (2007), Brown (2014), and Kinlock et al. (2018), among many others, have all published influential work on the causes and consequences of the LDG. Indeed, understanding the mechanisms underlying spatial patterns of biodiversity, in particular the LDG, has been declared as one of the top questions of the early 21st century (Kennedy & Norman, 2005; Pennisi, 2005).

Over two dozen hypotheses have been proposed as mechanisms driving the LDG since von Humboldt's temperature theorem. Rohde (1992) summarized 28 potential hypotheses, which were broadly categorized into three groups: 12 "circular", 11 "insufficient", and 5 "time" hypotheses. Circular hypotheses are ecological in nature and rely upon increased biodiversity in the tropics as a pre-existing condition (*e.g.*, increased levels of predation, parasitism, and competition resulting in further increased diversification). As such, circular "explanations" are in fact phenomena that are a consequence of high species richness rather than an explanation thereof (Brown & Gibson, 1983; Rohde, 1992). Insufficient hypotheses are those that have little evidence to support them: for example, increased productivity has been postulated as an explanation for increased species

richness; in reality, this is a correlation which does not always exist. For example, tropical coral reefs, some of the most biodiverse ecosystems on the planet, occur in relatively nutrient-poor waters (Begon et al., 1986; Rohde, 1992). Finally, time hypotheses hinge upon speciation rates and evolutionary time as the primary mechanism by which the tropics have higher biodiversity. While there is considerable fossil and phylogenetic evidence to support the hypothesis that extratropical species originate from the "cradle" or "museum" of the tropics (Bowen et al., 2013; Jablonski et al., 2006), there are likely certain underlying traits of equatorial ecosystems creating these "cradles" in the first place (Arita & Vázquez-Domínguez, 2008; Belmaker & Jetz, 2015). Additionally, recent work contradicts the commonly held assumption of increased speciation rates in the tropics, at least within the marine environment (Rabosky et al., 2018). Ultimately, agreement into what causes the LDG has yet to be reached, despite this being a long recognized and well-studied pattern.

### 1.1 Overview of study system: why the oceans?

The oceans are vast compared to continents, with a correspondingly vast knowledge gap on what drives the biodiversity gradient in the marine environment as opposed to on land (Bowen et al., 2013; Brown, 2014; Roy et al., 1998). The marine realm differs considerably from the terrestrial, with these differences potentially leading to contrasting drivers of the latitudinal diversity gradient on land versus sea (Brown, 2014; Valentine & Jablonski, 2015). The oceans are characterized by limited barriers and high species mobility, high larval dispersal driven by ocean currents, and significant movement of biomass into the depths in addition to across latitude (Garland et al., 2002; Sequeira et al., 2018). Rapid vertical variations in temperature are largely driven by water stratification, particularly in the tropics (Tomczak, 2019), while more gradual horizontal variations in temperature are generated by seasonality at higher latitudes (Clarke & Gaston, 2006). In contrast, dispersal is limited in terrestrial systems, with major geographic barriers such as mountain ranges and canyons; the majority of terrestrial movement is in two dimensions, and seasonality is far greater at higher latitudes in terrestrial systems. For example, species' thermal tolerance ranges (and in turn, exploitable habitat) differ markedly from the terrestrial to the marine, with marine thermal ranges limited at the poles and extreme at the equator (Sunday et al., 2011). The inverse occurs in the terrestrial environment (Stevens, 1989).

The difficulty of monitoring environmental conditions and organismal life histories in such a dynamic, three-dimensional environment has prevented the study of the mechanistic drivers behind the marine latitudinal diversity gradient until the more recent synthesis of large, global scale datasets, technological advances such as remote sensing and biotelemetry (Cooke et al., 2004; Hussey et al., 2015a; Payne et al., 2014), and the application of biochemical tracers (*e.g.* stable isotopes; Fry, 2006). As such, patterns and drivers associated with the LDG have yet to be rigorously tested in the marine environment.

### 1.2 The lens of niche

One particularly compelling means of studying the marine LDG is through the lens of niche (MacArthur, 1968). Exploring broad patterns of individual species' behavior,

limitations to survival, and environmental and dietary preferences – in short, studying the ecological "space" that an organism occupies – can provide valuable insights into what drives the LDG, as it allows researchers to quantify latitudinal patterns of other ecosystem traits aside from biodiversity (Brown, 2014; Schemske, 2002).

The niche of a species is typically described on a scale from "specialist" to "generalist" (Krebs, 2014). The term "specialist" describes a species that has narrow environmental or dietary range and is thus "specialized" in certain environmental conditions or food items. In contrast, a "generalist" describes a species that can utilize a wide variety of environments or food items. Niche breadth is a term used to describe the degree to which a species is specialized or generalized: a narrow or small niche breadth indicates a specialist, while a wide or large niche breadth indicates a generalist.

The concept of "niche" was first formally discussed in the literature in 1917 by Joseph Grinnell, who sought to quantify the biogeographic variables that were associated with the presence of one species of bird over another. Grinnell argued that the environment both shaped the organism living within it while at the same time constraining where it could live: "The [California Thrasher] may be characterized as semi- terrestrial, but always dependent upon vegetational cover; and this cover must be of the chaparral type, .... and upon its ability to co-operate in making use of this cover. The Thrasher has strong feet and legs, and muscular thighs, an equipment which betokens powers of running.... These various circumstances, which emphasize dependence upon cover, and adaptation in physical structure and temperament thereto, go to demonstrate the nature of the ultimate associational niche occupied by the California Thrasher" (Grinnell, 1917). In the intervening years Grinnellian, or "spatial", niche has come to be more formally defined as the biogeographic parameters and environmental conditions where a species can persist indefinitely (Krebs, 2014; Leibold, 1995; Peterson et al., 2011).

Following Grinnell's publication, the field of niche theory was born. The second major contribution to the field was Charles Elton's theory of niche, in which he defined niche as the "role" or trophic position of an organism within its ecosystem (Elton, 1927). Elton's primary interest in niche was to quantify inter- and intra-specific competition for resources. This is typically done by examining stomach contents in order to determine which food resources a species consumes (Krebs, 2014). Dietary niche, therefore, is defined as the dietary composition required by an organism to persist indefinitely.

Finally, Evelyn Hutchinson in 1957 unified the two differing theories of niche into a single concept: that of the "*n*-dimensional hypervolume" (Hutchinson, 1957). The *n*-dimensional hypervolume describes, on *n*-number of axes, every possible biological and physical niche of an organism, from thermal tolerance ranges to dietary preferences. The hypervolume therefore encompasses all points where a population of an organism can exist in perpetuity. In his 1957 "Concluding Remarks", Hutchinson additionally discusses the concepts of "fundamental" versus "realized" niche (Hutchinson, 1957). The *n*dimensional hypervolume is equivalent to the "fundamental" niche: the maximum theoretical space in which an organism can persist. In reality, inter- and intra-specific competition and limitations to dispersal constrain the size of the *n*-dimensional hypervolume. This constrained set of conditions where a species exists in reality is referred to as the "realized" niche.

### 1.3 The latitude-niche breadth hypothesis

In 1972, MacArthur unified the disparate concepts of niche theory and the LDG (MacArthur, 1972). The latitude-niche breadth hypothesis states that there is a relationship between the niche breadth of an organism and latitude, and predicts that the stable, uniform climate at the equator promotes increased specialization (narrower niche), allowing more species to occupy the total available niche space, while the highly dynamic climate at the poles drives the evolution of generalists (wider niche). This in turn results in increased species richness at the equator and limited richness at the poles. In short, the total available niche space remains constant at all latitudes.

The null hypothesis of the above is that niche breadth does not vary with latitude. Instead, there are two alternatives to account for the LDG: the theoretical total available niche space in the tropics is simply wider than at the poles, permitting the coexistence of a greater number of species, or the total available niche space at the poles simply has not yet been filled (Pielou, 1979; Rabosky et al., 2018; Rohde, 1992).

Because niche breadth is representative of a species' adaptations to its environment, it is expected that certain biotic traits will also correlate with niche breadth. For example, body size can be correlated with home range size (Brown et al., 1996), geographic range size (Pyron, 1999), trophic position (Akin & Winemiller, 2008; Cohen et al., 1993; Jennings et al., 2001), and prey item size (Barclay & Brigham, 1991). As such, one may expect body size to be correlated with spatial (Grinnellian) niche breadth (Rapoport's rule; Stevens, 1989) and dietary (Eltonian) niche breadth.

While the latitude-niche breadth hypothesis is frequently implicated in latitudinal diversity gradient research, empirical testing of it has been minimal, particularly in the

marine environment (Vázquez & Stevens, 2004). Rohde (1978) found that host specificity of trematode parasites decreased with latitude, while Monogenean parasites overall showed no trend; however, caution must be taken when interpreting latitudinal trends in any internal parasite, as they are buffered from the environmental conditions of the region (Stevens, 1989). Two other studies identified increasing thermal niche breadth with latitude in the marine environment (Sunday et al., 2011, 2012), but a wide thermal niche breadth does not necessarily correlate with greater diet breadth. Teleost larvae consume a greater variety of prey at lower latitudes, but specialize in one particular prey group, suggesting greater resource specialization at lower latitudes (Llopiz, 2013). Only one study tested the latitude-niche breadth hypothesis in the marine environment using diet as a metric for resource use while accounting for the potentially confounding variables of body size, range size, and phylogenetic relatedness (Papacostas & Freestone, 2016). The study found that niche breadth increased with latitude in temperate brachyuran crabs, but that the relationship did not extend to tropical taxa. For tropical brachyuran crabs, the evolutionary age of the clade was the major determinant of dietary niche breadth, suggesting evolutionary history and competition play a stronger role in structuring tropical marine community dynamics.

### 1.4 Study taxon and thesis objectives

There has been one recently published study examining patterns of niche breadth and depth range in skates (Elasmobranchii: Batoidea), indicating that this is a historically understudied yet currently active body of research (Barbini et al., 2018). Barbini et al. (2018) note that to their knowledge, "this is the first study on [niche breadth] focused on elasmobranch fishes." To date, there have been no published studies testing patterns of niche breadth and latitude in elasmobranch fishes.

This thesis seeks to empirically test the latitude-niche breadth hypothesis in the marine environment using elasmobranchs (sharks, skates, and rays) as the study taxon and dietary breadth as the measure of niche. Compared to taxa examined in other marine latitude-niche breadth hypothesis studies (*e.g.* flatworms, teleost larvae, brachyuran crabs), elasmobranchs are notably larger, more mobile, and of a higher trophic level. Elasmobranchs are also data-rich, with hundreds of diet content datasets published to date, and comprise the largest, most diverse predatory clade in the oceans both today and in the last several hundred million years (Compagno, 1990). As such, dietary niche values for this single clade can capture a wealth of evolutionary history and information about marine food webs. Studying this group within the context of the latitude-niche breadth hypothesis therefore provides a novel opportunity to study variables shaping the biogeography of marine predators.

- Akin, S., & Winemiller, K. O. (2008). Body size and trophic position in a temperate estuarine food web. *Acta Oecologica*, 33(2), 144–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actao.2007.08.002
- Arita, H. T., & Vázquez-Domínguez, E. (2008). The tropics: Cradle, museum or casino? A dynamic null model for latitudinal gradients of species diversity. *Ecology Letters*, 11(7), 653–663. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01197.x
- Barbini, S. A., Sabadin, D. E., & Lucifora, L. O. (2018). Comparative analysis of feeding habits and dietary niche breadth in skates: The importance of body size, snout length, and depth. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 28(3), 625–636. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-018-9522-5
- Barclay, R. M. R., & Brigham, R. M. (1991). Prey detection, dietary niche breadth, and body size in bats: Why are aerial insectivorous bats so small? *The American Naturalist*, 137(5), 693–703.
- Begon, M., Harper, J. L., & Townsend, C. R. (1986). Ecology. Individuals, populations and communities. Blackwell scientific publications.
- Belmaker, J., & Jetz, W. (2015). Relative roles of ecological and energetic constraints, diversification rates and region history on global species richness gradients. *Ecol*ogy Letters, 18(6), 563–571. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12438
- Bowen, B. W., Rocha, L. A., Toonen, R. J., & Karl, S. A. (2013). The origins of tropical marine biodiversity. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2013.01.018

Brown, J. H. (2014). Why are there so many species in the tropics? *Journal of Biogeography*, 41(1), 8–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12228

Brown, J. H., & Gibson, A. C. (1983). Biogeography.

- Brown, J. H., Stevens, G. C., & Kaufman, D. M. (1996). The Geographic Range: Size, Shape, Boundaries, and Internal Structure. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 27(1), 597–623. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.27.1.597
- Caldas, F. J. de. (1966). Estado de la geografía del virreinato de Santafé de Bogotá, con relación a la economía y al comercio, por don Francisco José de Caldas, individuo meritorio de la Expedición Botánica del Reino, y encargado del Observatorio Astronómico de esta capital. In Obras completas de Francisco José de Caldas: Publicadas por la Universidad Nacional de Colombia como homenaje con motivo del sesquicentenario de su muerte 1816—Octubre 29 -1966 (pp. 183–211). Imprenta Nacional. http://bdigital.unal.edu.co/95/
- Clarke, A., & Gaston, K. J. (2006). Climate, energy and diversity. *Proc. R. Soc. B*, 273(1599), 2257–2266. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2006.3545
- Cohen, J. E., Pimm, S. L., Yodzis, P., & Saldaña, J. (1993). Body sizes of animal predators and animal prey in food webs. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 67–78.
- Compagno, L. J. V. (1990). Alternative life-history styles of cartilaginous fishes in time and space. In M. N. Bruton (Ed.), *Alternative life-history styles of fishes* (Vol. 10, pp. 33–75). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-009-2065-1\_3
- Cooke, S. J., Hinch, S. G., Wikelski, M., Andrews, R. D., Kuchel, L. J., Wolcott, T. G., & Butler, P. J. (2004). Biotelemetry: A mechanistic approach to ecology. *Trends in*

*Ecology & Evolution*, *19*(6), 334–343.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TREE.2004.04.003

Crame, A. J. (British A. S. (2001). Taxonomic diversity gradients through geological time. *Diversity and Distributions*, 7, 175–189.

Elton, C. S. (1927). Animal Ecology. Macmillan.

Forster, J. R. (1778). Observations made during a Voyage Round the World on Physical Geography, Natural History, and Ethic Philosophy. Printed for G. Robinson ...

Fry, Brian. (2006). Stable Isotope Ecology. Springer.

Garland, E. D., Zimmer, C. A., & Lentz, S. J. (2002). Larval distributions in inner-shelf waters: The roles of wind-driven cross-shelf currents and diel vertical migrations. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 47(3), 803–817.

https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2002.47.3.0803

- Gaston, K. J. (2000). Global patterns in biodiversity. *Nature*, 405(6783), 220–227. https://doi.org/10.1038/35012228
- Grinnell, J. (1917). The Niche-Relationships of the Californian thrasher. *The Auk*, *34*(4), 427–433.
- Hussey, N. E., Kessel, S. T., Aarestrup, K., Cooke, S. J., Cowley, P. D., Fisk, A. T., Harcourt, R. G., Holland, K. N., Iverson, S. J., Kocik, J. F., Mills Flemming, J. E., & Whoriskey, F. G. (2015). Aquatic animal telemetry: A panoramic window into the underwater world. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *348*(6240), 1255642. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1255642
- Hutchinson, G. E. (1957). Concluding Remarks. Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology.

- Jablonski, D., Roy, K., & Valentine, J. W. (2006). Out of the Tropics: Evolutionary Dynamics of the Latitudinal Diversity Gradient. *Science*, 314(5796), 102–106. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1130880
- Jennings, S., Pinnegar, J. K., Polunin, N. V. C., & Boon, T. W. (2001). Weak cross-species relationships between body size and trophic level belie powerful size-based trophic structuring in fish communities. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 70(6), 934– 944. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0021-8790.2001.00552.x
- Kennedy, D., & Norman, C. (2005). What Don't We Know? *Science*, *309*(5731), 75 LP 75. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.309.5731.75
- Kinlock, N. L., Prowant, L., Herstoff, E. M., Foley, C. M., Akin-Fajiye, M., Bender, N., Umarani, M., Ryu, H. Y., Şen, B., & Gurevitch, J. (2018). Explaining global variation in the latitudinal diversity gradient: Meta-analysis confirms known patterns and uncovers new ones. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 27(1), 125–141. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12665
- Krebs, C. J. (1972). The experimental analysis of distribution and abundance. *Ecology*. *New York: Harper and Row*.
- Krebs, C. J. (2014). Niche Measures and Resource Preferences. In *Ecological Methodol*ogy (3rd ed., pp. 596–653). Pearson.
- Leibold, M. A. (1995). The Niche Concept Revisited: Mechanistic Models and Community Context. *Ecology*, *76*(5), 1371–1382. https://doi.org/10.2307/1938141
- Llopiz, J. K. (2013). Latitudinal and taxonomic patterns in the feeding ecologies of fish larvae: A literature synthesis. *Journal of Marine Systems*, 109–110, 69–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2012.05.002

- Lomolino, M. V., Riddle, B. R., Whittaker, R. J., & Brown, J. H. (2010). *Biogeography* (Sinauer, Sunderland, MA).
- MacArthur, R. H. (1968). The theory of the niche. In *Population Biology and Evolution* (pp. 159–176). Syracuse University Press.

MacArthur, R. H. (1972). Geographical ecology: Patterns in the distribution of species.

Macpherson, E. (2002). Large-scale species-richness gradients in the Atlantic Ocean. Proceedings. Biological Sciences, 269(1501), 1715–1720. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2002.2091

- Macpherson, E., & Duarte, C. M. (1994). Patterns in species richness, size, and latitudinal range of East Atlantic fishes. *Ecography*, 17(3), 242–248. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.1994.tb00099.x
- Mittelbach, G. G., Schemske, D. W., Cornell, H. V., Allen, A. P., Brown, J. M., Bush, M.
  B., Harrison, S. P., Hurlbert, A. H., Knowlton, N., Lessios, H. A., McCain, C. M.,
  McCune, A. R., McDade, L. A., McPeek, M. A., Near, T. J., Price, T. D., Ricklefs, R. E., Roy, K., Sax, D. F., ... Turelli, M. (2007). Evolution and the latitudinal diversity gradient: Speciation, extinction and biogeography. *Ecology Letters*, *10*(4), 315–331. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01020.x
- Papacostas, K. J., & Freestone, A. L. (2016). Latitudinal gradient in niche breadth of brachyuran crabs. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 25(2), 207–217. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12400
- Payne, N. L., Taylor, M. D., Watanabe, Y. Y., & Semmens, J. M. (2014). From physiology to physics: Are we recognizing the flexibility of biologging tools? *The*

Journal of Experimental Biology, 217(Pt 3), 317–322.

https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.093922

- Pennisi, E. (2005). What Determines Species Diversity? *Science*, *309*(5731), 90 LP 90. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.309.5731.90
- Peterson, A. T., Soberón, J., Pearson, R. G., Anderson, R. P., Martínez-Meyer, E., Nakamura, M., & Araújo, M. B. (2011). *Ecological Niches and Geographic Distributions*. Princeton University Press.
- Pianka, E. R. (1966). Latitudinal Gradients in Species Diversity: A Review of Concepts. *The American Naturalist*, 100(910), 33–46.
- Pielou, E. C. (1979). Biogeography. Krieger Pub. Co.
- Pyron, M. (1999). Relationships between geographical range size, body size, local abundance, and habitat breadth in North American suckers and sunfishes. *Journal of Biogeography*, 26(3), 549–558. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2699.1999.00303.x
- Rabosky, D. L., Chang, J., Title, P. O., Cowman, P. F., Sallan, L., Friedman, M., Kaschner, K., Garilao, C., Near, T. J., Coll, M., & Alfaro, M. E. (2018). An inverse latitudinal gradient in speciation rate for marine fishes. *Nature*, 559(7714), 392–395. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0273-1
- Rahbek, C. (1995). The elevational gradient of species richness: A uniform pattern? *Ecography*, 18(2), 200–205. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.1995.tb00341.x
- Rohde, K. (1978). Latitudinal differences in host-specificity of marine Monogenea and digenea. *Marine Biology*, 47(2), 125–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00395633
- Rohde, K. (1992). Latitudinal Gradients in Species Diversity: The Search for the Primary Cause. *Oikos*, *65*(3), 514. https://doi.org/10.2307/3545569

Roy, K., Jablonski, D., Valentine, J. W., & Rosenberg, G. (1998). Marine latitudinal diversity gradients: Tests of causal hypotheses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95(7), 3699–3702. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.95.7.3699

Schemske, D. W. (2002). Ecological and evolutionary perspectives on the origins of tropical diversity. In *Foundations of Tropical Forest Biology: Classic Papers with Commentaries* (pp. 163–221). University of Chicago Press. https://books.google.ca/books?hl=en&lr=&id=TzyB7wyH1q4C&oi=fnd&pg=PA 163&dq=schemske+2002+ecological+evolutionary+perspectives&ots=6guqiyG4OG&sig=5LacpJcoPie90uKrsmq7rRvZM4Y#v=onepage&q=schemske%202002%20ecological%20evolutionary%20perspectives&f=false

- Sequeira, A. M. M., Rodríguez, J. P., Eguíluz, V. M., Harcourt, R., Hindell, M., Sims, D. W., Duarte, C. M., Costa, D. P., Fernández-Gracia, J., Ferreira, L. C., Hays, G. C., Heupel, M. R., Meekan, M. G., Aven, A., Bailleul, F., Baylis, A. M. M., Berumen, M. L., Braun, C. D., Burns, J., ... Thums, M. (2018). Convergence of marine megafauna movement patterns in coastal and open oceans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *115*(12), 3072–3077. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1716137115
- Stevens, G. C. (1989). The Latitudinal Gradient in Geographical Range: How so Many Species Coexist in the Tropics. *The American Naturalist*, 133(2), 240–256. https://doi.org/10.1086/284913
- Sunday, J. M., Bates, A. E., & Dulvy, N. K. (2011). Global analysis of thermal tolerance and latitude in ectotherms. *Proceedings. Biological Sciences*, 278(1713), 1823– 1830. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.1295
- Sunday, J. M., Bates, A. E., & Dulvy, N. K. (2012). Thermal tolerance and the global redistribution of animals. *Nature Climate Change*, 2(9), 686–690. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1539
- Tittensor, D. P., Mora, C., Jetz, W., Lotze, H. K., Ricard, D., Berghe, E. V., & Worm, B. (2010). Global patterns and predictors of marine biodiversity across taxa. *Nature*, 466(7310), 1098–1101. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09329
- Tomczak, M. (2019). Upper Ocean Mean Horizontal Structure. In *Encyclopedia of Ocean Sciences* (pp. 60–70). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.11162-5
- Valentine, J. W., & Jablonski, D. (2015). A twofold role for global energy gradients in marine biodiversity trends. *Journal of Biogeography*, 42(6), 997–1005. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12515
- Vázquez, D. P., & Stevens, R. D. (2004). The latitudinal gradient in niche breadth: Concepts and evidence. *The American Naturalist*, 164(1), E1-19. https://doi.org/10.1086/421445

von Humboldt, F. H. A. F. (1808). Ansichten der Natur mit wiss. Erläuterungen. Cotta.

Wright, J. S. (2002). Plant diversity in tropical forests: A review of mechanisms of species coexistence. *Oecologia*, 130(1), 1–14.

### **CHAPTER 2**

#### A Depth Gradient in Elasmobranch Dietary Niche Breadth

### 2.1 Introduction

The latitudinal diversity gradient is the dominant pattern in global-scale biogeography: species richness for nearly all taxa on earth increases with decreasing latitude (Brown, 2014; von Humboldt, 1808). This biodiversity gradient has been examined through the lens of niche theory, which can be used to describe facets of biodiversity beyond taxonomic richness (Costa et al., 2008; Lamanna et al., 2014; Pigot et al., 2016). Niche is broadly defined as the role an organism plays in its ecosystem (Elton, 1927), and niche breadth describes the range of environmental and dietary resources that an organism can exploit (Hutchinson, 1957; MacArthur, 1968). Species with narrow niche breadths are considered specialists, while a species with wide niche breadths are generalists (Krebs, 2014). Niche dynamics underpin a wide variety of ecological processes, providing insight into coexistence and competition (Bolnick et al., 2010), community resilience to disturbance (Devictor et al., 2008), and evolutionary dynamics (Roughgarden, 1972). As such, it has been hypothesized that there is a relationship between niche breadth and biodiversity, and, consequently, latitude (the latitude-niche breadth hypothesis; MacArthur, 1972; reviewed by Vázquez & Stevens, 2004).

The latitude-niche breadth hypothesis states that with increasing latitude there will be a corresponding increase in resource use and niche breadth. MacArthur (1972) postulated that the relatively uniform climate of the low-latitude tropics supports stable population dynamics, which promotes increased specialization and narrower niches over time (Dobzhansky, 1950; Vázquez & Stevens, 2004). Greater specialization frees species from resource competition, allowing higher coexistence among species (Bolnick et al., 2010; Dyer et al., 2007). In contrast, MacArthur (1972) suggests the dynamic climate at the poles drives the evolution of generalists that are adapted to a wide range of environmental conditions. The latitude-niche breadth hypothesis therefore predicts that niche breadth will be wider, coexistence will be limited, and diversity will be lower at the poles as a result. Implicit in the latitude-niche breadth hypothesis is the assumption that environmental conditions become increasingly unstable as one moves poleward from the tropics (Vázquez & Stevens, 2004).

While there are indeed greater fluctuations in yearly mean air temperature with increasing latitude, there is mixed support for MacArthur's assumption that there is a latitudinal gradient in overall environmental variability or "harshness" in both terrestrial and marine systems (Rohde, 1992; Vázquez & Stevens, 2004). For example, marine systems exhibit a parabolic, as opposed to linear, relationship between temperature variability and latitude (Tomczak, 2019). If temperature variability is the strongest determinant of niche breadth, this pronounced parabolic relationship may produce different latitude-niche breadth dynamics between the terrestrial and marine environments (Cirtwill et al., 2015; Valentine & Jablonski, 2015).

Seasonal fluctuations in sea surface temperature peaks at temperate latitudes and are dampened near the equator and the poles (Dunstan et al., 2018; Jain et al., 1999; Tomczak, 2019), while the global deep sea remains a steady -1°C to 4°C for the entire year (Gage & Tyler, 1991). The yearly temperature range of water at the poles is remarkably stable, with a seasonal sea surface temperature amplitude of approximately 4°C across much of the Arctic (Shevenell et al., 2011) and 3.5°C in the Antarctic (-1.5 to 2°C; Chepurin & Carton, 2012). In sharp contrast, terrestrial polar systems can experience yearly fluctuations in temperature in excess of 80°C (*e.g.*, Verkhoyansk, Siberia, -67.8°C to 38°C; Menne et al., 2012a, 2012b). Polar and deepwater marine species ultimately have a strikingly small temperature range to adapt to than their terrestrial counterparts, and this may result in markedly different niche breadth patterns compared to what Mac-Arthur's hypothesis predicts for polar terrestrial systems.

This pattern is uniquely inverted in the tropics. Temperature drops as large as 15°C over a 200 m depth gradient are driven by thermal stratification caused by the permanent tropical oceanic thermocline (Tomczak, 2019). At the same time, air temperatures in the tropics remain comparatively stable, even across a 200 m altitudinal gradient (~-5.5°C·km<sup>-1</sup> of altitude; Córdova et al., 2016; Loomis et al., 2017; Peixoto & Oort, 1992). Consequently, tropical marine species may be adapted to greater temperature variability than polar marine species. We therefore expect niche breadth to be widest in species with large depth ranges in regions with a strong thermocline, as is the case in tropical brachyuran crabs (Papacostas & Freestone, 2016). In temperate environments, water column position plays a stronger role than seasonal variability in structuring bacterioplankton community composition across a depth gradient (Fortunato et al., 2012). If MacArthur's latitude-niche breadth hypothesis is primarily driven by adaptation to a gradient of thermal variability ("harshness"), thermocline dynamics would likely dominate over latitude in determining spatial patterns of niche in the marine environment.

A more recent alternative to the "harshness" hypothesis is that a latitudinal gradient in energy availability or productivity determines specialization (Brown, 2014; Forister et al., 2015), such that highly productive tropical forests support a greater diversity of niches than productivity-poor boreal forests (Brown, 2014). In this scenario, niche breadth would also not follow a latitudinal gradient in the oceans. Spatial patterns of marine productivity differ substantially from the terrestrial and are often patchy and unevenly distributed, with peaks occurring in upwelling zones at the continental margins and at temperate latitudes instead of along a latitudinal gradient (Dunstan et al., 2018; Tomczak, 2019). Moreover, in contrast to land, the world's tropical seas are generally nutrient limited and characterized by low primary productivity, despite high biodiversity (Sigman & Hain, 2012).

Recent evidence also suggests that absolute latitude may not be as influential in shaping the niche breadth of a particular species' population as the proximity to its polar range limit. In a global scale study of lepidopteran niche breadth, Lancaster (2020) found that lepidopteran populations sampled closer to their poleward range limit had wider niche breadths relative to their counterparts located more centrally within their range. This suggests that colonization dynamics, rather than thermal stability or productivity of the region, plays a greater role in structuring niche (Lancaster, 2020).

## 2.1.1 Other variables affecting niche breadth.

Evolutionary history, body size, and range size are all known to influence niche breadth while concomitantly varying with latitude (Hillebrand, 2004a, 2004b).

Closely related species often occupy similar ecological roles and therefore have similar niche breadths (phylogenetic niche conservatism; Kerkhoff et al., 2014; Wiens &

Graham, 2005). Regions with a high proportion of newer, closely related clades might therefore have a greater number of species with similar, or conserved, niches, while regions with a high proportion of older and evolutionarily distinct lineages might have greater niche diversity (Wiens & Graham, 2005).

Body size can influence dietary specialism/generalism via two diverging mechanisms. Firstly, with increasing body and gape size, a predator can physically consume a larger variety of prey, thus potentially widening its niche (Shine & Sun, 2003; Simon & Toft, 1991; Sloggett, 2008). Alternatively, optimal foraging theory suggests that predators become more specialized as they grow larger, targeting only the most profitable prey in order to most efficiently meet caloric needs (Costa et al., 2008). Previous work on marine predators (primarily teleosts but including some elasmobranchs) has found there to be no relationship between body size and diet breadth, suggesting the latter mechanism dominates in marine food webs (Costa 2009).

Larger animals also tend to have larger home and geographic ranges (Brown et al., 1996; Pyron, 1999). A species with a wide geographic range has access to a greater number of resources and may therefore be more generalist (Brown, 1984). In a systematic review of niche breadth and geographic range size, Slatyer et al. (2013) found this to be true of both dietary and environmental niche breadth. Given this, we expect niche breadth to increase in tandem with both body and range size.

These three factors — evolutionary history, body size, and range size — concomitantly vary with latitude, which may potentially confound the latitude-niche breadth relationship. Speciation rates in marine teleost fishes have been shown to increase with latitude (Rabosky et al., 2018), and the evolutionary age of Chondrichthyan (sharks, skates, rays, and chimaeras) clades decreases with latitude (Stein et al., 2018), indicating younger clades inhabit polar regions. Large body sizes are more efficient to keep warm due to the ratio between surface area and volume, and Bergmann's rule predicts that body size will increase with increasing latitude as temperature decreases (Bergmann, 1848), but it is unclear whether this pattern is widely applicable to the marine environment (Berke et al., 2013; Fisher et al., 2010; Lindsey, 1966). Finally, Rapoport's rule predicts that range size will increase with latitude (Stevens, 1989), as species at higher latitudes are selected to survive broader climatic variability and thus can colonize a wider latitudinal range. A similar mechanism has been proposed for species with wide altitudinal (Stevens, 1992) and depth ranges (*e.g.* a "depth variant" of Rapoport's rule; Stevens, 1996).

### 2.1.2 Study objectives.

The elasmobranchs (sharks, skates, rays) are a widely distributed, evolutionarily old and diverse group with a disproportionately high number of threatened to critically endangered species (Dulvy et al., 2014; Stein et al., 2018). Large sharks in particular play a globally important role in stabilizing food webs across the oceans (Heupel et al., 2014), structuring the trophic linkages of marine ecosystems (Burkholder et al., 2013; Hussey et al., 2015b). How smaller sharks and batoids fit into the larger marine ecosystem, however, is less well studied (*e.g.*, as in the case of the cownose ray in the northwest Atlantic; see Myers et al., 2007 and Grubbs et al., 2016). Understanding dietary niche breadth dynamics across all elasmobranchs will provide insight into the trophic role this globally

threatened group plays while also highlighting their adaptability potential in the face of climate change. On land, large carnivorous specialists are strongly negatively impacted by habitat loss and range contraction (Middleton et al., 2020). As regions of the oceans warm, numerous sharks and batoids will experience range contractions and shifts as a response (Cheung et al., 2009; Morley et al., 2018; Sunday et al., 2012), and quantifying elasmobranch specialism/generalism is an important first step in determining whether range contractions in the oceans will negatively affect marine predators to the same degree. Quantifying dietary niche on a latitudinal scale also acts as a proxy for resource overlap and competition, and can be used to explore global-scale patterns in species interaction strength in the marine environment (Schemske et al., 2009). Ultimately, understanding the macroecological processes that shape dietary niche breadth can serve to both enhance our understanding of the field of marine biogeography and inform biodiversity conservation.

Our overarching goal is to examine whether niche breadth varies with latitude and to test MacArthur's latitude-niche breadth hypothesis in the marine environment (MacArthur, 1972; Vázquez & Stevens, 2004). To date, only one study has explicitly examined niche breadth versus latitude in the marine environment while accounting for the confounding variables of phylogenetic relatedness, body size, and range size (Papacostas & Freestone, 2016). Here, we test this hypothesis using dietary niche as our metric for resource use and elasmobranchs as our study taxon. We additionally examine relationships between niche breadth and clade (niche conservatism hypothesis; Kerkhoff et al., 2014; Wiens & Graham, 2005); niche breadth and body size (Costa, 2009); and niche breadth and range size (Slatyer et al., 2013). We also test for potentially confounding

24

relationships between these focal variables, *e.g.*, range size vs. latitude (Rapoport's rule, including testing the "depth variant" of Rapoport's rule; Stevens, 1989, 1996), body size vs. latitude (Bergmann's rule; Bergmann, 1848; Berke et al., 2013), and body size vs. range size (Brown et al., 1996; Pyron, 1999).

Assuming MacArthur's mechanism for determining niche breadth holds true, *i.e.*, that variation in seasonality is the primary driver of niche width, we do not predict niche breadth to follow a latitudinal gradient in the marine environment. Instead, we expect to see greater specialization in the poles and the deep ocean, where water is most thermally stable; if niche breadth is primarily driven by productivity, we expect to see greater specialization in upwelling regions and temperate latitudes.

### 2.2 Methods

#### 2.2.1 Data collection.

Global elasmobranch stomach content studies were first compiled from a previous synthesis estimating standardized diet compositions of sharks (Cortés, 1999). These data were then updated and supplemented with a systematic literature search (Web of Science, conducted throughout 2016-2020) using the terms 'feeding' OR 'diet' OR 'stomach content\*' in combination with 'elasmobranch\*' OR 'shark\*' OR 'ray\*' OR 'skate\*' to form a global-scale database of elasmobranch diet. This literature search yielded a total of 211 studies. Diet contents are typically reported in a standardized format: a sample population of n predators are captured at a given sampling location, stomachs are dissected from each sample population, and the number of empty vs. non-empty stomachs are typically reported. The stomach contents of each predator population are then identified to the finest taxonomic resolution and reported as standardized metrics such as percent frequency, percent number, and percent mass (Supplementary Table 1; Cortés, 1997; Hyslop, 1980). The dataset was filtered to only include percent frequency diet (number of stomachs containing a food item, divided by the total number of stomachs). Percent frequency is both the most commonly reported diet metric (reported in 79% of studies; Supplementary Table 2) and the only metric to represent dietary preference or choice (*e.g.*, whether many or few individuals of a particular predator population ate a diet item), and was thus chosen for niche calculations.

### 2.2.2 Data cleaning and standardization.

As stomach content data were extracted from a large number of studies spanning global regions and decades, data were first cleaned and standardized prior to any niche calculations. All analyses were run in the RStudio environment using **R** version 3.6 (R Core Team, 2020). All maps and figures were made using QGIS (QGIS Development Team, 2018) and the **R** package ggplot (version 3.3.2; Wickham, 2016). A full list of package used can be found in Appendix 4.8.

## 2.2.2.1 Taxonomy.

All predator and prey species listed in publications were standardized according to the most recently accepted taxonomy. The World Register of Marine Species (WoRMS; https://www.marinespecies.org/; Horton et al., 2019) was used to standardize and update

marine species taxonomy, while the Integrated Taxonomic Information System (ITIS; https://www.itis.gov/) was used to standardize all remaining species (*e.g.*, terrestrial mammals, birds, and plants).

# 2.2.2.2 Predator metadata.

Metadata for each predator population were extracted from published papers, including dates of sampling (start year and end year); number of total, non-empty, empty, and everted stomachs; sex; and predator size (total, fork, or precaudal lengths for sharks, disc width for rays). In most cases, stomach content papers report the minimum and maximum size of a sampled predator population, and from this information the median size and size range (maximum minus minimum size) were calculated. Mean size was taken in lieu of median size whenever reported. If sizes were specifically reported for predators with non-empty stomachs, those were recorded; otherwise, the sizes reported for the entire sampled population (including predators with empty stomachs) were used instead. In certain instances where length was not reported in the text, length information was inferred from figures in the text (*e.g.*, from body length frequency histograms).

## 2.2.2.3 Study location.

A single latitude and longitude coordinate was assigned to every predator population in the database (Fig. 2.1) using the following criteria: (i) If the paper reported a sampling coordinate, that was used. (ii) If the paper reported multiple latitude/longitude sampling coordinates, the geographic midpoint average was used. (iii) If the study reported a broader sampling region, an estimated central coordinate of that region was used. In cases where the coordinate fell over land, we ensured the coordinate was adjusted to fall upon the nearest water body. For example, if the study reported the coordinate of the port of landing, we assumed the sharks or rays were sampled from the adjacent waters. The majority of these study locations represent an average or estimated sampling region as opposed to a precise sampling coordinate, and thus there will be a radius of error in these sampling locations. However, as this is a global scale study, we do not expect this error to substantially impact the overall results.

# 2.2.2.4 Sampling ecosystem.

One of five categorical ecosystems was assigned to a predator population based on the study location: estuary, coastal, shelf, and offshore. Predator populations were assigned "estuary" if caught within a river mouth or estuarine bay; "coastal" if caught using beach safety nets or within 10 km of the shore; "shelf" if caught >10 km from shore but within waters over a continental shelf; and "offshore" if caught off-shelf. These ecosystems were used in tandem with water column position (see "Predator functional group" below) as a proxy for depth.

## 2.2.3 External data supplements.

Predator metadata gleaned from stomach content studies were supplemented with life history data from the following outside sources: Fishbase (http://www.fishbase.org/; Froese & Pauly, 2019), the Ocean Biogeographic Information System (OBIS; https://obis.org), and *Sharks of the World: A Fully Illustrated Guide* (Ebert et al., 2013). In all cases where Fishbase was used, the data were extracted using the **R** package rfishbase (Boettiger et al., 2012).

### 2.2.3.1 Predator functional group.

Predator species were assigned one of four functional groups using Fishbase, denoting their typical position within the water column: demersal, reef-associated (including non-tropical, non-coral reefs), benthopelagic, and pelagic. "Bathydemersal" species were re-assigned as "demersal", while "pelagic-neritic" and "pelagic-oceanic" sharks were all grouped into the "pelagic" category. Within the "offshore" ecosystem (see "Sampling ecosystem" above), all species sampled in the upper water column using driftnets and longlines fell within the "pelagic" functional group, while all species sampled in deep water using bottom trawls and longlines fell within the "demersal" or "benthopelagic" functional groups.

## 2.2.3.2 Predator depth and latitudinal ranges.

Minimum and maximum latitude and depth ranges for each predator species were extracted from Fishbase and/or OBIS. Latitudinal and depth ranges were calculated as the difference between minimum and maximum latitude and depth, respectively. "Distance to polar edge" was calculated as polar edge minus sampling latitude, following similar methods as a study on global patterns of lepidopteran niche breadth (Lancaster, 2020). Polar edge was defined as the maximum absolute latitude of a species within whatever hemisphere it was sampled in. For example, if a species' latitudinal range limits are 39°N to 25°S, the polar edge for populations sampled in the northern hemisphere would be 39°, while the polar edge for populations sampled in the southern hemisphere would be 25°.

## 2.2.3.3 Predator clade.

All predators within the database were categorized into one of 10 clades using the phylogeny presented in Stein et al. (2018). Fully resolved 10 fossil trees were downloaded from http://sharktree.org in order to create phylogenetic groupings for predators which were visually grouped into clades A through J, with A being the oldest clade and J being the youngest (Appendix 4.2). In cases where more recently described predators were not included in the phylogeny, a clade was assigned based on other closely related species according to Linnaean taxonomy. Visual exploration and grouping of clades were done using FigTree (v.1.4.4; https://github.com/rambaut/figtree/).

# 2.2.4 Exclusion criteria.

The final standardized diet content dataset was then filtered to exclude studies that did not match our minimum criteria for niche calculations. Any review studies that amalgamated data previously reported in older diet content studies were removed to avoid duplication. Studies that did not report or did not meet a minimum sample size of 11 nonempty stomachs were excluded.



**Figure 2.1** Map of stomach content sampling locations (n = 237; 118 in the northern hemisphere; 119 in the southern). Each point represents a single elasmobranch population where diet contents were reported from a minimum of 10 individuals; Levin's niche breadth for that particular population was then calculated. In cases where multiple size or sex classes were reported from a single location, niche breadth was averaged together to create one single estimate of niche per point. Levin's niche breadth was then standardized on a scale from 0 (specialist) to 1 (generalist). Locations are either reported as the latitude and longitude of capture or closest port of landing. Points are fanned out in regions with high sampling density to minimize overlap.

# 2.2.5 Niche calculations.

Levin's niche breadth was calculated for every predator population and then standardized on a scale from 0 (specialist) to 1 (generalist; Krebs, 2014). Course and uninformative taxonomic groups such as "Teleosts" or "Cephalopods" were removed prior to any niche calculations, as they can often make up a large proportion of the diet and skew niche to "specialize" in Teleosts (for example). Additionally, unidentified diet items such as "organic matter" or "vegetal remains", non-organic diet items such as "mud" or "pebbles", and anthropogenic pollutants such as "plastic" and "fishing nets" were excluded from niche calculations.

Niche breadth was calculated by study in order to gain an estimate of whether or not a species was generalist or specialist within the context of that study. Some studies report the diet contents of multiple different predator species. In these cases, niche was calculated for each species individually (instead of pooling diet contents of multiple predator species together) in order to prevent a bias towards specialism. Including diet items unique to one predator (*e.g.*, reef fishes for a reef shark) into the diet matrix of another predator within the same study (*e.g.*, a non-reef dwelling pelagic shark) would result in a skew towards specialism, as the pelagic shark would appear to "specialize" in non-reef fishes. As such, specialism would be artificially inflated in studies with multiple predators that report a large number of prey species. If a study reported diet contents for multiple sex, size, or age classes for one species, niche was first calculated for each sex, size and/or age class, then averaged together to obtain a single niche breadth estimate per species per study.

# 2.2.6 Modeling.

We first tested for linear relationships between (i) latitudinal range size and latitude (Rapoport's rule), (ii) depth range size and latitude ("depth variant" of Rapoport's rule), (iii) body size and latitude (Bergmann's rule), (iv) body size and latitudinal range, and (v) body size and depth range. Four suites of linear models were then run in order to test the effects of (i) latitude and (ii) distance from polar edge on niche breadth per hemisphere. Hemispheres were analyzed separately because (i) the expected relationship between niche breadth and latitude is non-linear across both hemispheres and (ii) because the large difference in land and sea surface area causes marked contrasts in mean annual water temperature, circulation patterns, and availability of shoreline habitat between the two hemispheres, potentially influencing niche breadth in different ways (Tomczak, 2019).

The following variables were included in the full models (see above for derivation of these variables): number of non-empty stomachs sampled (to account for varying sample sizes across studies), ecosystem (*i.e.*, estuary, coastal, shelf, offshore), depth range, latitudinal range, body size, body size range (to control for size sampling bias in the dataset), functional group (*i.e.*, demersal, reef-associated, benthopelagic, pelagic), and clade (taxonomic groups A through J, with A being the oldest and J being the youngest). Prior to model selection, we first tested for correlations between continuous variables using the Spearman correlation coefficient and for multicollinearity in the dataset using variance inflation factors (VIF; Craney & Surles, 2002). With the exception of the body size and size range pair of variables, any highly correlated (Spearman > 0.5) or highly collinear (VIF > 3.0) variables were removed from the base model of each hemisphere prior to adding interaction terms and model selection. Because clade was highly correlated with all other non-geographic predictors, separate models were run for clade. Interaction terms were then one by one systematically added to each base model using the add1 command in base R in order to determine which interaction terms, if any, were significant. Significant and biologically meaningful interaction terms were then added sequentially to create

the full model. Additionally, three different random effects structures were incorporated into the full models: (i) random effect for study (to account for studies that report multiple different predator species in one study location); (ii) random effect for predator species, nested within genus and family (to account for phylogenetic relatedness and species that appear multiple times in the dataset); and (iii) random effects for both study and predator species, nested within genus and family. Mixed effects models with each random effect structure were compared to a fixed effects model with no random terms. We then conducted backward stepwise model selection for each full model using the Akaike information criterion (AIC; Akaike, 1974; Zuur et al., 2009). One outlier, blue sharks (*Prionace glauca*) sampled in New Zealand waters (n = 23,217 stomachs sampled in one study), was identified and removed.

#### 2.3 Results

After excluding studies that did not fit our minimum criteria, 128 elasmobranch stomach content studies remained. These studies spanned 64 years, from 1952 to 2016, and had a wide geographic coverage. Every major ocean basin was represented with a latitudinal spread of 55°S to 79°N (Fig. 2.1). Data from a total of 43,193 stomachs from 237 predator populations (n = 118 in the northern hemisphere, n = 119 in the southern) were extracted, representing 85 unique elasmobranch predator species (Fig. 2.2; Supplementary Table 3). Within these stomachs, ~5,000 prey items from 1,730 unique prey species were identified.



**Figure 2.2** Dietary niche breadths of 85 elasmobranch species, ordered by maximum niche. Each point represents the niche of an individual population of a species. Figure includes data from both the southern and northern hemispheres.

Standardized Levin's dietary niche breadth

## 2.3.1 Overall trends.

Sharks and batoids (skates, rays) exhibited a wide degree of dietary preferences and spanned the entire specialist-generalist spectrum. The mean niche value for both sharks and batoids was 0.47, indicating elasmobranchs as a whole cannot be broadly classified as either specialists or generalists. Among sharks, niche values ranged from a minimum of 0.01 (copper sharks Carcharhinus brachyurus off South Africa feeding almost entirely on pilchard; Fig. 2.2; see Appendix 4.3 for this and all following examples) to a maximum of 0.97 (blacktip sharks *Carcharhinus limbatus* off South Africa foraging on a variety of teleosts, elasmobranchs, cephalopods, and crustaceans). Among skates and rays, niche ranged from 0.1 (giant shovelnose rays *Glaucostegus typus* in Western Australia feeding largely on penaeid prawns) to 0.74 (speckled rays *Raja polystigma* in the deep waters of the western Mediterranean). Carcharhinid sharks in particular showed wide variation in niche breadth, ranging from the specialist whiskery shark (Furgaleus macki), which feeds almost exclusively on octopuses, to the generalist blacktip and Australian blacktip sharks (*C. limbatus* and *C. tilstoni*, respectively; Fig 2.2). There was a large spread in niche breadth even within elasmobranch functional groups (Fig. 2.3A) and across various ecosystems, with the notable exception of elasmobranchs sampled in estuarine systems, which tended to be more specialized (Fig. 2.4). No elasmobranch functional group, order, or clade appeared to exclusively occupy a specific region of the specialism-generalism spectrum (Figs. 2.3A, 2.5, 2.6), though demersal and reef-associated elasmobranchs did tend to have lower range sizes (Fig. 2.3B-C). Niche breadth did not increase or decrease with clade age (Fig. 2.6).

Figure 2.3 (A) Standardized Levin's dietary niche breadth, (B) latitudinal range in degrees, and (C) depth range in meters within each elasmobranch functional group. Bottom-dwelling elasmobranchs (demersal and reef-associated) overall have lower latitudinal and bathymetric ranges than benthopelagics and pelagics. Figure includes data from both the southern and northern hemispheres.





**Figure 2.4** Standardized Levin's dietary niche breadth within each ecosystem. Figure includes data from both the southern and northern hemispheres.



**Figure 2.5** Standardized Levin's dietary niche breadth by elasmobranch order. Figure includes data from both the southern and northern hemispheres.



**Figure 2.6** Standardized Levin's dietary niche breadth by elasmobranch clade. Clades are ordered by age, with A being the oldest and J being the youngest (see Appendix 4.2 for clade methodology). Figure includes data from both the southern and northern hemispheres.

Individual species additionally displayed varying degrees of intraspecific variation in niche breadth. Certain species tended to cluster around a specific niche breadth value, such as the common thresher (*Alopias vulpinus*; 0.36-0.45; n = 4), while other species showed higher variability in niche breadth, such as the porbeagle (*Lamna nasus*; 0.15-0.53; n = 4). The tiger shark (*Galeocerdo cuvier*), traditionally seen as a "fearless, voracious, and omnivorous" generalist (Gudger, 1949), had one of the larger niche breadth ranges in the dataset (0.20-0.89; n = 9). While these data indicate that tiger sharks do indeed consume a large variety of prey items (n = 318 unique prey items, including birds, turtles, fish, gastropods, seasnakes, crustaceans, other elasmobranchs, marine mammals, and plastics), there may be regional variation in which prey item a particular population of tiger sharks prefers. Tiger sharks caught in protective beach nets off the coast of South Africa, for example, appeared to specialize in marine mammals (Dicken et al., 2017), while tiger sharks caught in similar protective nets off the coast of Queensland, Australia, specialized in Hydrophiid seasnakes, with approximately 50% of all sharks sampled sharks having consumed them (Simpfendorfer, 1992). Similar patterns were found in shortfin mako sharks (*Isurus oxyrinchus*), bull sharks (*C. leucas*), and blacktip sharks (*C. limbatus*), among others, with niche breadth varying greatly across sampling regions (Fig. 2.2).

#### 2.3.2 Patterns in latitude, body size, and range size.

Latitudinal range and depth range were both significantly positively correlated with body size, though which relationship was stronger differed by hemisphere. In the northern hemisphere, body size was more correlated with depth range (p < 0.01,  $r^2 = 0.11$ ; Fig. 2.7B) than latitudinal range (p = 0.02,  $r^2 = 0.05$ ; Fig. 2.7A), while in the southern hemisphere, body size was more strongly correlated with latitudinal range (p < 0.01,  $r^2 = 0.33$ ; Fig. 2.7A) than depth range (p = 0.01,  $r^2 = 0.05$ ; Fig. 2.7B). Body size increased with latitude as predicted by Bergmann's rule, with the effect being stronger in the northern hemisphere (p < 0.01,  $r^2 = 0.25$ ; p = 0.1,  $r^2 = 0.02$ ; for the northern and southern hemispheres, respectively; Fig. 2.8). The hypothesis that range size increases with latitude (Rapoport's rule and depth variant Rapoport's rule) is weakly supported in these data and was strongest for depth range in the northern hemisphere (p = 0.03,  $r^2 = 0.04$ ; Fig. 2.9). Rapoport's rule (both latitudinal and depth variants) was strongest in Lamniform sharks (Fig. 2.9).



**Figure 2.7** Body size versus (**A**) latitudinal range and (**B**) depth range in the southern (S) and northern (N) hemispheres.



**Figure 2.8** Latitude versus body size in the southern (S) and northern (N) hemispheres. Sleeper sharks (Somniosidae), which attain some of the largest body sizes among elasmobranchs and occur in high latitudes, are highlighted in pink. Bergmann's rule predicts that body size will increase with latitude.



**Figure 2.9** Rapoport's rule (**A**) and depth variant of Rapoport's rule (**B**) in the southern (S) and northern (N) hemispheres. Endothermic Lamniform sharks (highlighted in teal) show a stronger relationship between sampling latitude and range size. Rapoport's rule predicts that range size will increase with sampling latitude.



**Figure 2.10** Standardized Levin's niche breadth versus sampling latitude in the southern (S) and northern (N) hemispheres.

## 2.3.3 Model results.

Our model results did not support the latitude-niche breadth hypothesis in either hemisphere (Tables 1, 2; Fig. 2.10). After controlling for other variables, species sampled closer to their polar range limit had wider niches, indicating that the "distance from polar edge" hypothesis had weak but significant support in both hemispheres (Tables 1, 2; Figs. 2.13, 2.14). Sample size had a significant negative correlation with niche breadth in all models. This significant relationship indicates caution should be taken when interpreting dietary niche results in the literature. By including sample size in our models, we "correct" for this effect, thus variation in niche breadth caused by other variables reflects true relationships. Overall trends were similar across both hemispheres in all other variables (Tables 1, 2), with body size, depth range, ecosystem, and functional group appearing in the best-fit models for both the northern and the southern hemispheres. Final best-fit models retained these terms even when smaller sample sizes (<100 non-empty stomachs) were excluded (Appendix 4.5). Clade was a poor predictor of niche breadth across all models (Appendix 4.6). In all cases, inclusion of any random effects structure led to minimal differences in fit compared to the base linear model with no random effects (Tables 1, 2).



**Figure 2.11** Ecosystem depth versus niche breadth within each functional group (colored groupings from left to right: demersal, reef-associated, benthopelagic, and pelagic). Distance from shore has a stronger positive relationship with niche breadth for bottom-dwelling (demersal and reef-associated) elasmobranchs than for benthopelagic and pelagic elasmobranchs. Figure includes data from both the southern and northern hemispheres.



Body size (cm)

**Figure 2.12** Depth range (**A**) and body size (**B**) versus niche breadth by functional group (colored panels from left to right: demersal, reef-associated, benthopelagic, and pelagic). Pelagic species grow more specialized with increasing bathymetric range (**A**) and body size (**B**). Note that while each model interaction term is significant, the effects alone are not. Figure includes data from both the southern and northern hemispheres.

Ecosystem was highly influential in both hemispheres, with niche breadth generally increasing for species sampled further from shore (Fig. 2.4); this effect was particularly strong within bottom-dwelling (demersal and reef-associated) functional groups (Fig. 2.11). Taken together, this interaction (ecosystem × functional group) highlights the importance of depth on niche breadth.

Depth range was also influential: niche breadth generally decreased for pelagic species with wider depth ranges, suggesting that pelagic species occupying a larger depth range were more specialized (Fig 2.12A; note that while the model interaction terms are significant, the effects alone are not). Finally, functional group, ecosystem, and depth range all significantly interacted with body size. In both the northern and southern hemispheres, pelagic species grew more specialized with increasing body size (Figs. 2.12B, 2.13, 2.14). The direction of the body size  $\times$  ecosystem and body size  $\times$  depth range relationships, however, differed by hemisphere (Figs. 2.13, 2.14).

118				
Expression	df (df resid)	AIC	ΔΑΙΟ	R <sup>2</sup>
ss + dpe + s + lr + dr + e + fg + e:fg + e:lr + e:dr +	36 (82)	-119.5	_	0.75
s:fg + s:dr + s:lr + s:e + dpe:lr + RE(Study)				
ss + lat + long + s + sr + lr + e + fg + e:lr + e:fg +	29 (89)	-118.5	1.0	0.62
s:fg + s:lr				
ss + lat + long + s + sr + lr + e + fg + e:lr + e:fg +	30 (88)	-116.3	3.2	0.61
s:lr + s:fg + RE(Study)				
ss + dpe + s + lr + dr + e + fg + e:fg + e:lr + e:dr +	35 (83)	-116.5	3.0	0.64
s:fg + s:dr + s:lr + s:e + dpe:lr				

**Table 1**. Four best-fit linear models applied to northern hemisphere dietary niche breadth. N = 118

ss, sample size; dpe, distance to polar edge; s, predator size; sr, predator size range; lr, latitudinal range; dr, depth range; e, ecosystem; fg, functional group; long, sampling longitude; lat, sampling latitude; RE(Study), study as random effect.

Expression	df (df resid)	AIC	ΔΑΙϹ	R <sup>2</sup>
ss + dpe + s + sr + dr + e + fg + s:d + s:fg + s:dr +	23 (96)	-67.0	_	0.60
fg:dr				
ss + dpe + s + sr + dr + e + fg + s:e + s:fg + s:dr +	24 (95)	-64.9	2.1	0.60
g:dr + RE(Study)				
ss + s + sr + dr + e + fg + s:d + s:fg + s:dr + fg:dr	22 (97)	-64.8	2.2	0.59
ss + long + s + sr + dr + e + fg + s:d + s:fg + s:dr +	24 (95)	-63.4	3.6	0.62
fg:dr + RE(Study)				

Table 2. Four best-fit linear	models applied to south	ern hemisphere dieta	ary niche breadth. N
= 119			

range; dr, depth range; e, ecosystem; fg, functional group; dpe, distance to polar edge.



**Figure 2.13** Forest plot of northern hemisphere best-fit model showing effect sizes of each model term on dietary niche breadth (DPE, distance to polar edge). Red dots indicate negative effects, while blue indicate positive. Sampling ecosystem (estuary, coastal, shelf, and offshore) has the greatest effect on niche breadth, with the effects of estuaries being particularly strong. (N = 118;  $R^2 = 0.75$ )



**Figure 2.14** Forest plot of southern hemisphere best-fit model showing effect sizes of each model term on dietary niche breadth (DPE, distance to polar edge). Red dots indicate negative effects, while blue indicate positive. (N = 119;  $R^2 = 0.60$ )

## 2.4 Discussion

The elasmobranchs are a highly successful group of vertebrates. They have existed for roughly 450 million years, with major radiations in the Jurassic and Cretaceous producing over 1200 species of elasmobranchs today (Compagno, 1990; Stein et al., 2018). Throughout their evolutionary history, sharks, skates, and rays have repeatedly radiated, colonized, and exploited the marine environment, evolving a veritable "battery of sense organs ... and diverse feeding mechanisms" to produce predators across the trophic

spectrum and outcompeting bony fishes, marine mammals, and seabirds as the primary consumers of the oceans (Compagno, 1990). This immense diversity is reflected in their dietary niches, which span the entire specialist-generalist continuum across all taxonomic and functional groups of elasmobranchs (Figs. 2.3A, 2.5, 2.6). While our results highlight the great diversity of diet and life history preferences among the elasmobranchs, this diversity in niche is not explained by latitude. Overall, there is a depth, as opposed to latitudinal, gradient in elasmobranch niche breadth, whereby niche breadth generally increases with increasing depths. This depth gradient persists even after accounting for the effects of ontogenetic and/or size-based shifts in diet and is stronger in species with smaller geographic ranges and/or limited movement capabilities.

Our results suggest that niche in the marine environment may be shaped by more complex processes than those associated with latitude (Valentine & Jablonski, 2015). A major assumption of MacArthur's latitude-niche breadth hypothesis is that the environment grows thermally unstable with higher latitudes, which consequently drives the adoption of generalist survival strategies (Vázquez & Stevens, 2004). Thermal variability or instability does not follow a latitudinal gradient in the marine environment (Tomczak, 2019), and thus this major assumption of the hypothesis fails to hold true, potentially influencing our results (Valentine & Jablonski, 2015). Proximity of sampling location to the polar range limit ("distance to polar edge" hypothesis) was significant in both hemispheres, but the strength of the effect was minimal when compared to sampling ecosystem (Figs. 2.13, 2.14).

# 2.4.1 If not latitude, then what drives niche breadth?

Niche breadth in elasmobranchs is narrowest in estuarine, intermediate in coastal, and broadest in shelf and offshore ecosystems, respectively (Fig. 2.4). Sampling ecosystem appears to be particularly influential for bottom-dwelling elasmobranchs, with niche breadth rapidly increasing with distance from shore in demersal and reef-associated species (Fig. 2.11; "reef-associated" species include non-tropical reefs). Bottom-dwelling elasmobranchs tend to be less mobile (Compagno, 1990) and have lower depth and latitudinal ranges (Fig. 2.3), and these smaller range sizes (in comparison to pelagic species) may make it difficult to seek out specific prey items. In shallower, resource rich coastal systems, bottom-dwelling sharks may compensate for lower mobility by exploiting the greater variety of prey diversity and biomass available within a short distance. For example, common smooth-hounds off South Africa (M. mustelus; Sauer & Smale, 1991) and common shovelnose rays off Western Australia (G. typus; White et al., 2004) consumed ~15 different species, but appeared to take advantage of locally abundant Cape Hope squid (Loligo reynaudii) and penaeid shrimps, respectively, which drove narrower niche breadths.

In contrast, deep sea ecosystems are notably nutrient limited, and the broad niche breadths of deep-sea, bottom-dwelling elasmobranchs may reflect the paucity of available resources in these ecosystems. For example, deep sea birdbeak dogfish off Portugal (*Deania calcea*), ghost catsharks off South Africa (*Apristurus spp.*), and African sawtail sharks off Namibia (*Galeus polli*) all consumed a relatively low variety of prey (n < 10 species), but did not discriminate between any particular fish, cephalopod, or crustacean prey species (Ebert et al., 1996; Saldanha et al., 1995). Wider niche breadths may
ultimately be a dietary adaptation in elasmobranchs with lower mobility to survive in such a prey-poor environment.

Pelagic species, with their wide-ranging life histories (Compagno, 1990) and generally larger range sizes (Fig. 2.3), do not appear to have a strong relationship between niche breadth and distance from shore (Fig. 2.11). In general, pelagic predators such as pelagic stingrays (*Pteroplatytrygon violacea*), thresher sharks (A. vulpinus), blue sharks (*Prionace glauca*), and silky sharks (*C. falciformis*) tended to prefer high biomass prey items such as schooling fish and swarming crustaceans. In cases where multiple different species of high biomass prey items were available, pelagic predators generally did not specialize in one over the other (for example, shortfin makos in the Sea of Korea indiscriminately consuming sardines, mullet, and mackerel; Huh et al., 2010), driving broader niche breadths within the pelagic functional group. The highly mobile life history of pelagic elasmobranchs, in combination with high biomass of preferred prey items, may reflect an opportunistic foraging strategy that is also employed by other pelagic predators (e.g., Casale et al., 2008; Potier et al., 2007; Warwick-Evans et al., 2015). The influence of increasing depth and distance from shore on niche breadth, therefore, varies between bottom-dwelling and pelagic functional groups, likely as a consequence of differing life histories and foraging strategies.

Shallow, estuarine environments across both hemispheres hosted the most specialized elasmobranchs across all functional groups (Figs. 2.4, 2.11, 2.13, 2.14). Estuarine ecosystems have the highest regular nutrient input of any of the other three ecosystems (Sharples et al., 2017) and are often safe refugia for many juvenile elasmobranch species (Heupel et al., 2007; Schlaff et al., 2014), and the high degree of specialization in this ecosystem may reflect conditions favorable for primary production or ontogenetic associated dietary specialization. Many sharks sampled in estuarine waters were juveniles. This could be driving narrower niches, though adult elasmobranchs (*e.g.* adult bull *C. leucas*, bonnethead *Sphyrna tiburo*, dusky smooth-hound *Mustelus canis*, and narrownose smooth-hound *M. schmitti* sharks; Fig. 2.2) sampled in estuaries are also notably specialized, while similarly sized adult elasmobranchs in shelf or offshore ecosystems, such as the smalleye smooth-hound (*M. higmani*), starspotted smooth-hound (*M. manazo*), or bigeye houndshark (*Iago omanensis*), were more generalist. In larval teleost diets sampled across ecosystems and latitudes, larvae sampled within estuarine systems had consistently narrower diet breadths (Llopiz, 2013), suggesting that estuarine food webs promote dietary specialization regardless of consumer age class, though the author does note the limited sample size makes it difficult to draw firm conclusions. It remains unclear whether estuarine elasmobranch specialization is largely driven by age class, the ecosystem itself, or simply as an artifact of smaller sample size.

#### 2.4.2 Effects of clade, range size, and body size.

In the tropics, niche breadth in brachyuran crabs is primarily driven by the age of the crab clade, with younger clades significantly more specialized than older clades (Papacostas & Freestone, 2016). Recent molecular work in Chondrichthyans shows that the tropics and subtropics harbor a greater proportion of older, more basal and evolutionarily distinct lineages than the poles (Stein et al., 2018). This is complemented by another recent study on marine teleost fishes showing that speciation rates are higher in the poles than the tropics

(Rabosky et al., 2018). As such, we expected a relationship between clade age, niche breadth, and latitude, but no such relationship was found. This is potentially due to the coarseness of the clade groupings in the dataset: Carcharhinids make up the entirety of clade A and constitute approximately 65% of the dataset, and as such any phylogenetic variation in niche breadth occurring within clade A would be masked. Future analyses incorporating explicit phylogenetic relationships, *e.g.* phylogenetic distance, could reveal relationships between clade, niche breadth, and geography that are not immediately apparent here.

In both terrestrial and marine systems, dietary and environmental niche breadth have generally been found to increase with geographic range size (Slatyer et al., 2013). This appears to be the case only for bottom-dwelling elasmobranchs; for pelagic elasmobranchs, niche breadth actually decreases with range size (Tables 1, 2; Fig. 2.12A). In species that tend to have lower mobility, such as bottom-dwelling sharks and batoids, a wider depth range may ultimately be of greater importance in finding a suitable amount and variety of prey. Similarly, highly localized estuarine elasmobranchs, constrained to their habitat either by specific environmental requirements (e.g., salinity or temperature; Ward-Paige et al., 2015) or small range sizes associated with the juvenile life stage (Bouyoucos et al., 2020), have a strong positive relationship between range size and niche breadth. A previous study on deep-sea skates, which also display a lower degree of mobility, found a positive correlation between niche breadth and depth range (Barbini et al., 2018). Pelagic elasmobranchs, with their contrastingly large range sizes, have narrower niche breadths across all ecosystems (Fig. 2.11), suggesting that their wide ranges may facilitate preferential prey capture, allowing them to specialize. This pattern of wide

geographic ranges but narrow niches is similarly reflected in migratory whales (Prieto et al., 2017), marine turtles (Hawkes et al., 2007), and (in the terrestrial system) migratory birds that "track" their preferred niches throughout the year (Stevens, 1989; Zurell et al., 2018).

Increasing body size strengthens the range size-niche breadth relationship. Large bodied pelagics are on average more specialized than small pelagics (Figs. 2.12B, 2.13, 2.14). With reef-associated and estuarine elasmobranchs, increasing body size is associated with greater generalization (Figs 2.12B, 2.13, 2.14). It is important to note that the body size terms within each model represent actual, reported lengths from each study. As such, there are two potential, mutually non-exclusive reasons for this. First, large animals generally have larger geographic ranges (Brown et al., 1996; Pyron, 1999), and elasmobranchs are no exception to this rule (Fig. 2.7). Increasing body size, therefore, could be indicative of sampling wider ranging individuals within a particular species. Second, these results could reflect ontogenetic-associated dietary shifts occurring within the overall range size-niche breadth relationship. For example, large pelagics such as the white shark grow more specialized with age, reflecting a shift in preference from fish and cephalopod prey in juveniles to marine mammals in adults (Grainger et al., 2020; Hussey et al., 2012). Similarly, the pattern of increasing generalization with size seen specifically in estuaries could be driven by increasing dietary diversity as sharks mature, expand their localized home ranges, and explore more food options (e.g., as in Galapagos sharks, Wetherbee et al., 1996; or sandbar sharks, McElroy et al., 2006).

# 2.4.3 Bergmann's rule and Rapoport's rule.

Overall, our results showed weak but positive support for Bergmann's rule (body size increasing with latitude; Fig. 2.8) in elasmobranchs, a result that is generally consistent with freshwater (Lindsey, 1966) and marine (Fisher et al., 2010) teleosts, but not marine bivalvles (Berke et al., 2013). Particularly striking in this trend are the deep-water and high latitude sleeper sharks (Squaliformes: Somniosidae) and the broadnose sevengill shark (Hexanchiformes: Hexanchidae), both of which are known to attain some of the largest sizes among the elasmobranchs (5.5 and 3 m, respectively; Froese & Pauly, 2019). In their analysis of over 12,000 teleost body size records, Fisher et al. (2010) found that the strength of the latitude-body size relationship was strongest in the North Atlantic, with latitude explaining 50% of variation in mean lengths of North Atlantic fishes. Similarly, the relationship between body size and latitude in elasmobranchs is stronger in the northern hemisphere than the southern, largely driven by the large bodied sleeper sharks (Fig. 2.8).

Rapoport's rule (range size increasing with latitude; Fig. 2.9) received weak but positive support in elasmobranchs, with the depth variant of Rapoport's rule receiving greater support than the latitude variant, a pattern reflected in marine teleost fishes (Fortes & Absalão, 2010). The strength of the depth, over latitudinal, variant of Rapoport's rule in both teleosts and elasmobranchs supports the notion that thermocline associated temperature stratification is of greater importance than latitude in setting range boundaries in the marine environment. Temperature is highly depth-dependent in the marine environment (Tomczak, 2019), and many species are geographically limited by acute thermal boundaries (Sunday et al., 2011, 2012). Latitudinal range increasing with sampling

latitude is potentially weaker in the marine environment due to the parabolic relationship between temperature variability with latitude (see "Introduction" above), which would result in the widest latitudinal ranges in temperate species. In marine teleost fishes, latitudinal range increased with latitude in all regions except for the northern Pacific and Atlantic Oceans, the Arctic, and tropical Indian Ocean (*i.e.*, the pattern was stronger in temperate regions; Fortes & Absalão, 2010). In elasmobranchs, latitudinal range was generally wider in temperate regions than in tropical or polar regions (Fig. 2.15), which may be contributing to the poor linear fit between sampling latitude and latitudinal range (Fig. 2.9A). Notably, both variants of Rapoport's rule were much stronger for the so-called "warm blooded" sharks (family Lamniformes; Fig. 2.9), suggesting that there may be variation in how universal the rule is for ectotherms vs. endotherms.



**Figure 2.15** Latitudinal range is generally higher in elasmobranchs sampled in temperate regions than tropical or polar regions. Regions were categorized as "polar", "temperate", and "tropical" according to the Marine Ecoregions of the World (MEOW) classification scheme. Figure includes data from both the southern and northern hemispheres.

For both Bergmann's rule and Rapoport's rule (depth variant), the strength of the relationship was stronger in the northern hemisphere than the southern (Figs. 2.8, 2.9). The northern hemisphere has a greater ratio of landmass to water. As a result, seasonal temperatures are more variable in the northern hemisphere, because there is less water to buffer seasonal thermal variability (Ghalambor, 2006; Sunday et al., 2011). The northern hemisphere also receives a greater amount of freshwater input from these landmasses, resulting in a stronger thermohalocline (de Vernal & Hillaire-Marcel, 2000; Knutti et al., 2004; Warren, 1983). Stronger thermal boundaries in the northern hemisphere may therefore be causing these hemispheric differences in both Bergmann's rule and depth variant Rapoport's rule.

#### 2.4.4 Conservation implications.

#### 2.4.4.1 Estuaries.

Estuaries are globally threatened habitats that are being lost at elevated rates to coastal development (Kennish, 2002; Polidoro et al., 2010), with multiple estimates indicating that over 50% of coastal wetlands have been lost since 1900 (Davidson, 2014; Li et al., 2018). These habitats serve as important refugia and nursery areas for a variety of species (Beck et al., 2001; Nagelkerken et al., 2008) and harbored a greater proportion of elasmobranch specialists than any other ecosystem in this study (Fig. 2.4). Our results suggest that estuaries may serve as important provisioning sites for both juvenile and adult elasmobranchs, particularly for species that rely on crustaceans for sustenance (Whitfield, 2017). In Hawaii, alpheid shrimps constituted a major dietary component for critically

endangered scalloped hammerhead (*Sphyrna lewini*) shark pups sampled in an estuary, with 76% of sampled individuals having consumed them (Clarke, 1971). Similarly, 67% of juvenile sandbar (*C. plumbeus*) sharks sampled in wetlands of the eastern United States had consumed blue crabs (*Callinectes sapidus*; Medved et al., 1985), indicating that estuaries may fulfill important dietary needs for early life stage elasmobranchs that typically spend their adult lives further from shore (Whitfield, 2017).

Specialization in estuaries was not only limited to young-of-the-year or juvenile elasmobranchs. Specialized adults included the endangered narrownose smoothhound (*M. schmitti*) in Patagonian waters, where roughly half of all individuals sampled had consumed either the Argentine stiletto shrimp (*Artemesia longinaris*) and/or a species of Patagonian crab (*Cyrtograpsus angulatus*; Chiaramonte & Pettovello, 2000; Molen & Caille, 2001); in the waters off Long Island, USA, dusky smoothhounds (*M. canis*) exhibited a preference for *Libinia spp.* spider crabs and Atlantic rock crabs (*Cancer irroratus*; Montemarano et al., 2016). Between half to three quarters of all bonnetheads (*S. tiburo*) sampled in the Gulf of Mexico had eaten blue crabs (*C. sapidus*) and seagrasses, indicating that for at least one species in this study, estuaries provided not only important crustacean food sources, but vegetation too (Cortes et al., 1996; Hueter & Manire, 1994).

Three out of the eight species sampled in estuaries are currently listed as either vulnerable, endangered, or critically endangered on the IUCN Red List (*C. plumbeus, M. schmitti*, and *S. lewini*, respectively; IUCN, 2020). Specialists in particular are more at risk to ecosystem perturbation and extinction than generalists (Boyles & Storm, 2007; Graham et al., 2011; Munday, 2004; Pratchett et al., 2006), and the combination of Red List status with specialist life histories suggests that estuarine elasmobranchs may be

particularly vulnerable to habitat loss. This vulnerability additionally does not appear to be limited to one particular age class of elasmobranchs. Given this, further research on the interaction between dietary specialization and habitat loss in estuaries is warranted, as the number of studies synthesizing diet contents of estuarine elasmobranchs (*e.g.*, this study) and teleosts (Llopiz, 2013) is extremely limited.

# 2.4.4.2 Offshore.

In terrestrial systems, large apex predators with broad range sizes are consistently hyperspecialized carnivores (Van Valkenburgh, 2004) that experience increased extinction risk due to the combination of specific dietary requirements and reliance on large range sizes in order to hunt their prey (Middleton et al., 2020; Van Valkenburgh, 2004). It is unclear whether a similar dynamic can be generalized to the marine environment. Pinnipeds, for example, occupy the top trophic position in many marine ecosystems where elasmobranchs are not dominant (Ferguson et al., 2014), but are considered to be opportunistic, generalist carnivores overall, with the notable exception of the leopard seal (Jones & Goswami, 2010). In contrast, cetaceans with large body sizes are associated with increased dietary specialization in squid (sperm whales, family Physeteroidea) and marine mammals (orca, *Orcinus orca*; Slater et al., 2010). Large, top trophic level elasmobranchs (*e.g.*, adult white, porbeagle, or shortfin mako sharks) in this study follow a similar trend and grow more specialized with increasing body and range size (Appendix 4.3).

If wide-ranging and large-bodied marine carnivores follow similar dynamics as on land, contracting range sizes may have a particularly strong negative impact on large,

specialist sharks. Such range contractions could come about as a result of climate change (García Molinos et al., 2016; Perry et al., 2005), either due to warm waters pushing polewards and reducing habitat for cold-water species (Fossheim et al., 2015) or due to deoxygenation reducing available habitat in warmer regions (Storch et al., 2014). This, in combination with intensive and growing offshore fishing effort, could effectively reduce foraging space for pelagic species even in seemingly untouched offshore ecosystems (Coulter et al., 2020; Queiroz et al., 2016). Over the last twenty years alone, global fishing fleets have encroached upon 24% of the mean monthly space use used by pelagic sharks, with that number increasing to 64% for internationally protected species (Queiroz et al., 2019), effectively contracting range size by 24-64% via fishing induced mortality. This is of particular concern for certain species that specialize in food items that humans also target. For example, porbeagles, listed as globally vulnerable by the IUCN, specialize in mackerels (Scomber scombrus and Trachurus spp.; Ellis & Shackley, 1995; Horn et al., 2013), which are commonly targeted by commercial fisheries (Froese & Pauly, 2019); the North Atlantic population of shortfin makos, listed as endangered, specialize in mackerels and bluefish (Pomatomus saltatrix; Stillwell & Kohler, 1982; Wood et al., 2009), which has historically been overfished in the region (Wood, 2013). Similar results have been found for blue whales, where foraging range has contracted due to a combination of reduced krill density and avoidance of vessel interactions, thus resulting in negative consequences for fitness (Guilpin et al., 2020). Given the impacts of range contraction on terrestrial specialist carnivores (Middleton et al., 2020), there is the potential that range size dynamics in combination with unprecedented levels of offshore fishing

pressure (Coulter et al., 2020) could result in similarly negative impacts for dietary specialists in the marine environment.

# 2.4.5 Greater macroecological implications.

Depth is the greatest predictor of biodiversity in the marine environment: diversity steadily declines with depth in the world's oceans (Costello & Chaudhary, 2017; Gagné et al., 2020). Elasmobranch diversity and abundance is no exception (O' Hea et al., 2020; Priede et al., 2006). Elasmobranch niche breadth, similarly, follows a depth gradient, with a greater proportion of specialists inshore and generalists offshore (Fig. 2.4). Temperature is strongly depth-dependent in aquatic environments (Tomczak, 2019), with depth conferring far more thermal variability than altitude in terrestrial systems, and the relationship between depth, diversity, and niche breadth adds to the growing body of evidence that thermodynamics play a major role in shaping global patterns of diversity and community composition (Brown, 2014; Sunday et al., 2012).

While elasmobranch niche breadth does not vary with latitude, the depth gradient in niche breadth suggests that the "stability" component of MacArthur's latitude-niche breadth hypothesis may be supported in part. Marine biodiversity peaks not where the absolute value of primary productivity or temperature is highest throughout the year, but in regions where the yearly variability in both is minimal (Valentine & Jablonski, 2015); *e.g.*, in shallow tropical seas and mesopelagic (400-500 m) depths (Costello & Chaudhary, 2017). After excluding large pelagics that "track" their preferred niches (See "Effects of clade…" above), some of the most specialized elasmobranchs occur in regions where both temperature and nutrient inputs throughout the year are steady, such as in tropical estuaries (*e.g.*, juvenile pigeye sharks *Carcharhinus amboinensis* in the Gulf of Carpentaria, Australia) or the midwater Mediterranean (*e.g.*, blackmouth catsharks *Galeus melastomus* in the Ionian Sea). Temperate seas with seasonal changes to the thermocline and patchy distribution of nutrients, in contrast, host some of the more generalist elasmobranchs, such as in coastal upwelling regions (numerous carcharhinids off the coast of Natal, South Africa), while deep water polar seas fall somewhere in the middle (*e.g.*, Greenland sharks *Somniosus microcephalus* throughout the subarctic). It is possible that the interaction between thermal and productivity stability of the former ecosystems promotes specialization, though there are always exceptions to the rule (*e.g.*, generalist milk sharks *Rhizoprionodon acutus* in the Gulf of Carpentaria). Future research exploring depth-niche breadth gradients should explicitly account for ecosystem stability in order to determine whether specialization co-occurring with depth-based ecosystem stability is a rule that can be generalized across all oceans.

Similarly, the "distance to polar range edge" hypothesis may not be very influential for marine niche breadth as it does not account for any depth component. In terrestrial lepidoptera, populations of a given species colonizing the polar edges of their ranges have wider niches than populations located more centrally within their range (Lancaster, 2020). Given range limits are more often set by thermal boundaries than latitude in the marine environment (Fredston-Hermann et al., 2020; Sunday et al., 2011, 2012), a more appropriate measure of marine niche-range edge dynamics would incorporate proximity to thermal barrier. Such experiments are now possible with the deployment of telemetry technology in conjunction with traditional dietary analyses (Cooke et al., 2004; Hussey et al., 2015a). For example, tagged leatherback sea turtles diving into near-freezing waters at the very limits of their thermal capabilities (James et al., 2006) may be the generalist dietary "mavericks" of their species, expanding their foraging territories to compete with oceanic sunfish (Hays et al., 2009).

Narrower niches associated with stable regions of high biodiversity ultimately suggests a weakening of species' resource overlap and competition and strengthening of interactions as species grow more specialized (Schemske et al., 2009). While there is mixed evidence to support a latitudinal gradient in species interaction strength in the oceans (Schemske et al., 2009, but see Roesti et al., 2020), this study supports the existence of a depth gradient in marine species interaction strength. Elasmobranchs in high diversity estuarine and coastal ecosystems have overall narrower niche breadths than in lower diversity shelf and offshore systems (Fig. 2.4). Notably, this depth gradient is strongest for reef-associated species (regardless of latitude; Fig. 2.11), which live in the most complex communities of the oceans, suggesting that deeper, less biodiverse waters free reef-associated species from resource competition. The strength of clade as a predictor for tropical crabs similarly highlights the importance of evolutionary interactions in shaping niche breadth in complex, biodiverse ecosystems (Papacostas & Freestone, 2016). Thus, interaction strength, as measured by niche breadth, likely plays a role in the maintenance of bathymetric gradients in marine biodiversity.

# 2.4.6 Conclusion.

The role that sharks play in their ecosystems as apex predators is clear (Burkholder et al., 2013; Heupel et al., 2014). Less clear, however, are the ecological roles of their many smaller and less well-known cousins. On an evolutionary timescale, elasmobranchs have been highly successful predators, surviving numerous mass extinction events and radiating afterwards to quickly fill any predatory niches (Compagno, 1990). Quantifying niche breadth, or interaction strength, of sharks, skates, and rays helps us to better understand how these charismatic predators contribute to the mechanisms that shape macroscale patterns of diversity in the world's oceans, both today and in an uncertain future characterized by the sixth mass extinction (Dulvy et al., 2014; Schemske et al., 2009). The great variation in elasmobranch niche breadth highlights the diversity we risk losing if urgent conservation action to protect elasmobranchs is not taken, but also highlights a bright spot: the wide range of niche breadth across taxonomic groups, functional groups, ecosystems, and regions is a testament to how truly adaptable sharks and batoids are on an evolutionary time scale.

Akaike, H. (1974). A new look at the statistical model identification. *IEEE Transactions* on Automatic Control, 19(6), 716–723.

https://doi.org/10.1109/TAC.1974.1100705

Barbini, S. A., Sabadin, D. E., & Lucifora, L. O. (2018). Comparative analysis of feeding habits and dietary niche breadth in skates: The importance of body size, snout length, and depth. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 28(3), 625–636. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-018-9522-5

Beck, M. W., Heck, K. L., Able, K. W., Childers, D. L., Eggleston, D. B., Gillanders, B.
M., Halpern, B., Hays, C. G., Hoshino, K., Minello, T. J., Orth, R. J., Sheridan, P.
F., & Weinstein, M. P. (2001). The Identification, Conservation, and Management of Estuarine and Marine Nurseries for Fish and Invertebrates. *BioScience*, *51*(8), 633. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2001)051[0633:TICAMO]2.0.CO;2

- Bergmann. (1848). Über die Verhältnisse der Wärmeökonomie der Thiere zu ihrer Grösse.
- Berke, S. K., Jablonski, D., Krug, A. Z., Roy, K., & Tomasovych, A. (2013). Beyond
  Bergmann's rule: Size-latitude relationships in marine Bivalvia world-wide: Size-latitude trends in bivalves. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 22(2), 173–183.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2012.00775.x
- Boettiger, C., Lang, D. T., & Wainwright, P. (2012). rfishbase: Exploring, manipulating and visualizing FishBase data from R. *Journal of Fish Biology*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2012.03464.x

- Bolnick, D. I., Ingram, T., Stutz, W. E., Snowberg, L. K., Lau, O. L., & Paull, J. S.
  (2010). Ecological release from interspecific competition leads to decoupled changes in population and individual niche width. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 277(1689), 1789–1797.
  https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.0018
- Bouyoucos, I. A., Romain, M., Azoulai, L., Eustache, K., Mourier, J., Rummer, J. L., & Planes, S. (2020). Home range of newborn blacktip reef sharks (Carcharhinus melanopterus), as estimated using mark-recapture and acoustic telemetry. *Coral*

Boyles, J. G., & Storm, J. J. (2007). The Perils of Picky Eating: Dietary Breadth Is Related to Extinction Risk in Insectivorous Bats. *PLoS ONE*, *2*(7), e672.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0000672

*Reefs*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-020-01965-z

- Brown, J. H. (1984). On the Relationship between Abundance and Distribution of Species. *The American Naturalist*, *124*(2), 255–279. https://doi.org/10.1086/284267
- Brown, J. H. (2014). Why are there so many species in the tropics? *Journal of Biogeography*, 41(1), 8–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12228
- Brown, J. H., Stevens, G. C., & Kaufman, D. M. (1996). The Geographic Range: Size, Shape, Boundaries, and Internal Structure. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 27(1), 597–623. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.27.1.597
- Burkholder, D. A., Heithaus, M. R., Fourqurean, J. W., Wirsing, A., & Dill, L. M. (2013).
  Patterns of top-down control in a seagrass ecosystem: Could a roving apex predator induce a behaviour-mediated trophic cascade? *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 82(6), 1192–1202. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12097

Casale, P., Abbate, G., Freggi, D., Conte, N., Oliverio, M., & Argano, R. (2008) Foraging Ecology of Loggerhead Sea Turtles *Caretta caretta* in the Central Mediterranean Sea: Evidence for a Relaxed Life History Model. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 372, 265–76. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps07702.

Chepurin, G. A., & Carton, J. A. (2012). Subarctic and Arctic sea surface temperature and its relation to ocean heat content 1982-2010: ARCTIC SST AND HEAT CONTENT. Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans, 117(C6). https://doi.org/10.1029/2011JC007770

Cheung, W. W. L., Lam, V. W. Y., Sarmiento, J. L., Kearney, K., Watson, R., & Pauly,
D. (2009). Projecting global marine biodiversity impacts under climate change scenarios. *Fish and Fisheries*, *10*, 235–251. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-2979.2008.00315.x

- Chiaramonte, G. E., & Pettovello, A. D. (2000). The biology of Mustelus schmitti in southern Patagonia, Argentina. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 57(4), 930–942. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2000.tb02202.x
- Cirtwill, A. R., Stouffer, D. B., & Romanuk, T. N. (2015). Latitudinal gradients in biotic niche breadth vary across ecosystem types. *Proceedings. Biological Sciences*, 282(1819), 20151589. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.1589
- Clarke, T. A. (1971). The Ecology of the Scalloped Hammerhead Shark, Sphyrna lewini in Hawaii. *PACIFIC SCIENCE*, *25*, 12.
- Compagno, L. J. V. (1990). Alternative life-history styles of cartilaginous fishes in time and space. In M. N. Bruton (Ed.), *Alternative life-history styles of fishes* (Vol. 10, pp. 33–75). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-009-2065-1\_3

Cooke, S. J., Hinch, S. G., Wikelski, M., Andrews, R. D., Kuchel, L. J., Wolcott, T. G., & Butler, P. J. (2004). Biotelemetry: A mechanistic approach to ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 19(6), 334–343.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TREE.2004.04.003

Córdova, M., Célleri, R., Shellito, C. J., Orellana-Alvear, J., Abril, A., & Carrillo-Rojas, G. (2016). Near-Surface Air Temperature Lapse Rate Over Complex Terrain in the Southern Ecuadorian Andes: Implications for Temperature Mapping. *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 48*(4), 673–684. https://doi.org/10.1657/AAAR0015-077

- Cortés, E. (1997). A critical review of methods of studying fish feeding based on analysis of stomach contents: Application to elasmobranch fishes. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 54(3), 726–738. https://doi.org/10.1139/f96-316
- Cortés, E. (1999). Standardized diet compositions and trophic levels of sharks. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, *56*(5), 707–717.

https://doi.org/10.1006/jmsc.1999.0489

- Cortes, E., Manire, C. A., & Hueter, R. E. (1996). Diet, Feeding Habits, and Diel Feeding Chronology of the Bonnethead Shark, *Sphyrna tiburo*, in Southwest Florida. *Bulleten of Marine Science*, 58(2), 353–367.
- Costa, G. C. (2009). Predator size, prey size, and dietary niche breadth relationships in marine predators. *Ecology*, *90*(7), 2014–2019. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-1150.1
- Costa, G. C., Vitt, L. J., Pianka, E. R., Mesquita, D. O., & Colli, G. R. (2008). Optimal foraging constrains macroecological patterns: Body size and dietary niche breadth

in lizards. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, *17*(5), 670–677. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2008.00405.x

- Costello, M. J., & Chaudhary, C. (2017). Marine Biodiversity, Biogeography, Deep-Sea Gradients, and Conservation. *Current Biology*, 27(11), R511–R527. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.04.060
- Coulter, A., Cashion, T., Cisneros-Montemayor, A. M., Popov, S., Tsui, G., Le Manach, F., Schiller, L., Palomares, M. L. D., Zeller, D., & Pauly, D. (2020). Using harmonized historical catch data to infer the expansion of global tuna fisheries. *Fisheries Research*, 221, 105379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2019.105379
- Craney, T. A., & Surles, J. G. (2002). Model-Dependent Variance Inflation Factor Cutoff Values. *Quality Engineering*, 14(3), 391–403. https://doi.org/10.1081/QEN-120001878
- Davidson, N. C. (2014). How much wetland has the world lost? Long-term and recent trends in global wetland area. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 65(10), 934. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF14173
- de Vernal, A., & Hillaire-Marcel, C. (2000). Sea-ice cover, sea-surface salinity and halo-/thermocline structure of the northwest North Atlantic: Modern versus full glacial conditions. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 19(1–5), 65–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-3791(99)00055-4
- Devictor, V., Julliard, R., & Jiguet, F. (2008). Distribution of specialist and generalist species along spatial gradients of habitat disturbance and fragmentation. *Oikos*, *117*(4), 507–514. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2008.16215.x

- Dicken, M. L., Hussey, N. E., Christiansen, H. M., Smale, M. J., Nkabi, N., Cliff, G., & Wintner, S. P. (2017). Diet and trophic ecology of the tiger shark (Galeocerdo cuvier) from South African waters. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(6), e0177897. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177897
- Dobzhansky, T. (1950). *Evolution in the Tropics*. American Scientist. http://people.wku.edu/charles.smith/biogeog/DOBZ1950.htm
- Dulvy, N. K., Fowler, S. L., Musick, J. A., Cavanagh, R. D., Kyne, P. M., Harrison, L. R., Carlson, J. K., Davidson, L. N., Fordham, S. V., Francis, M. P., Pollock, C. M., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Burgess, G. H., Carpenter, K. E., Compagno, L. J., Ebert, D. A., Gibson, C., Heupel, M. R., Livingstone, S. R., ... White, W. T. (2014). Extinction risk and conservation of the world's sharks and rays. *ELife*. https://doi.org/10.7554/elife.00590
- Dunstan, P. K., Foster, S. D., King, E., Risbey, J., O'Kane, T. J., Monselesan, D., Hobday, A. J., Hartog, J. R., & Thompson, P. A. (2018). Global patterns of change and variation in sea surface temperature and chlorophyll a. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 14624. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-33057-y
- Dyer, L. A., Singer, M. S., Lill, J. T., Stireman, J. O., Gentry, G. L., Marquis, R. J., Ricklefs, R. E., Greeney, H. F., Wagner, D. L., Morais, H. C., Diniz, I. R., Kursar, T. A., & Coley, P. D. (2007). Host specificity of Lepidoptera in tropical and temperate forests. *Nature*, 448(7154), 696–699. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05884
- Ebert, D. A., Cowley, P. D., & Compagno, L. J. V. (1996). A preliminary investigation of the feeding ecology of catsharks (Scyliorhinidae) off the west coast of southern

Africa. *South African Journal of Marine Science*, *17*(1), 233–240. https://doi.org/10.2989/025776196784158563

- Ebert, D. A., Fowler, S. L., & Compagno, L. J. V. (2013) *Sharks of the World: A Fully Illustrated Guide*. Wild Nature Press.
- Ellis, J. R., & Shackley, S. E. (1995). Notes on porbeagle sharks, Lamna nasus, from the Bristol Channel. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 46(2), 368–370. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1995.tb05976.x
- Elton, C. S. (1927). Animal Ecology. Macmillan.
- Ferguson, S. H., Higdon, J. W., Tallman, R. F., Fisk, A. T., & Hussey, N. E. (2014). The ghosts of competition past: Body size, trophic ecology, diversity and distribution of global shark and pinniped species. *Journal of Marine Animals and Their Ecol*ogy, 7(1).
- Fisher, J., Frank, K., & Leggett, W. (2010). Global variation in marine fish body size and its role in biodiversity–ecosystem functioning. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 405, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps08601
- Forister, M. L., Novotny, V., Panorska, A. K., Baje, L., Basset, Y., Butterill, P. T., Cizek, L., Coley, P. D., Dem, F., Diniz, I. R., Drozd, P., Fox, M., Glassmire, A. E., Hazen, R., Hrcek, J., Jahner, J. P., Kaman, O., Kozubowski, T. J., Kursar, T. A., ... Dyer, L. A. (2015). The global distribution of diet breadth in insect herbivores. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *112*(2), 442–447. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1423042112

- Fortes, R. R., & Absalão, R. S. (2010). The latitudinal and bathymetric ranges of marine fishes: A global analysis to test the application of Rapoport's Rule. *Marine Ecol*ogy. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0485.2010.00357.x
- Fortunato, C. S., Herfort, L., Zuber, P., Baptista, A. M., & Crump, B. C. (2012). Spatial variability overwhelms seasonal patterns in bacterioplankton communities across a river to ocean gradient. *The ISME Journal*, 6(3), 554–563. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2011.135
- Fossheim, M., Primicerio, R., Johannesen, E., Ingvaldsen, R. B., Aschan, M. M., & Dolgov, A. V. (2015). Recent warming leads to a rapid borealization of fish communities in the Arctic. *Nature Climate Change*, 5(7), 673–677. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2647
- Fredston-Hermann, A., Selden, R., Pinsky, M., Gaines, S. D., & Halpern, B. S. (2020).
  Cold range edges of marine fishes track climate change better than warm edges. *Global Change Biology*, 26(5), 2908–2922. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15035

Froese, R., & Pauly, D. (Eds.). (2019). Fishbase. http://www.fishbase.org/f

- Gage, J. D., & Tyler, P. A. (1991). Deep-sea biology: A natural history of organisms at the deep-sea floor. Cambridge University Press. https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0025315400053339/type/journal\_article
- Gagné, T. O., Reygondeau, G., Jenkins, C. N., Sexton, J. O., Bograd, S. J., Hazen, E. L., & Van Houtan, K. S. (2020). Towards a global understanding of the drivers of marine and terrestrial biodiversity. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(2), e0228065. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0228065

García Molinos, J., Halpern, B. S., Schoeman, D. S., Brown, C. J., Kiessling, W., Moore,
P. J., Pandolfi, J. M., Poloczanska, E. S., Richardson, A. J., & Burrows, M. T.
(2016). Climate velocity and the future global redistribution of marine biodiversity. *Nature Climate Change*, 6(1), 83–88. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2769

Ghalambor, C. K. (2006). Are mountain passes higher in the tropics? Janzen's hypothesis revisited. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, 46(1), 5–17. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icj003

Graham, N. A. J., Chabanet, P., Evans, R. D., Jennings, S., Letourneur, Y., Aaron Mac-Neil, M., McClanahan, T. R., Öhman, M. C., Polunin, N. V. C., & Wilson, S. K. (2011). Extinction vulnerability of coral reef fishes: Reef fish extinction vulnerability. *Ecology Letters*, *14*(4), 341–348. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01592.x

- Grainger, R., Peddemors, V. M., Raubenheimer, D., & Machovsky-Capuska, G. E.
  (2020). Diet Composition and Nutritional Niche Breadth Variability in Juvenile
  White Sharks (Carcharodon carcharias). *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *7*, 422.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00422
- Grubbs, R. D., Carlson, J. K., Romine, J. G., Curtis, T. H., McElroy, W. D., McCandless,
  C. T., Cotton, C. F., & Musick, J. A. (2016). Critical assessment and ramifications of a purported marine trophic cascade. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 20970.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/srep20970

Gudger, E. W. (1949). Natural History Notes on Tiger Sharks, Galeocerdo tigrinus, Caught at Key West, Florida, with Emphasis on Food and Feeding Habits. *Copeia*, 1949(1), 39–47. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/1437661

- Guilpin, M., Lesage, V., McQuinn, I., Brosset, P., Doniol-Valcroze, T., Jeanniard-du-Dot, T., & Winkler, G. (2020). Repeated Vessel Interactions and Climate- or Fishery-Driven Changes in Prey Density Limit Energy Acquisition by Foraging Blue Whales. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *7*, 626. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00626
- Hawkes, L. A., Broderick, A. C., Coyne, M. S., Godfrey, M. H., & Godley, B. J. (2007).
  Only some like it hot quantifying the environmental niche of the loggerhead sea turtle: Environmental niche of sea turtles. *Diversity and Distributions*, *13*(4), 447–457. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2007.00354.x
- Hays, G. C., Farquhar, M. R., Luschi, P., Teo, S. L. H., & Thys, T. M. (2009). Vertical niche overlap by two ocean giants with similar diets: Ocean sunfish and leatherback turtles. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 370(1–2), 134–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2008.12.009
- Heupel, M., Carlson, J., & Simpfendorfer, C. (2007). Shark nursery areas: Concepts, definition, characterization and assumptions. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 337, 287–297. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps337287
- Heupel, M., Knip, D., Simpfendorfer, C., & Dulvy, N. (2014). Sizing up the ecological role of sharks as predators. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 495, 291–298. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps10597
- Hillebrand, H. (2004a). Strength, slope and variability of marine latitudinal gradients.
   Marine Ecology Progress Series, 273, 251–267.
   https://doi.org/10.3354/meps273251

- Hillebrand, H. (2004b). On the generality of the latitudinal diversity gradient. *The American Naturalist*, *163*(2), 192–211. https://doi.org/10.1086/381004
- Horn, P. L., Ballara, S. L., Sutton, P., & Griggs, L. H. (2013). Evaluation of the diets of highly migratory species in New Zealand waters. Ministry for Primary Industries. http://docs.niwa.co.nz/library/public/AEBR\_116.pdf
- Horton, T., Kroh, A., Ahyong, S., Bailly, N., Boyko, C. B., Brandão, S. N., Costello, M.
  J., Gofas, S., Hernandez, F., Holovachov, O., Mees, J., Paulay, G., Rosenberg, G.,
  Decock, W., Dekeyzer, S., Lanssens, T., Vandepitte, L., Vanhoorne, B., Verfaille,
  K., ... Zhao, Z. (2019). *World Register of Marine Species (WoRMS)*. WoRMS
  Editorial Board. http://www.marinespecies.org
- Hueter, R. E., & Manire, C. A. (1994). Bycatch and catch-release mortality of small sharks in the Gulf coast nursery grounds of Tampa Bay and Charlotte Harbor (Monograph or Serial Issue No. 368; Mote Marine Laboratory Technical Report, p. 183). Mote Marine Laboratory. https://dspace.mote.org/dspace/handle/2075/57
- Huh, S.-H., Park, J. M., Park, S. C., Kim, J. H., & Baeck, G. W. (2010). Feeding Habits of 6 Shark Species in the Southern Sea of Korea. *Korean Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science*, 43(3), 254–261.
- Hussey, N. E., Kessel, S. T., Aarestrup, K., Cooke, S. J., Cowley, P. D., Fisk, A. T., Harcourt, R. G., Holland, K. N., Iverson, S. J., Kocik, J. F., Mills Flemming, J. E., & Whoriskey, F. G. (2015a). Aquatic animal telemetry: A panoramic window into the underwater world. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 348*(6240), 1255642. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1255642

- Hussey, N. E., MacNeil, M. A., Siple, M. C., Popp, B. N., Dudley, S. F. J., & Fisk, A. T. (2015b). Expanded trophic complexity among large sharks. *Food Webs*, 4, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fooweb.2015.04.002
- Hussey, N. E., McCann, H., Cliff, G., Dudley, S., Wintner, S., & Fisk, A. (2012). Size-Based Analysis of Diet and Trophic Position of the White Shark, Carcharodon carcharias, in South African Waters. In M. Domeier, *Global Perspectives on the Biology and Life History of the White Shark* (pp. 27–50). CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/b11532-5
- Hutchinson, G. E. (1957). Concluding Remarks. Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology.
- Hyslop, E. J. (1980). Stomach contents analysis-a review of methods and their application. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 17(4), 411–429. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1980.tb02775.x
- IUCN. (2020). *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* (Version 2020-2) [Computer software]. https://www.iucnredlist.org
- Jain, S., Lall, U., & Mann, M. E. (1999). Seasonality and Interannual Variations of Northern Hemisphere Temperature: Equator-to-Pole Gradient and Ocean–Land Contrast. JOURNAL OF CLIMATE, 12, 15.

James, M. C., Davenport, J., & Hays, G. C. (2006). Expanded thermal niche for a diving vertebrate: A leatherback turtle diving into near-freezing water. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 335(2), 221–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2006.03.013

- Jones, K. E., & Goswami, A. (2010). Morphometric analysis of cranial morphology in pinnipeds (Mammalia, Carnivora): Convergence, ecology, ontogeny, and dimorphism. *Carnivoran Evolution: New Views on Phylogeny, Form Anfd Function*, 342–373.
- Kennish, M. J. (2002). Environmental threats and environmental future of estuaries. *Environmental Conservation*, 29(1), 78–107. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892902000061
- Kerkhoff, A. J., Moriarty, P. E., & Weiser, M. D. (2014). The latitudinal species richness gradient in New World woody angiosperms is consistent with the tropical conservatism hypothesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(22). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1308932111
- Knutti, R., Flückiger, J., Stocker, T. F., & Timmermann, A. (2004). Strong hemispheric coupling of glacial climate through freshwater discharge and ocean circulation. *Nature*, 430(7002), 851–856. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02786
- Krebs, C. J. (2014). Niche Measures and Resource Preferences. In *Ecological Methodol*ogy (3rd ed., pp. 596–653). Pearson.
- Lamanna, C., Blonder, B., Violle, C., Kraft, N. J. B., Sandel, B., Šímová, I., Donoghue, J. C., Svenning, J.-C., McGill, B. J., Boyle, B., Buzzard, V., Dolins, S., Jørgensen, P. M., Marcuse-Kubitza, A., Morueta-Holme, N., Peet, R. K., Piel, W. H., Regetz, J., Schildhauer, M., ... Enquist, B. J. (2014). Functional trait space and the latitudinal diversity gradient. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *111*(38), 13745–13750. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1317722111

- Lancaster, L. T. (2020). Host use diversification during range shifts shapes global variation in Lepidopteran dietary breadth. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-020-1199-1
- Li, X., Bellerby, R., Craft, C., & Widney, S. E. (2018). Coastal wetland loss, consequences, and challenges for restoration. *Anthropocene Coasts*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1139/anc-2017-0001
- Lindsey, C. C. (1966). Body sizes of poikilotherm vertebrates at different latitudes. *Evolution*, 20(4), 456–465. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1558-5646.1966.tb03380.x
- Llopiz, J. K. (2013). Latitudinal and taxonomic patterns in the feeding ecologies of fish larvae: A literature synthesis. *Journal of Marine Systems*, 109–110, 69–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2012.05.002
- Loomis, S. E., Russell, J. M., Verschuren, D., Morrill, C., De Cort, G., Sinninghe Damsté, J. S., Olago, D., Eggermont, H., Street-Perrott, F. A., & Kelly, M. A. (2017).
  The tropical lapse rate steepened during the Last Glacial Maximum. *Science Advances*, *3*(1), e1600815. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1600815
- MacArthur, R. H. (1968). The theory of the niche. In *Population Biology and Evolution* (pp. 159–176). Syracuse University Press.

MacArthur, R. H. (1972). Geographical ecology: Patterns in the distribution of species.

McElroy, W. D., Wetherbee, B. M., Mostello, C. S., Lowe, C. G., Crow, G. L., & Wass,
R. C. (2006). Food habits and ontogenetic changes in the diet of the sandbar shark, Carcharhinus plumbeus, in Hawaii. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 76(1), 81–92. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10641-006-9010-y

- Medved, R. J., Stillwell, C. E., & Casey, J. J. (1985). Stomach contents of young sandbar sharks, *Carcharhinus plumbeus*, in Chincoteague Bay, Virginia. *Fishery Bulletin*, 83(3), 395–402.
- Menne, M. J., Durre, I., Korzeniewski, B., McNeal, S., Thomas, K., Yin, X., Anthony, S., Ray, R., Vose, R. S., Gleason, B. E., & Houston, T. G. (2012a). *Global Historical Climatology Network—Daily (GHCN-Daily), Version 3. Verhojansk 1885-2010.*NOAA National Climatic Data Center. https://doi.org/10.7289/V5D21VHZ
- Menne, M. J., Durre, I., Vose, R. S., Gleason, B. E., & Houston, T. G. (2012b). An Overview of the Global Historical Climatology Network-Daily Database. *Journal of Atmospheric and Oceanic Technology*, 29(7), 897–910. https://doi.org/10.1175/JTECH-D-11-00103.1
- Middleton, O. S., Scharlemann, J. P. W., & Sandom, C. J. (2020). Homogenization of carnivorous mammal ensembles caused by global range reductions of large-bod-ied hypercarnivores during the late Quaternary. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 287(1929), 20200804.
  https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2020.0804
- Molen, S. V. der, & Caille, G. (2001). Bahía Engaño: A north Patagonian nursery area for the smoothhound shark Mustelus schmitti (Carcharhiniformes: Triakidae). *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, *81*(5), 851–855.
   https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315401004684
- Montemarano, J. J., Havelin, J., & Draud, M. (2016). Diet composition of the smooth dogfish (Mustelus canis) in the waters of Long Island, New York, USA. *Marine*

*Biology Research*, *12*(4), 435–442.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17451000.2016.1148819

- Morley, J. W., Selden, R. L., Latour, R. J., Frölicher, T. L., Seagraves, R. J., & Pinsky,
  M. L. (2018). Projecting shifts in thermal habitat for 686 species on the North
  American continental shelf. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(5), e0196127.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0196127
- Munday, P. L. (2004). Habitat loss, resource specialization, and extinction on coral reefs. *Global Change Biology*, *10*(10), 1642–1647. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2004.00839.x
- Myers, R. A., Baum, J. K., Shepherd, T. D., Powers, S. P., & Peterson, C. H. (2007). Cascading Effects of the Loss of Apex Predatory Sharks from a Coastal Ocean. *Science*, 315(5820), 1846–1850. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1138657
- Nagelkerken, I., Blaber, S. J. M., Bouillon, S., Green, P., Haywood, M., Kirton, L. G., Meynecke, J.-O., Pawlik, J., Penrose, H. M., Sasekumar, A., & Somerfield, P. J. (2008). The habitat function of mangroves for terrestrial and marine fauna: A review. *Aquatic Botany*, 89(2), 155–185.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquabot.2007.12.007

O' Hea, B., Davie, S., Johnston, G., & O' Dowd, L. (2020). Assemblages of deepwater shark species along the north east Atlantic continental slope. *Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers*, 157, 103207.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr.2019.103207

- Papacostas, K. J., & Freestone, A. L. (2016). Latitudinal gradient in niche breadth of brachyuran crabs. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 25(2), 207–217. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12400
- Peixoto, J. P., & Oort, A. H. (1992). *Physics of climate*. New York, NY (United States); American Institute of Physics. https://www.osti.gov/servlets/purl/7287064
- Perry, A. L., Low, P. J., Ellis, J. R., & Reynolds, J. D. (2005). Climate change and distribution shifts in marine fishes. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 308(5730), 1912–1915. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1111322
- Pigot, A. L., Trisos, C. H., & Tobias, J. A. (2016). Functional traits reveal the expansion and packing of ecological niche space underlying an elevational diversity gradient in passerine birds. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 283(1822), 20152013. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.2013
- Polidoro, B. A., Carpenter, K. E., Collins, L., Duke, N. C., Ellison, A. M., Ellison, J. C., Farnsworth, E. J., Fernando, E. S., Kathiresan, K., Koedam, N. E., Livingstone, S. R., Miyagi, T., Moore, G. E., Ngoc Nam, V., Ong, J. E., Primavera, J. H., Salmo, S. G., Sanciangco, J. C., Sukardjo, S., ... Yong, J. W. H. (2010). The Loss of Species: Mangrove Extinction Risk and Geographic Areas of Global Concern. *PLoS ONE*, *5*(4), e10095. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0010095
- Potier, M., Marsac, F., Cherel, Y., Lucas, V., Sabatié, R., Maury, O., & Ménard, F. (2007). Forage Fauna in the Diet of Three Large Pelagic Fishes (Lancetfish, Swordfish and Yellowfin Tuna) in the Western Equatorial Indian Ocean. *Fisher-ies Research*, 83(1), 60–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2006.08.020.

- Pratchett, M. S., Wilson, S. K., & Baird, A. H. (2006). Declines in the abundance of Chaetodon butterflyfishes following extensive coral depletion. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 69(5), 1269–1280. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2006.01161.x
- Priede, I. G., Froese, R., Bailey, D. M., Bergstad, O. A., Collins, M. A., Dyb, J. E., Henriques, C., Jones, E. G., & King, N. (2006). The absence of sharks from abyssal regions of the world's oceans. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 273(1592), 1435–1441. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2005.3461
- Prieto, R., Tobeña, M., & Silva, M. A. (2017). Habitat preferences of baleen whales in a mid-latitude habitat. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 141, 155–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2016.07.015
- Pyron, M. (1999). Relationships between geographical range size, body size, local abundance, and habitat breadth in North American suckers and sunfishes. *Journal of Biogeography*, 26(3), 549–558. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2699.1999.00303.x
- QGIS Development Team. (2018). *QGIS Geographic Information System* (3.10) [Computer software]. Open Source Geospatial Foundation Project. http://qgis.osgeo.org/
- Queiroz, N., Humphries, N. E., Couto, A., Vedor, M., da Costa, I., Sequeira, A. M. M., Mucientes, G., Santos, A. M., Abascal, F. J., Abercrombie, D. L., Abrantes, K., Acuña-Marrero, D., Afonso, A. S., Afonso, P., Anders, D., Araujo, G., Arauz, R., Bach, P., Barnett, A., ... Sims, D. W. (2019). Global spatial risk assessment of sharks under the footprint of fisheries. *Nature*, *572*(7770), 461–466. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1444-4

- Queiroz, N., Humphries, N. E., Mucientes, G., Hammerschlag, N., Lima, F. P., Scales, K. L., Miller, P. I., Sousa, L. L., Seabra, R., & Sims, D. W. (2016). Ocean-wide tracking of pelagic sharks reveals extent of overlap with longline fishing hotspots. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(6), 1582–1587. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1510090113
- R Core Team. (2020). *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/
- Rabosky, D. L., Chang, J., Title, P. O., Cowman, P. F., Sallan, L., Friedman, M., Kaschner, K., Garilao, C., Near, T. J., Coll, M., & Alfaro, M. E. (2018). An inverse latitudinal gradient in speciation rate for marine fishes. *Nature*, 559(7714), 392–395. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0273-1
- Roesti, M., Anstett, D. N., Freeman, B. G., Lee-Yaw, J. A., Schluter, D., Chavarie, L.,
  Rolland, J., & Holzman, R. (2020). Pelagic fish predation is stronger at temperate
  latitudes than near the equator. *Nature Communications*, *11*(1), 1527.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-15335-4
- Rohde, K. (1992). Latitudinal Gradients in Species Diversity: The Search for the Primary Cause. *Oikos*, *65*(3), 514. https://doi.org/10.2307/3545569
- Roughgarden, J. (1972). Evolution of Niche Width. *The American Naturalist*, 106(952), 683–718.
- Saldanha, L., Almeida, A. J., Andrade, F., & Guerreiro, J. (1995). Observations on the Diet of Some Slope Dwelling Fishes of Southern Portugal. *Internationale Revue Der Gesamten Hydrobiologie Und Hydrographie*, 80(2), 217–234. https://doi.org/10.1002/iroh.19950800210

- Sauer, W. H. H., & Smale, M. J. (1991). Predation patterns on the inshore spawning grounds of the squid *Loligo vulgaris reynaudll* (Cephalopoda: Loliginidae) off the south-eastern Cape, South Africa. *South African Journal of Marine Science*, *11*(1), 513–523. https://doi.org/10.2989/025776191784287736
- Schemske, D. W., Mittelbach, G. G., Cornell, H. V., Sobel, J. M., & Roy, K. (2009). Is There a Latitudinal Gradient in the Importance of Biotic Interactions? *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 40(1), 245–269. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.39.110707.173430
- Schlaff, A. M., Heupel, M. R., & Simpfendorfer, C. A. (2014). Influence of environmental factors on shark and ray movement, behaviour and habitat use: A review. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 24(4), 1089–1103. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-014-9364-8
- Sharples, J., Middelburg, J. J., Fennel, K., & Jickells, T. D. (2017). What proportion of riverine nutrients reaches the open ocean?: Riverine Nutrients Reaching the Ocean. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 31(1), 39–58. https://doi.org/10.1002/2016GB005483
- Shevenell, A. E., Ingalls, A. E., Domack, E. W., & Kelly, C. (2011). Holocene Southern Ocean surface temperature variability west of the Antarctic Peninsula. *Nature*, 470(7333), 250–254. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09751
- Shine, R., & Sun, L.-X. (2003). Attack strategy of an ambush predator: Which attributes of the prey trigger a pit-viper's strike? *Functional Ecology*, 17(3), 340–348. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2435.2003.00738.x

- Sigman, D. M., & Hain, M. P. (2012). The Biological Productivity of the Ocean. *Nature Education Knowledge*, 3(10), 21.
- Simon, M. P., & Toft, C. A. (1991). Diet Specialization in Small Vertebrates: Mite-Eating in Frogs. *Oikos*, 61(2), 263. https://doi.org/10.2307/3545344
- Simpfendorfer, C. (1992). Biology of Tiger Sharks (*Galeocerdo cuvier*) caught by the Queensland Shark Meshing Program off Townsville, Australia. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, *43*(1), 33–43. https://doi.org/10.1071/mf9920033
- Slater, G. J., Price, S. A., Santini, F., & Alfaro, M. E. (2010). Diversity versus disparity and the radiation of modern cetaceans. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 277(1697), 3097–3104. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.0408
- Slatyer, R. A., Hirst, M., & Sexton, J. P. (2013). Niche breadth predicts geographical range size: A general ecological pattern. *Ecology Letters*, 16(8), 1104–1114. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12140
- Sloggett, J. J. (2008). Weighty matters: Body size, diet and specialization in aphidophagous ladybird beetles (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae). *European Journal of Entomology*, 105(3), 381–389. https://doi.org/10.14411/eje.2008.048
- Stein, R. W., Mull, C. G., Kuhn, T. S., Aschliman, N. C., Davidson, L. N. K., Joy, J. B., Smith, G. J., Dulvy, N. K., & Mooers, A. O. (2018). Global priorities for conserving the evolutionary history of sharks, rays and chimaeras. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, 2(2), 288–298. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0448-4
- Stevens, G. C. (1989). The Latitudinal Gradient in Geographical Range: How so Many Species Coexist in the Tropics. *The American Naturalist*, 133(2), 240–256. https://doi.org/10.1086/284913

- Stevens, G. C. (1992). The Elevational Gradient in Altitudinal Range: An Extension of Rapoport's Latitudinal Rule to Altitude. *The American Naturalist*, 140(6), 893– 911. https://doi.org/10.1086/285447
- Stevens, G. C. (1996). Extending Rapoport's rule to Pacific marine fishes. *Journal of Biogeography*, 23(2), 149–154. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2699.1996.00977.x

Stillwell, C. E., & Kohler, N. E. (1982). Food, Feeding Habits, and Estimates of Daily Ration of the Shortfin Mako (Isurus oxyrinchus) in the Northwest Atlantic. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 39(3), 407–414. https://doi.org/10.1139/f82-058

- Storch, D., Menzel, L., Frickenhaus, S., & Pörtner, H.-O. (2014). Climate sensitivity across marine domains of life: Limits to evolutionary adaptation shape species interactions. *Global Change Biology*, 20, 3059–3067. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12645
- Sunday, J. M., Bates, A. E., & Dulvy, N. K. (2011). Global analysis of thermal tolerance and latitude in ectotherms. *Proceedings. Biological Sciences*, 278(1713), 1823– 1830. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.1295
- Sunday, J. M., Bates, A. E., & Dulvy, N. K. (2012). Thermal tolerance and the global redistribution of animals. *Nature Climate Change*, 2(9), 686–690. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1539
- Tomczak, M. (2019). Upper Ocean Mean Horizontal Structure. In *Encyclopedia of Ocean Sciences* (pp. 60–70). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.11162-5
- Valentine, J. W., & Jablonski, D. (2015). A twofold role for global energy gradients in marine biodiversity trends. *Journal of Biogeography*, 42(6), 997–1005. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12515
- Van Valkenburgh, B. (2004). Cope's Rule, Hypercarnivory, and Extinction in North American Canids. *Science*, 306(5693), 101–104. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1102417
- Vázquez, D. P., & Stevens, R. D. (2004). The latitudinal gradient in niche breadth: Concepts and evidence. *The American Naturalist*, 164(1), E1-19. https://doi.org/10.1086/421445
- von Humboldt, F. H. A. F. (1808). Ansichten der Natur mit wiss. Erläuterungen. Cotta.
- Ward-Paige, C. A., Britten, G. L., Bethea, D. M., & Carlson, J. K. (2015). Characterizing and predicting essential habitat features for juvenile coastal sharks. *Marine Ecol*ogy, 36(3), 419–431. https://doi.org/10.1111/maec.12151
- Warren, B. A. (1983). Why is no deep water formed in the North Pacific? *Journal of Marine Research*, *41*(2), 327–347. https://doi.org/10.1357/002224083788520207
- Warwick-Evans, V., Atkinson, P., Gauvain, R., Robinson, L., Arnould, J. & Green, J. (2015). Time-in-Area Represents Foraging Activity in a Wide-Ranging Pelagic Forager. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 527, 233–46. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps11262.
- Wetherbee, B. M., Crow, G. L., & Lowe, C. G. (1996). Biology of the Galapagos shark, Carcharhinus galapagensis, in Hawai'i. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 45(3), 299–310. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00003099

- White, W. T., Platell, M. E., & Potter, I. C. (2004). Comparisons between the diets of four abundant species of elasmobranchs in a subtropical embayment: Implications for resource partitioning. *Marine Biology*, *144*(3), 439–448. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-003-1218-1
- Whitfield, A. K. (2017). The role of seagrass meadows, mangrove forests, salt marshes and reed beds as nursery areas and food sources for fishes in estuaries. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 27(1), 75–110. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-016-9454-x
- Wickham, H. (2016). ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Springer-Verlag New York. https://ggplot2.tidyverse.org
- Wiens, J. J., & Graham, C. H. (2005). Niche Conservatism: Integrating Evolution, Ecology, and Conservation Biology. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 36(1), 519–539. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecol-sys.36.102803.095431
- Wood, A. (2013). Bluefish 2012 Stock Assessment Update (Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Document No. 13–07; p. 32). NOAA. http://www.nefsc.noaa.gov/nefsc/publications/
- Wood, A. D., Wetherbee, B. M., Juanes, F., Kohler, N. E., & Wilga, C. (2009). Recalculated diet and daily ration of the shortfin mako (Isurus oxyrinchus), with a focus on quantifying predation on bluefish (Pomatomus saltatrix) in the northwest Atlantic Ocean. *Fishery Bulletin*, 107(1), 76–88.

- Zurell, D., Gallien, L., Graham, C. H., & Zimmermann, N. E. (2018). Do long-distance migratory birds track their niche through seasons? *Journal of Biogeography*, 45(7), 1459–1468. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.13351
- Zuur, A. F., Ieno, E. N., Walker, N. J., Saveliev, A. A., & Smith, G. M. (2009). *Mixed Effects Model and Extensions in Ecology with R.* Springer.

#### **CHAPTER 3**

#### **General Discussion**

The cause of the latitudinal gradient in biodiversity remains an enigma in the field of ecology that has persisted since first incorporated into the scientific literature over 200 years ago (Brown, 2014; Kennedy & Norman, 2005; Pennisi, 2005; von Humboldt, 1808). While notable progress has been made in terrestrial ecosystems (Brown, 1999), a general explanation for latitudinal gradients in biodiversity remains elusive, and must incorporate both terrestrial and marine systems in order to present a holistic theory for the entire earth. Patterns and processes of biodiversity are especially difficult to monitor in the oceans, which are enormous, complex, and highly dynamic. It is only with the recent development of global, large scale datasets that robust biogeographical studies incorporating marine gradients have become possible (*e.g.*, Gagné et al., 2020).

This thesis presents the most comprehensive estimates to date of diet and dietary niche across the elasmobranch clade, incorporating stomach content data from sharks, skates, and rays across coastal, deep-water, and offshore ecosystems around the globe. While the ecological role of larger, more charismatic sharks has been studied in detail (Burkholder et al., 2013; Heupel et al., 2014; Hussey et al., 2015b), their many smaller and flatter cousins remain understudied. This thesis fills a gap in the literature where previously a lack of comprehensive elasmobranch diet data hampered efforts to achieve a global scale understanding of marine ecosystem interactions. Diet information is valuable in its own right, but here, I make use of dietary niche specifically in order to shed light on the biogeography of the single largest predatory clade in the oceans. The results show that with increasing distance from shore, lower mobility, bottom-dwelling elasmobranchs

widen their dietary niche breadths, while wide-ranging, pelagic elasmobranchs grow more specialized with increasing body size. Conversely, species close to shore are the most specialized of all the elasmobranchs. This pattern suggests that particularly for low range size, low mobility species in highly biodiverse areas, specialization may be an adaptation to higher levels of competition (Bolnick et al., 2010). These results highlight the utility of dietary niche as a metric to test global scale hypotheses of biogeography.

A particular difficulty the field of biogeography has faced has been evolving beyond descriptive phenomena to mechanistic explanations driving biogeographic patterns (Brown, 1999; Vermeij, 2005). Seemingly simple patterns such as the latitudinal diversity gradient are the products of complex, emergent processes, and untangling the various causal factors behind this pattern requires testable hypotheses (Brown, 1999). One way to move in this direction is by studying spatial patterns of ecological interactions, as they can shed light on which biodiversity processes are shaped by abiotic versus biotic factors (Mittelbach et al., 2007; Rohde, 1992). Biotic interactions are generally believed to be important in maintaining local species diversity by expanding available niche space in a given ecosystem as species coevolve together (e.g., the "Red Queen" hypothesis; Brockhurst et al., 2014; MacArthur, 1969; Thompson, 1994; Vermeij, 2005). Some examples include the evolution of new host organisms that then stimulate the evolution of new, specialized parasites (e.g., parasitoid wasps, which are then themselves hosts of hyperparasitoid wasps); plants evolving chemical and physical defenses to deter herbivory, with consumers coevolving more specialized means of overcoming these defenses (e.g., monarch caterpillars Danaus plexippus, which are immune to milkweed Asclepias spp. toxins); and increasingly specialized mutualistic interactions, where one species can no

longer exist without the other (*e.g.*, coral or lichen symbionts). Stronger biotic interactions appear to be more concentrated around the equator, and as such it has been proposed that there is a latitudinal gradient in species interaction strength (Schemske et al., 2009). Similarly, MacArthur's (1972) latitude-niche breadth hypothesis states that niche breadth decreases with decreasing latitude, mediating high coexistence at tropical latitudes. Schemske's (2009) hypothesis of increasing interaction strength with decreasing latitude is broadly similar: narrower niches (a proxy for increased interaction strength) are more prevalent in the tropics and support greater coexistence. Niche breadth is therefore a single elegant metric to measure interaction strength that can be used to formally test biotic hypotheses of biodiversity maintenance. Dietary, or Eltonian, niche is particularly appropriate in this context, as a narrower diet indicates greater interaction strength between consumer and prey.

Given the assumption that narrower dietary niches imply greater interaction strength, spatial patterns in elasmobranch niche breadth tentatively support certain aspects of both MacArthur's and Schemske's hypotheses; namely, that communities with high biodiversity indeed host greater niche specialization. Reef-associated elasmobranchs, which live in some of the most biodiverse and complex ecosystems on earth, show the strongest relationship between diet breadth and depth/distance from shore (Fig. 2.11), suggesting that any spatial gradients in species interaction strength are most readily observed in complex ecosystems. Reef complexity and biodiversity attenuate with depth, and reef elasmobranchs consequently grow more generalized. Pelagic ecosystems are uniformly less diverse than reef ecosystems, both in terms of species and habitat composition – there is no substrate to interact with, thus removing a major driver of complexity and competition (Friedman et al., 2020). Pelagic species are then potentially freed from any depth gradient in species interaction strength, and this is reflected in their lack of a niche-depth gradient (Fig. 2.11). Specialization in elasmobranchs therefore appears to be primarily driven by the intensity of competition, with the greatest competition in shallow benthic ecosystems. Even in cases where population level niche of coastal elasmobranchs appears to be generalist, for example, individual specialization is thought to be a mechanism by which species with similar diets and life histories can coexist in highly biodiverse ecosystems characterized by elevated levels of competition (*e.g.*, Matich et al., 2011; Vaudo & Heithaus, 2011).

If elasmobranch specialization is primarily driven by competition in biodiverse habitats (*i.e.*, the coastal benthos), it follows that species in the biodiverse tropics should be more specialized than temperate and polar species. This is not the case, as these results show no latitudinal niche gradient (Fig. 2.10). A potential explanation for this is that prey availability (*i.e.*, biomass) interacts with biodiversity to influence niche breadth: marine biomass does not decrease with latitude, but it does with depth (Jennings et al., 2008; Wei et al., 2010). This lends support to the hypothesis that deep-water, benthic elasmobranchs are generalists in regions with low prey availability. Assembling robust datasets of marine diversity and biomass at specific locations and depths is difficult but could be used to test the influence of prey biomass on elasmobranch niche breadth in future models.

The depth-niche breadth gradient ultimately suggests that, in elasmobranchs, large scale maintenance of biodiversity depends strongly on biotic variables (*e.g.*, mobility, range size, local scale diversity, and competition) as opposed to abiotic variables, as Mac-Arthur originally hypothesized (*e.g.*, thermal stability in equatorial regions; MacArthur,

1972). This means that while there is support for MacArthur's hypothesis that niche breadth is narrower in more diverse communities, there is limited support for the abiotic mechanism by which MacArthur proposed niche breadth to vary. For example, despite remarkable thermal stability, elasmobranchs in the deep sea are not particularly specialized (Fig. 2.11). Including more precise climatic variables, such as yearly mean and range in temperature at each sampling location and depth, would shed light on how influential abiotic factors are compared to biotic interactions.

#### 3.1 Only one piece of the marine environment

Two major caveats prevent the generalization of the depth-niche breadth gradient across all regions and predatory taxa in the oceans: first, tropical and polar areas are undersampled relative to temperate areas, and second, while elasmobranchs are the largest predatory clade in the oceans, other predatory clades including large teleosts, cetaceans, and pinnipeds are excluded from this thesis.

The biological sciences have been and continue to be a colonial endeavor, with scientific resources, and thus scientific data, concentrated in the majority white, colonial powers of Europe, the United States, and Australia. The marine sciences are no exception, with a tendency of conducting "parachute science," wherein comparatively wealthy scientists from the global north voyage to equatorial and polar regions to conduct field-work but fail to invest in meaningful scientific relationships at the local level (David-

Chavez & Gavin, 2018; de Vos, 2020).<sup>1</sup> Today, most resources on tropical diversity are relegated to museum collections from these parachute expeditions, while tropical scientists remain understaffed and underfunded (Rodriguez et al., 2007). This bias is reflected in the sampling coverage of this dataset, with the tropics and poles underrepresented compared to mid-latitude sites (Fig. 2.1). I acknowledge that the conclusions this thesis draws regarding latitude are predicated on this spatial bias. Researchers studying marine latitudinal gradients in the future should seek to expand their networks to include local scientists and knowledge holders in the tropics and poles wherever possible, both to strengthen ecological findings and bring a greater diversity of thought into the field.

In order to advance our global scale understanding of marine food webs, sampled predators should ideally include representative taxa from all major predatory clades in the oceans, *i.e.*, other elasmobranchs, piscivorous teleosts, cetaceans, and pinnipeds. Critically endangered elasmobranch taxa are excluded from this dataset due to low sample sizes (*e.g.*, sawfishes, order Rhinopristiformes, or angelsharks, order Squatiniformes), while less charismatic taxa are understudied overall (*e.g.*, skates, order Rajidae) and are underrepresented in this thesis. Similarly, even taxa already present within this study would benefit from greater sampling. While there are some exceptions, extreme values in niche breadth (both specialists and generalists) are more prevalent in species with greater sample sizes (Fig. 2.2). Mako sharks, for example, range from 0.03 to 0.84 in dietary niche breadth, (n = 15); blue sharks range from 0.08 to 0.65 (n = 18). For a more robust

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Prussian "Father of Biogeography" himself, Alexander von Humboldt, failed to ever acknowledge the contributions of the Colombian cartographer Franciso José de Caldas, the originator of altitudinal diversity gradient maps (Caldas, 1966).

understanding of niche plasticity at the species level, greater sampling or statistical approaches that assess the sensitivity of species-level niche to sample size (*e.g.* bootstrapping) is necessary.

Predatory marine mammals, in particular, would be a valuable addition to future predator biogeography research, as they are some of the few "natural experiments" that defy the latitudinal diversity gradient, with higher species richness at higher latitudes (Brown, 2014). This pattern is potentially as a result of outcompeting elasmobranchs (Ferguson et al., 2014). If marine mammals show a similar niche gradient with foraging depth, that could strengthen the hypothesis that drivers of marine dietary breadth are truly independent of latitudinal patterns of biodiversity.

## 3.2 Only one piece of niche

Hutchinson in 1957 formalized the many concepts of niche into the theoretical *n*-dimensional hypervolume, which accommodates all possible niche axes – dietary, environmental, thermal, and so on – into one hypothetical space (Blonder et al., 2014; Hutchinson, 1957). Dietary niche represents only one niche axis encompassed within the *n*-dimensional hypervolume, but the most rigorous tests of niche-based hypotheses should include multiple niche axes. Additionally, dietary niche calculated as-is has some limitations. Levin's niche is a metric that efficiently summarizes dietary diversity into a single number, but this number fails to reflect changes in prey preference if the overall diversity of diet remains the same. For example, specialization from one prey item to another due to ontogenetic or behavioral changes (*i.e.*, prey switching) would not be detectable with

Levin's niche. Alternative methods, such as stable isotope analysis, can be used in conjunction with Levin's dietary niche to better understand prey switching processes, and may be of particular relevance for studying specialist predators that compete for prey items targeted by human fisheries (*e.g.*, Polo-Silva et al., 2013). Future research building off of this thesis should incorporate telemetric and isotopic niche for a more holistic approach towards understanding elasmobranch niche breadth and the associated conservation implications.

Grinnellian, or spatial, niche is most commonly determined by inferring the preferred environmental conditions of a species based on mapped occurrence records, a process that has evolved into the field of environmental niche modelling today (Grinnell, 1917; Peterson et al., 2011). Telemetry technology represents a significant step forward in this regard by allowing the animal itself to tell the researcher its preferred home ranges, temperatures, salinities, dissolved oxygen levels, and so on, via biologger (Cooke et al., 2004; Hussey et al., 2015a; Payne et al., 2014). This so-called "telemetric niche" can be used to add a spatial axis to elasmobranch niche breadth. Elasmobranchs are wellsuited to such studies, being large-bodied and long-lived, though available data is currently limited to larger, more charismatic species that are both capable of bearing a biologger for an extended period of time and are popular to study (Hammerschlag et al., 2011). The Global Shark Movement Project maintains the largest available elasmobranch telemetry dataset to date, largely composed of Carcharhiniform and Lamniform sharks (GSMP; https://www.globalsharkmovement.org/). Due to time constraints, generating a standardized dataset of thermal, salinity, and dissolved oxygen conditions derived from the multiple tag types contained within the GSMP dataset proved difficult (D. Sims & N.

Humphries, *pers. comm.*). Instead, I calculated home range size (50% and 95% kernel density estimates) for 38 populations of 16 species of sharks in order to compare home range size to dietary niche breadth. Preliminary results suggest that increasing dietary niche breadth is associated with decreasing home range size (Fig. 3.1A), a result that is consistent with the negative relationship between latitudinal/depth range and dietary niche breadth in large pelagics (Figs. 2.12A, 2.13, 2.14). Future research should further explore this relationship and aim to incorporate oceanographic measurements (*e.g.*, temperature, salinity, dissolved oxygen concentration) into analyses of telemetric and dietary niche breadth.

Isotopic niche is a considerably more flexible approach for measuring both a spatial and dietary niche component, as it is inexpensive and non-lethal, and a single tissue sample provides a wealth of information on an individual. Carbon ( $\delta^{13}$ C) and nitrogen ( $\delta^{15}$ N) stable isotopes provide insight into foraging location and trophic position, respectively, and in combination can be used to calculate a species' niche "footprint" (*i.e.*, what it ate and where it was; Bearhop et al., 2004; Newsome et al., 2007). The Chondrichthyan Stable Isotope Data Project (CSIDP; https://github.com/Shark-Isotopes/CSIDP) maintains an isotope database from elasmobranchs sampled across the world that can complement the diet data in this thesis. Previous work using the CSIDP database explored the trophic geography of sharks by using  $\delta^{13}$ C to determine which food webs sharks derive their carbon from, finding that offshore species source their carbon from mid-latitude food webs, while shelf species generally source carbon more locally (Bird et al., 2018). This work can be extended by including  $\delta^{15}$ N and calculating Bayesian standard ellipse areas (SEA<sub>B</sub>) as a proxy for niche breadth (Jackson et al., 2011). For example, isotopic

100

niche could be used to further test hypotheses related to dietary specialization in estuarine ecosystems (*e.g.*, Shiffman et al., 2019; Shipley et al., 2019a), or to compare ecological findings obtained via traditional diet content analysis versus isotopic analysis (*e.g.*, Shipley et al., 2019b). Direct comparisons between dietary and isotopic niche have been limited; in South African elasmobranchs, the two are not always correlated (Petta et al., 2020). This is an area ripe for further research: preliminary results tentatively show that when extended to a global scale, dietary niche breadth is in fact negatively correlated with isotopic niche breadth (Fig. 3.1B).



**Figure 3.1** Elasmobranch standardized Levin's niche breadth ("Dietary niche") versus (**A**) telemetric niche, measured as 50% kernel density estimations (KDE) of space use (*i.e.*, home range size; km<sup>2</sup> • 10<sup>6</sup>) and (**B**) isotopic niche, measured as Bayesian standard ellipse area (SEA<sub>B</sub>). Home range was calculated across the entire lifetime of the tag; SEA<sub>B</sub> was calculated in  $\delta^{13}$ C and  $\delta^{15}$ N isotopic space. Each point represents the mean of each niche measure (dietary niche, SEA<sub>B</sub>, KDE) of a single elasmobranch species. A holistic version of niche in *n*-dimensional space ideally includes multiple metrics of niche; in this case, three axes are present. As diet breadth increases, telemetric and isotopic breadth appear to decrease. Telemetric niche (**A**) is currently limited to larger, more charismatic Carcharhiniform and Lamniform sharks, while isotopic niche (**B**) is more flexible in which species can be sampled. Figure includes data from both the southern and northern hemispheres. See Appendix 4.7 for SEA<sub>B</sub> and KDE methodology.

Modern technological advances represent exciting new opportunities in the avenue of niche research. Telemetry technology is evolving towards ever-smaller tag sizes and sophisticated, real-time data networks (Hays et al., 2016; Lennox et al., 2017), while new methods of isotope analysis are now being used to reconstruct everything from the everyday minutiae to the large scale movements of marine life (Chung et al., 2019; Trueman & St John Glew, 2019). Regarding dietary niche specifically, alternative measures of stomach contents such as camera recordings and DNA metabarcoding can be used as non-lethal methods to observe novel feeding mechanisms, confirm existing stomach content studies, and identify prey that would otherwise be difficult to identify or is quickly digested (Amundsen & Sánchez-Hernández, 2019; Papastamatiou et al., 2018; Sousa et al., 2019). Animal-borne cameras, for example, have been used to record leatherback turtles consuming a variety of jellyfish (Heaslip et al., 2012), penguins foraging under sea ice (Watanabe & Takahashi, 2013), and tiger sharks ambushing prey from above (Nakamura et al., 2011), while DNA metabarcoding has revealed the diets of European brown shrimp (Siegenthaler et al., 2019), invasive Caribbean lionfish (Harms-Tuohy et al., 2016), and dietary niches of gobies (Brandl et al., 2020). All of these tools combined provide a powerful new means of moving niche theory forward.

The mosaic of biodiversity across our planet is pieced together by a multitude of processes, abiotic and biotic alike, and more sophisticated approaches such as the above would help tease apart the intricate connections that structure our ecosystems. This is all the more urgent in an era defined by rapid global climate change, environmental degradation, and biodiversity loss. The diversity of flora and fauna that makes up our ecosystems is striking and worthy of further study: both to better understand this biodiversity today, and to predict what it will look like in an uncertain future.

- Amundsen, P., & Sánchez-Hernández, J. (2019). Feeding studies take guts critical review and recommendations of methods for stomach contents analysis in fish. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 95(6), 1364–1373. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.14151
- Bearhop, S., Adams, C. E., Waldron, S., Fuller, R. A., & MacLeod, H. (2004). Determining trophic niche width: A novel approach using stable isotope analysis. *Journal* of Animal Ecology, 73(5), 1007–1012. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0021-8790.2004.00861.x
- Bird, C. S., Veríssimo, A., Magozzi, S., Abrantes, K. G., Aguilar, A., Al-Reasi, H., Barnett, A., Bethea, D. M., Biais, G., Borrell, A., Bouchoucha, M., Boyle, M.,
  Brooks, E. J., Brunnschweiler, J., Bustamante, P., Carlisle, A., Catarino, D., Caut,
  S., Cherel, Y., ... Trueman, C. N. (2018). A global perspective on the trophic geography of sharks. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, *2*(2), 299–305.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0432-z
- Blonder, B., Lamanna, C., Violle, C., & Enquist, B. J. (2014). The *n* -dimensional hypervolume. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 23(5), 595–609. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12146
- Bolnick, D. I., Ingram, T., Stutz, W. E., Snowberg, L. K., Lau, O. L., & Paull, J. S.
  (2010). Ecological release from interspecific competition leads to decoupled changes in population and individual niche width. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 277(1689), 1789–1797.
  https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.0018

- Brandl, S. J., Casey, J. M., & Meyer, C. P. (2020). Dietary and habitat niche partitioning in congeneric cryptobenthic reef fish species. *Coral Reefs*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-020-01892-z
- Brockhurst, M. A., Chapman, T., King, K. C., Mank, J. E., Paterson, S., & Hurst, G. D.
  D. (2014). Running with the Red Queen: The role of biotic conflicts in evolution. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281(1797), 20141382.
  https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.1382
- Brown, J. H. (1999). Macroecology: Progress and Prospect. *Oikos*, 87(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.2307/3546991
- Brown, J. H. (2014). Why are there so many species in the tropics? *Journal of Biogeography*, 41(1), 8–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12228
- Burkholder, D. A., Heithaus, M. R., Fourqurean, J. W., Wirsing, A., & Dill, L. M. (2013).
  Patterns of top-down control in a seagrass ecosystem: Could a roving apex predator induce a behaviour-mediated trophic cascade? *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 82(6), 1192–1202. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12097
- Caldas, F. J. de. (1966). Estado de la geografía del virreinato de Santafé de Bogotá, con relación a la economía y al comercio, por don Francisco José de Caldas, individuo meritorio de la Expedición Botánica del Reino, y encargado del Observatorio Astronómico de esta capital. In Obras completas de Francisco José de Caldas: Publicadas por la Universidad Nacional de Colombia como homenaje con motivo del sesquicentenario de su muerte 1816—Octubre 29 -1966 (pp. 183–211). Imprenta Nacional. http://bdigital.unal.edu.co/95/

Chung, M.-T., Trueman, C. N., Godiksen, J. A., Holmstrup, M. E., & Grønkjær, P.
(2019). Field metabolic rates of teleost fishes are recorded in otolith carbonate. *Communications Biology*, 2(1), 24. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-018-0266-5

Cooke, S. J., Hinch, S. G., Wikelski, M., Andrews, R. D., Kuchel, L. J., Wolcott, T. G., & Butler, P. J. (2004). Biotelemetry: A mechanistic approach to ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 19(6), 334–343.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TREE.2004.04.003

- David-Chavez, D. M., & Gavin, M. C. (2018). A global assessment of Indigenous community engagement in climate research. *Environmental Research Letters*, 13(12), 123005. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aaf300
- de Vos, A. (2020, July 1). The Problem of 'Colonial Science': Conservation projects in the developing world should invest in local scientific talent and infrastructure. *Scientific American*. https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/the-problem-ofcolonial-science/
- Ferguson, S. H., Higdon, J. W., Tallman, R. F., Fisk, A. T., & Hussey, N. E. (2014). The ghosts of competition past: Body size, trophic ecology, diversity and distribution of global shark and pinniped species. *Journal of Marine Animals and Their Ecol*ogy, 7(1).
- Friedman, S. T., Price, S. A., Corn, K. A., Larouche, O., Martinez, C. M., & Wainwright,
  P. C. (2020). Body shape diversification along the benthic–pelagic axis in marine
  fishes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 287(1931),
  20201053. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2020.1053

- Gagné, T. O., Reygondeau, G., Jenkins, C. N., Sexton, J. O., Bograd, S. J., Hazen, E. L., & Van Houtan, K. S. (2020). Towards a global understanding of the drivers of marine and terrestrial biodiversity. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(2), e0228065. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0228065
- Grinnell, J. (1917). The Niche-Relationships of the Californian thrasher. *The Auk*, *34*(4), 427–433.
- Hammerschlag, N., Gallagher, A. J., & Lazarre, D. M. (2011). A review of shark satellite tagging studies. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 398(1–2), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JEMBE.2010.12.012
- Harms-Tuohy, C., Schizas, N., & Appeldoorn, R. (2016). Use of DNA metabarcoding for stomach content analysis in the invasive lionfish Pterois volitans in Puerto Rico.
  Marine Ecology Progress Series, 558, 181–191.
  https://doi.org/10.3354/meps11738
- Hays, G. C., Ferreira, L. C., Sequeira, A. M. M., Meekan, M. G., Duarte, C. M., Bailey,
  H., Bailleul, F., Bowen, W. D., Caley, M. J., Costa, D. P., Eguíluz, V. M., Fossette, S., Friedlaender, A. S., Gales, N., Gleiss, A. C., Gunn, J., Harcourt, R., Hazen, E. L., Heithaus, M. R., ... Thums, M. (2016). Key Questions in Marine Megafauna Movement Ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *31*(6), 463–475. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2016.02.015
- Heaslip, S. G., Iverson, S. J., Bowen, W. D., & James, M. C. (2012). Jellyfish Support High Energy Intake of Leatherback Sea Turtles (Dermochelys coriacea): Video Evidence from Animal-Borne Cameras. *PLoS ONE*, 7(3), e33259. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0033259

- Heupel, M., Knip, D., Simpfendorfer, C., & Dulvy, N. (2014). Sizing up the ecological role of sharks as predators. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 495, 291–298. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps10597
- Hussey, N. E., Kessel, S. T., Aarestrup, K., Cooke, S. J., Cowley, P. D., Fisk, A. T., Harcourt, R. G., Holland, K. N., Iverson, S. J., Kocik, J. F., Mills Flemming, J. E., & Whoriskey, F. G. (2015a). Aquatic animal telemetry: A panoramic window into the underwater world. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 348*(6240), 1255642. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1255642
- Hussey, N. E., MacNeil, M. A., Siple, M. C., Popp, B. N., Dudley, S. F. J., & Fisk, A. T. (2015b). Expanded trophic complexity among large sharks. *Food Webs*, 4, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fooweb.2015.04.002
- Hutchinson, G. E. (1957). Concluding Remarks. Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology.
- Jackson, A. L., Inger, R., Parnell, A. C., & Bearhop, S. (2011). Comparing isotopic niche widths among and within communities: SIBER - Stable Isotope Bayesian Ellipses in R. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 80(3), 595–602. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01806.x
- Jennings, S., Mélin, F., Blanchard, J. L., Forster, R. M., Dulvy, N. K., & Wilson, R. W. (2008). Global-scale predictions of community and ecosystem properties from simple ecological theory. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 275(1641), 1375–1383. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2008.0192
- Kennedy, D., & Norman, C. (2005). What Don't We Know? *Science*, *309*(5731), 75 LP 75. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.309.5731.75

- Lennox, R. J., Aarestrup, K., Cooke, S. J., Cowley, P. D., Deng, Z. D., Fisk, A. T., Har-court, R. G., Heupel, M., Hinch, S. G., Holland, K. N., Hussey, N. E., Iverson, S. J., Kessel, S. T., Kocik, J. F., Lucas, M. C., Flemming, J. M., Nguyen, V. M., Stokesbury, M. J. W., Vagle, S., ... Young, N. (2017). Envisioning the Future of Aquatic Animal Tracking: Technology, Science, and Application. *BioScience*, *October*. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/bix098
- MacArthur, R. H. (1969). Patterns of communities in the tropics. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 1(1–2), 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8312.1969.tb01809.x

MacArthur, R. H. (1972). Geographical ecology: Patterns in the distribution of species.

- Matich, P., Heithaus, M. R., & Layman, C. A. (2011). Contrasting patterns of individual specialization and trophic coupling in two marine apex predators: Specialization in top marine predators. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *80*(1), 294–305. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2010.01753.x
- Mittelbach, G. G., Schemske, D. W., Cornell, H. V., Allen, A. P., Brown, J. M., Bush, M. B., Harrison, S. P., Hurlbert, A. H., Knowlton, N., Lessios, H. A., McCain, C. M., McCune, A. R., McDade, L. A., McPeek, M. A., Near, T. J., Price, T. D., Ricklefs, R. E., Roy, K., Sax, D. F., ... Turelli, M. (2007). Evolution and the latitudinal diversity gradient: Speciation, extinction and biogeography. *Ecology Letters*, *10*(4), 315–331. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01020.x
- Nakamura, I., Watanabe, Y., Papastamatiou, Y., Sato, K., & Meyer, C. (2011). Yo-yo vertical movements suggest a foraging strategy for tiger sharks Galeocerdo

cuvier. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 424, 237–246. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps08980

- Newsome, S. D., Martinez del Rio, C., Bearhop, S., & Phillips, D. L. (2007). A niche for isotopic ecology. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 5(8), 429–436. https://doi.org/10.1890/060150.1
- Papastamatiou, Y. P., Meyer, C. G., Watanabe, Y. Y., & Heithaus, M. R. (2018). Animalborne video cameras and their use to study shark ecology and conservation. *Shark Research: Emerging Technologies and Applications for the Field and Laboratory*, 83–92.
- Payne, N. L., Taylor, M. D., Watanabe, Y. Y., & Semmens, J. M. (2014). From physiology to physics: Are we recognizing the flexibility of biologging tools? *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 217(Pt 3), 317–322. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.093922
- Pennisi, E. (2005). What Determines Species Diversity? *Science*, *309*(5731), 90 LP 90. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.309.5731.90
- Peterson, A. T., Soberón, J., Pearson, R. G., Anderson, R. P., Martínez-Meyer, E., Nakamura, M., & Araújo, M. B. (2011). *Ecological Niches and Geographic Distributions*. Princeton University Press.
- Petta, J. C., Shipley, O. N., Wintner, S. P., Cliff, G., Dicken, M. L., & Hussey, N. E. (2020). Are you really what you eat? Stomach content analysis and stable isotope ratios do not uniformly estimate dietary niche characteristics in three marine predators. *Oecologia*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-020-04628-6

- Polo-Silva, C., Newsome, S. D., Galván-Magaña, F., Grijalba-Bendeck, M., & Sanjuan-Muñoz, A. (2013). Trophic shift in the diet of the pelagic thresher shark based on stomach contents and stable isotope analyses. *Marine Biology Research*, 9(10), 958–971. https://doi.org/10.1080/17451000.2013.793802
- Rodriguez, J. P., Taber, A. B., Daszak, P., Sukumar, R., Valladares-Padua, C., Padua, S.,
  Aguirre, L. F., Medellin, R. A., Acosta, M., Aguirre, A. A., Bonacic, C., Bordino,
  P., Bruschini, J., Buchori, D., Gonzalez, S., Mathew, T., Mendez, M., Mugica, L.,
  Pacheco, L. F., ... Pearl, M. (2007). Globalization of Conservation: A View from
  the South. *Science*, *317*(5839), 755–756. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1145560
- Rohde, K. (1992). Latitudinal Gradients in Species Diversity: The Search for the Primary Cause. *Oikos*, 65(3), 514. https://doi.org/10.2307/3545569
- Schemske, D. W., Mittelbach, G. G., Cornell, H. V., Sobel, J. M., & Roy, K. (2009). Is There a Latitudinal Gradient in the Importance of Biotic Interactions? *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 40(1), 245–269. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.39.110707.173430
- Shiffman, D. S., Kaufman, L. Heithaus, M., & Hammerschlag, N. (2019). Intraspecific differences in relative isotopic niche area and overlap of co-occurring sharks. *Aquatic Ecology*, 53, 233-250. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10452-019-09685-5
- Shipley, O., Gallagher, A., Shiffman, D., Kaufman, L., & Hammerschlag, N. (2019a). Diverse resource-use strategies in a large-bodied marine predator guild: Evidence from differential use of resource subsidies and intraspecific isotopic variation.
  Marine Ecology Progress Series, 623, 71–83. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps12982

- Shipley, O. N., Olin, J. A., Power, M., Cerrato, R. M., & Frisk, M. G. (2019b). Questioning assumptions of trophic behavior in a broadly ranging marine predator guild. *Ecography*, 42(5), 1037–1049. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.03990
- Siegenthaler, A., Wangensteen, O. S., Benvenuto, C., Campos, J., & Mariani, S. (2019). DNA metabarcoding unveils multiscale trophic variation in a widespread coastal opportunist. *Molecular Ecology*, 28(2), 232–249. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.14886
- Sousa, L. L., Silva, S. M., & Xavier, R. (2019). DNA metabarcoding in diet studies: Unveiling ecological aspects in aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems. *Environmental DNA*, 1(3), 199–214. https://doi.org/10.1002/edn3.27

Thompson, J. N. (1994). *The coevolutionary process*. University of Chicago Press.

- Trueman, C. N., & St John Glew, K. (2019). Isotopic Tracking of Marine Animal Movement. In *Tracking Animal Migration with Stable Isotopes* (pp. 137–172). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-814723-8.00006-4
- Vaudo, J. J., & Heithaus, M. R. (2011). Dietary niche overlap in a nearshore elasmobranch mesopredator community. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps08988
- Vermeij, G. J. (2005). From phenomenology to first principles: Toward a theory of diversity. *Proceedings-California Academy of Sciences*, *56*, 12.

von Humboldt, F. H. A. F. (1808). Ansichten der Natur mit wiss. Erläuterungen. Cotta.

Watanabe, Y. Y., & Takahashi, A. (2013). Linking animal-borne video to accelerometers reveals prey capture variability. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(6), 2199–2204. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1216244110 Wei, C.-L., Rowe, G. T., Escobar-Briones, E., Boetius, A., Soltwedel, T., Caley, M. J.,
Soliman, Y., Huettmann, F., Qu, F., Yu, Z., Pitcher, C. R., Haedrich, R. L., Wicksten, M. K., Rex, M. A., Baguley, J. G., Sharma, J., Danovaro, R., MacDonald, I.
R., Nunnally, C. C., ... Narayanaswamy, B. E. (2010). Global Patterns and Predictions of Seafloor Biomass Using Random Forests. *PLoS ONE*, *5*(12), e15323. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0015323

### **APPENDICES**

#### 4.1 Dietary indices within the database

There are six types of dietary indices commonly reported in the literature (Supplementary Table 1). In order of decreasing prevalence, the following metrics are present within the database: frequency of occurrence (%F), number or relative frequency of prey items (%N), mass of prey items (%M), percent Index of Relative Importance (%IRI), raw Index of Relative Importance (IRI), and percent volume of prey items (%V; Supplementary Table 2; for detailed discussion on each dietary index, see Cortés, 1997 and Hyslop, 1980).

**Supplementary Table 2.** Number of studies that report each index (n = 211 studies; note this number includes some studies that do not meet certain criteria and were ultimately excluded from analyses; see "Exclusion criteria" above). The majority of studies report multiple indices.

%F	%N	%M	%IRI	IRI	%V
167	113	95	59	30	18

#### 4.1.1 References

- Cortés, E. (1997). A critical review of methods of studying fish feeding based on analysis of stomach contents: Application to elasmobranch fishes. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, *54*(3), 726–738. https://doi.org/10.1139/f96-316
- Hyslop, E. J. (1980). Stomach contents analysis-a review of methods and their application. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 17(4), 411–429. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1980.tb02775.x

**Supplementary Table 1.** Common reporting standards of stomach content data. Abbreviations used in the literature can vary widely, and the reader must use context to determine which method of reporting is employed within an individual study.

	Method name	Abbreviation	Description	Formula
Stomach occur- rence reporting	Frequency of Occurrence, Occurrence	%F, %O, %FO	Number of stomachs containing food item, expressed as a per- centage of all stom- achs or all stomachs containing food.	Stomachs with prey item i Total number of stomachs
Prey propor- tion reporting	Number of prey items, Frequency of prey items	%N, %F	Numerical proportion of one prey item out of the total count of all stomach contents.	Count of prey item i Total count of prey all prey items
	Volume of prey items	%V	Volumetric proportion of one prey item out of the total volume of all stomach contents.	Volume of prey item i Total volume of all prey items
	Mass of prey items, Weight of prey items, Biomass of prey items, Gravimetric proportion	%M, %W, %B, %G	Proportion of prey items, by mass, out of total mass of all stom- ach contents.	Mass of prey item i Total mass of all prey items
Composite re- porting	Index of Relative Im- portance	IRI	A composite index of all of the above, incor- porating number, vol- ume (or weight), and frequency of occur- rence into one num- ber.	$IRI = (\%N + \%V^{\dagger}) \times \%F$ $\dagger_{or \%M}$
	Percent Index of Relative Importance	%IRI, %R	IRI expressed as a percentage to permit comparisons across studies.	$\% IRI_i = \frac{100 IRI_i}{\Sigma IRI_i}$

## 4.2 Elasmobranch clades

Elasmobranchs were visually grouped into clades using phylogenies presented in Stein et al. (2018; downloaded from http://sharktree.org/ on May 12, 2020) and the FigTree application (Fig. 4.1; v. 1.4.4; https://github.com/rambaut/figtree/). Clades were ordered by evolutionary age using the mean branch length per group, with shorter branch lengths indicating younger age. For a list of elasmobranch species by clade, see Supplementary Table 3.

## 4.2.1 References

Stein, R. W., Mull, C. G., Kuhn, T. S., Aschliman, N. C., Davidson, L. N. K., Joy, J. B., Smith, G. J., Dulvy, N. K., & Mooers, A. O. (2018). Global priorities for conserving the evolutionary history of sharks, rays and chimaeras. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, 2(2), 288–298. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0448-4



**Figure 4.1** Elasmobranch clade groupings. Clades are grouped by age based on mean branch lengths within each group.

# 4.3 Niche results

Species	Niche	Source	Sn	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Alopias pelagicus	0.22	Polo-Silva et al. (2013)	85	1.6	3.4	-0.29	-81.28	41.71	82	300	pelagic	E
Alopias pelagicus	0.54	Moteki et al. (2001)	20	0.77	1.61	-5.00	-100.00	37.00	82	300	pelagic	Е
Alopias pelagicus	0.63	Huh et al. (2010)	25	1.408	3.401	35.06	129.04	4.94	82	300	pelagic	Е
Alopias pelagicus	0.64	Varghese et al. (2014)	56	1.0155	1.4785	18.02	70.82	21.98	82	300	pelagic	Е
Alopias superciliosus	0.36	Stillwell & Casey (1976)	18	1.55	3.99	35.15	-75.43	10.85	86	730	pelagic	Е
Alopias superciliosus	0.36	Gorni et al. (2013)	16	2.04	4.09	-26.00	-35.00	14.00	86	730	pelagic	Е
Alopias superciliosus	0.62	Preti et al. (2008)	23	1.47	2.3	35.50	-121.94	10.50	86	730	pelagic	Е
Alopias vulpinus	0.40	Preti & Smith (2001)	107	0.79	2.37	38.50	-123.82	35.50	132	650	pelagic	Е
Alopias vulpinus	0.41	Preti et al. (2012)	157	1.08	2.28	32.40	-118.24	41.60	132	650	pelagic	Е
Alopias vulpinus	0.45	Rogers & Huveneers (2009)	16	1.39	3.87	-34.39	134.82	23.61	132	650	pelagic	Е
Apristurus microps	0.57	Ebert et al. (1996)	64	0.322	0.61	-30.00	16.00	8.00	105	1200	demersal	I

	Nieho	Source	6	Min size	Max	Lat	Long	DDE	I Dº	DR		<u> </u>
Species	Niche	Source	S <sub>n</sub>	(m)	size (m)	Lai.	Long.	DPE	LR	(m)	Func. grp	U
Apristurus spp.	0.81	Ebert et al. (1996)	17	0.298	0.685	-30.00	16.00	10.00	107	2167	demersal	I
Bythaelurus hispidus	0.47	Nair & Appukkuttan (1973)	184	0.121	0.276	8.79	79.67	6.21	10	203	demersal	I
Carcharhinus altimus	0.81	Bass et al. (1973)	18	0.78	1.59	-25.96	33.62	5.04	71	798	reef	J
Carcharhinus amblyrhyn-	0 22	Brewer et al. (1991)	36	0 42	0 002	-12 75	1/1 50	22.25	64	1000	reef	
chos	0.22		50	0.42	0.552	-12.75	141.00	22.20	04	1000	Teer	0
Carcharhinus amblyrhyn-	0.55	Wetherbee et al. (1997)	61	0.5	2	20.56	-157 13	8 44	64	1000	reef	.I
chos				0.0	_				•			Ū
Carcharhinus amboinen-	0.28	Cliff & Dudley (1991b)	42	0.99	1.76	-30.00	31,25	8.00	64	150	reef	J
sis	0.20						0	0.00	•			Ū
Carcharhinus amboinen-	0.58	Cliff & Dudley (1991b)	61	0.99	1.76	-30.00	31.25	8.00	64	150	reef	J
sis												
Carcharhinus amboinen-	0.80	Bass et al. (1973)	15	0.75	2.23	-30.00	31.25	8.00	64	150	reef	J
sis		( /									-	-

Species	Niche	Source	Sn	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Carcharhinus brachyurus	0.01	Cliff & Dudley (1992)	229	1.02	2.39	-30.00	31.25	22.00	97	360	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus brachyurus	0.06	Cliff & Dudley (1992)	184	1.02	2.39	-30.00	31.25	22.00	97	360	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus brachyurus	0.34	Rogers & Huveneers (2009)	33	0.85	3.01	-34.39	134.82	17.61	97	360	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus brachyurus	0.44	Lucifora et al. (2009b)	149	1	2.56	-40.60	-61.90	11.40	97	360	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus brachyurus	0.68	Bass et al. (1973)	33	0.72	2.92	-32.22	29.49	19.78	97	360	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus brevipinna	0.43	Allen & Cliff (2000)	379	0.51	2.2	-30.00	31.25	8.00	78	100	reef	J
Carcharhinus brevipinna	0.84	Avendaño-Alvarez et al. (2013)	14	0.76	1.76	19.25	-96.00	20.75	78	100	reef	J
Carcharhinus brevipinna	0.93	Bass et al. (1973)	106	0.46	2.66	-29.53	31.65	8.47	78	100	reef	J
Carcharhinus cautus	0.40	White et al. (2004)	118	0.59	1.2	-25.98	-113.78	4.02	25	20	reef	J
Carcharhinus dussumieri	0.43	Brewer et al. (1991)	85	0.425	0.83	-12.75	141.50	22.25	65	100	reef	J
Carcharhinus dussumieri	0.52	Salini et al. (1994)	128	0.475	0.821	-14.00	139.00	21.00	65	100	reef	J
Carcharhinus dussumieri	0.87	Simpfendorfer & Milward (1993)	18	0.46	0.78	-19.23	146.82	15.77	65	100	reef	J

•	-		-	-	-							
Species	Niche	Source	Sn	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	с
Carcharhinus falciformis	0.11	Duffy et al. (2015)	143	0.9	1.51	5.00	-141.00	37.00	85	4000	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus falciformis	0.16	Cabrera-Chávez-Costa et al. (2010)	123	1	2.28	24.52	-112.03	17.48	85	4000	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus falciformis	0.19	Duffy et al. (2015)	550	0.9	1.51	5.00	-120.50	37.00	85	4000	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus falciformis	0.25	Filmalter et al. (2017)	206	0.52	2.34	-5.00	60.00	38.00	85	4000	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus falciformis	0.30	Duffy et al. (2015)	124	0.9	1.51	5.00	-100.00	37.00	85	4000	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus falciformis	0.33	Cabrera-Chávez-Costa et al. (2010)	19	1	2.28	28.80	-114.40	13.20	85	4000	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus falciformis	0.40	Varghese et al. (2016)	66	1.091	2.0017	13.79	73.61	28.21	85	4000	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus falciformis	0.46	Varghese et al. (2014)	56	0.833	1.2334	18.02	70.82	23.98	85	4000	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus falciformis	0.60	Wass (1971)	27	0.47	1.37	21.70	-159.06	20.30	85	4000	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus falciformis	0.64	Flores-Martínez et al. (2016)	30	0.78	1.66	15.20	-93.21	26.80	85	4000	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus fitzroyensis	0.46	Simpfendorfer & Milward (1993)	12	0.46	0.86	-19.23	146.82	6.77	16	40	demersal	J

Species	Niche	Source	Sn	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Carcharhinus galapagen- sis	0.32	Wetherbee et al. (1996)	96	0	3	20.49	-156.87	15.51	70	285	reef	J
Carcharhinus galapagen- sis	0.80	Bass et al. (1973)	18	0.78	1.7	-33.12	43.88	0.88	70	285	reef	J
Carcharhinus leucas	0.16	Bass et al. (1973)	99	0.61	3	-28.22	32.44	10.78	81	151	reef	J
Carcharhinus leucas	0.22	Cliff & Dudley (1991a)	99	0.74	2.2	-30.00	31.25	9.00	81	151	reef	J
Carcharhinus leucas	0.41	Snelson et al. (1984)	50	1.402	1.402	27.70	-80.39	14.30	81	151	reef	J
Carcharhinus leucas	0.42	Thorburn (2006)	76	0.687	1.52	-16.00	129.34	23.00	81	151	reef	J
Carcharhinus leucas	0.57	Bass et al. (1973)	102	0.61	3	-29.88	31.09	9.12	81	151	reef	J
Carcharhinus leucas	0.59	Cliff & Dudley (1991a)	210	0.74	2.2	-30.00	31.25	9.00	81	151	reef	J
Carcharhinus leucas	0.86	Trystram et al. (2017)	16	2.29	3.07	-21.01	55.24	17.99	81	151	reef	J
Carcharhinus limbatus	0.18	Dudley & Cliff (1993)	213	0.66	1.9	-30.00	31.25	8.00	83	100	reef	J
Carcharhinus limbatus	0.42	Dudley & Cliff (1993)	443	0.66	1.9	-30.00	31.25	8.00	83	100	reef	J

Species	Niche	Source	S <sub>n</sub>	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Carcharhinus limbatus	0.60	Plumlee & Wells (2016)	22	0.527	1.437	29.20	-94.90	15.80	83	100	reef	J
Carcharhinus limbatus	0.65	Bornatowski et al. (2014)	48	0.434	1.638	-25.71	-48.10	12.29	83	100	reef	J
Carcharhinus limbatus	0.76	Hueter & Manire (1994)	65	0.45	0.94	27.07	-82.51	17.93	83	100	reef	J
Carcharhinus limbatus	0.97	Bass et al. (1973)	55	0.6	2.37	-30.00	31.25	8.00	83	100	reef	J
Carcharhinus longimanus	0.23	Strasburg (1958)	38	0.8	2.39	-5.00	-145.00	38.00	89	230	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus longimanus	0.30	Bass et al. (1973)	23	1.13	2.7	-27.87	33.92	15.13	89	230	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus macloti	0.92	Salini et al. (1994)	33	0.56	0.825	-14.00	139.00	13.00	64	170	pelagic	J
Carcharhinus melanop- terus	0.53	Frisch et al. (2016)	26	1.253	1.307	-19.00	148.00	6.00	60	55	reef	J
Carcharhinus melanop- terus	0.63	Stevens (1984b)	21	0.45	1.45	-9.40	46.33	15.60	60	55	reef	J
Carcharhinus obscurus	0.20	Dudley et al. (2005)	725	0.57	2.84	-30.00	31.25	16.00	91	400	reef	J
Carcharhinus obscurus	0.35	Simpfendorfer et al. (2001b)	1322	0.59	2.82	-24.47	112.49	21.53	91	400	reef	J

Species	Niche	Source	S <sub>n</sub>	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Carcharhinus obscurus	0.51	Gelsleichter et al. (1999)	59	0.85	2.25	37.00	-75.75	8.00	91	400	reef	J
Carcharhinus obscurus	0.52	van der Elst (1979)	216	0.65	1.049	-30.00	31.25	16.00	91	400	reef	J
Carcharhinus obscurus	0.71	Bass et al. (1973)	118	0.69	3.57	-33.15	28.25	12.85	91	400	reef	J
Carcharhinus obscurus	0.81	Bornatowski et al. (2014)	36	1.076	2.034	-25.71	-48.10	20.29	91	400	reef	J
Carcharhinus plumbeus	0.14	Medved et al. (1985)	340	0.4	0.8	38.01	-75.31	6.99	88	500	benthopelagic	J
Carcharhinus plumbeus	0.31	Medved & Marshall (1981)	64	0.6	1.37	37.93	-75.39	7.07	88	500	benthopelagic	J
Carcharhinus plumbeus	0.32	Stillwell (1993)	53	1.145	1.145	39.60	-72.96	5.40	88	500	benthopelagic	J
Carcharhinus plumbeus	0.47	McElroy et al. (2006)	263	0.59	1.9	21.00	-160.00	24.00	88	500	benthopelagic	J
Carcharhinus plumbeus	0.49	Stillwell (1993)	268	2.68	2.68	40.13	-74.01	4.87	88	500	benthopelagic	J
Carcharhinus plumbeus	0.74	Wass (1971)	244	0.45	1.46	21.70	-159.06	23.30	88	500	benthopelagic	J
Carcharhinus plumbeus	0.75	Huh et al. (2010)	25	0.813	1.974	35.06	129.04	9.94	88	500	benthopelagic	J
Carcharhinus plumbeus	0.87	Bass et al. (1973)	29	0.63	1.95	-30.00	31.25	13.00	88	500	benthopelagic	J
Species	Niche	Source	Sn	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
-------------------------------	-------	--------------------------------	-----	-----------------	-----------------	--------	--------	-------	-----	-----------	---------------	---
Carcharhinus sorrah	0.56	Simpfendorfer & Milward (1993)	18	0.54	0.86	-19.23	146.82	11.77	62	140	reef	J
Carcharhinus sorrah	0.61	Brewer et al. (1991)	12	0.75	1.15	-12.75	141.50	18.25	62	140	reef	J
Carcharhinus tilstoni	0.96	Simpfendorfer & Milward (1993)	30	0.54	0.86	-19.23	146.82	8.77	18	150	pelagic	J
Carcharias taurus	0.30	Lucifora et al. (2009a)	164	0.89	2.8	-39.22	-61.73	8.78	93	190	reef	Е
Carcharias taurus	0.53	Gelsleichter et al. (1999)	42	1.61	2.8	37.00	-75.75	8.00	93	190	reef	Е
Carcharias taurus	0.81	Bass et al. (1975)	22	1	2.82	-30.00	31.25	18.00	93	190	reef	Е
Carcharodon carcharias	0.17	Cliff et al. (1989)	122	1.35	3.48	-30.00	31.25	28.00	119	1200	pelagic	Е
Carcharodon carcharias	0.37	Cliff et al. (1989)	58	1.35	3.48	-30.00	31.25	28.00	119	1200	pelagic	Е
Carcharodon carcharias	0.79	Bass et al. (1975)	20	1.7	4.45	-30.00	31.25	28.00	119	1200	pelagic	Е
Carcharodon carcharias	0.82	Malcolm et al. (2001)	49	1.4	5.5	-35.00	135.00	23.00	119	1200	pelagic	Е
Centroscymnus coelole- pis	0.83	Clarke & Merrett (1972)	12	0.67	1.064	33.78	-18.93	41.22	136	3572	benthopelagic	D

Species	Niche	Source	Sn	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	с
Cephaloscyllium umbra- tile	0.54	Taniuchi (1988)	278	0.7	1.145	35.69	140.92	4.31	26.5	480	reef	G
Deania calcea	0.72	Saldanha et al. (1995)	28	0.3583	0.3583	36.82	-8.18	33.18	126	1430	demersal	D
Eridacnis radcliffei	0.52	Nair & Appukkuttan (1973)	277	0.131	0.211	8.79	79.67	13.21	32	695	demersal	Ι
Etmopterus spinax	0.35	Valls et al. (2011)	25	0.11	0.47	39.82	2.48	35.18	123	2290	benthopelagic	D
Eusphyra blochii	0.26	Stevens & Lyle (1989)	287	0.65	1.69	-14.71	136.28	5.29	51	70	benthopelagic	J
Furgaleus macki	0.06	Simpfendorfer et al. (2001b)	372	0.72	1.29	-24.47	112.49	20.53	24	220	demersal	J
Galeocerdo cuvier	0.20	Dicken et al. (2017)	612	0.94	3.35	-30.00	31.25	14.00	106	800	benthopelagic	J
Galeocerdo cuvier	0.26	Simpfendorfer (1992)	558	0.84	4.28	-19.10	147.19	24.90	106	800	benthopelagic	J
Galeocerdo cuvier	0.30	Simpfendorfer et al. (2001a)	84	1.31	3.61	-23.95	113.47	20.05	106	800	benthopelagic	J
Galeocerdo cuvier	0.47	Heithaus (2001)	15	2.13	3.89	-25.98	113.73	18.02	106	800	benthopelagic	J
Galeocerdo cuvier	0.48	Trystram et al. (2017)	30	2.99	3.67	-21.01	55.24	22.99	106	800	benthopelagic	J

Species	Niche	Source	Sn	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Galeocerdo cuvier	0.70	Stevens (1984a)	29	1.88	3.82	-34.50	151.27	9.50	106	800	benthopelagic	J
Galeocerdo cuvier	0.72	Randall (1992)	12	2.2	4.2	20.03	-155.84	41.97	106	800	benthopelagic	J
Galeocerdo cuvier	0.88	Bornatowski et al. (2014)	22	0.7	2.1	-25.71	-48.10	18.29	106	800	benthopelagic	J
Galeus melastomus	0.14	Anastasopoulou et al. (2013)	727	0.181	0.546	38.16	20.20	25.84	50	1818	demersal	I
Galeus melastomus	0.23	Carrasson et al. (1992)	149	0.1	0.75	40.38	1.90	23.62	50	1818	demersal	I
Galeus melastomus	0.27	Valls et al. (2011)	257	0.1	0.63	39.82	2.48	24.18	50	1818	demersal	I
Galeus melastomus	0.53	Saldanha et al. (1995)	52	0.5733	0.5733	36.82	-8.18	27.18	50	1818	demersal	I
Galeus polli	0.65	Ebert et al. (1996)	84	0.155	0.46	-24.70	14.50	3.30	56	520	demersal	I
Glaucostegus typus	0.11	White et al. (2004)	268	0.59	1.2	-25.98	-113.78	6.02	60	100	demersal	А
Holohalaelurus regani	0.40	Ebert et al. (1996)	291	0.15	0.685	-30.00	16.00	7.00	33	1900	demersal	I
lago omanensis	0.59	Nair & Appukkuttan (1973)	23	0.215	0.328	8.79	79.67	21.21	22	2085	benthopelagic	J
lsurus oxyrinchus	0.03	Wood et al. (2009)	120	1.46	3.35	40.00	-73.00	21.00	117	750	pelagic	Е

Species	Niche	Source	Sn	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Isurus oxyrinchus	0.06	Wood et al. (2009)	221	0.86	3.385	40.00	-73.00	21.00	117	750	pelagic	E
lsurus oxyrinchus	0.09	Groeneveld et al. (2014)	169	1.12	1.775	-35.46	20.12	20.54	117	750	pelagic	Е
lsurus oxyrinchus	0.12	Stillwell & Kohler (1982)	273	0.67	3.28	39.75	-73.27	21.25	117	750	pelagic	Е
lsurus oxyrinchus	0.31	Gorni et al. (2013)	47	0.82	2.81	-26.00	-35.00	30.00	117	750	pelagic	Е
lsurus oxyrinchus	0.34	Groeneveld et al. (2014)	185	2.021	2.551	-29.90	31.06	26.10	117	750	pelagic	Е
lsurus oxyrinchus	0.35	Horn et al. (2013)	993	0.62	3.5	-36.52	178.44	19.48	117	750	pelagic	Е
lsurus oxyrinchus	0.39	Preti et al. (2012)	238	0.53	2.48	32.40	-118.24	28.60	117	750	pelagic	Е
lsurus oxyrinchus	0.40	Cliff et al. (1990)	41	0.84	2.76	-30.00	31.25	26.00	117	750	pelagic	Е
lsurus oxyrinchus	0.53	Cliff et al. (1990)	47	0.84	2.76	-30.00	31.25	26.00	117	750	pelagic	Е
lsurus oxyrinchus	0.55	Stevens (1984a)	63	1.27	2.7	-34.50	151.27	21.50	117	750	pelagic	Е
lsurus oxyrinchus	0.62	Maia et al. (2006)	99	0.64	2.9	37.00	-9.00	24.00	117	750	pelagic	Е
Isurus oxyrinchus	0.71	Rogers & Huveneers (2009)	13	1.02	3.02	-34.39	134.82	21.61	117	750	pelagic	E

Species	Niche	Source	<b>S</b> <sub>n</sub>	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Isurus oxyrinchus	0.81	Vaske-Júnior & Rincón-Filho (1998)	19	0.48	1.34	-31.80	-45.70	24.20	117	750	pelagic	E
lsurus oxyrinchus	0.84	Huh et al. (2010)	37	0.872	2.728	35.06	129.04	25.94	117	750	pelagic	Е
Lamna nasus	0.15	Horn et al. (2013)	1489	0.61	2.46	-44.31	166.05	14.69	135	1360	pelagic	Е
Lamna nasus	0.22	Ellis & Shackley (1995)	24	1.14	1.87	51.33	-4.50	24.67	135	1360	pelagic	Е
Lamna nasus	0.46	Joyce et al. (2002)	497	0.85	2.64	44.95	-59.41	31.05	135	1360	pelagic	Е
Lamna nasus	0.53	Gauld (1989)	86	0.81	3.17	59.53	-1.82	16.47	135	1360	pelagic	Е
Leucoraja naevus	0.67	Valls et al. (2011)	24	0.22	0.52	39.82	2.48	20.18	45	480	demersal	В
Loxodon macrorhinus	0.28	Jabado et al. (2015)	48	0.517	0.714	25.45	55.09	8.55	64	93	demersal	J
Maculabatis toshi	0.58	Brewer et al. (1991)	160	0.207	1.4	-12.75	141.50	17.25	22	130	demersal	А
Mustelus antarcticus	0.36	Simpfendorfer et al. (2001b)	923	0.81	1.63	-24.47	112.49	26.53	45	350	demersal	J
Mustelus canis	0.12	Montemarano et al. (2016)	25	0.842	0.864	40.58	-73.66	1.42	86	800	demersal	J

Species	Niche	Source	S <sub>n</sub>	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Mustelus canis	0.28	Montemarano et al. (2016)	21	0.785	0.843	41.10	-72.29	0.90	86	800	demersal	J
Mustelus canis	0.30	Montemarano et al. (2016)	25	0.957	0.983	41.10	-72.21	0.90	86	800	demersal	J
Mustelus canis	0.33	Rountree & Able (1996)	85	0.417	0.417	39.52	-74.35	2.48	86	800	demersal	J
Mustelus canis	0.40	Gelsleichter et al. (1999)	64	0.46	1.26	37.00	-75.75	5.00	86	800	demersal	J
Mustelus henlei	0.22	Russo (1975)	21	0.53	0.87	37.87	-122.48	10.13	66	281	demersal	J
Mustelus henlei	0.35	Russo (1975)	47	0.63	0.94	38.17	-122.91	9.83	66	281	demersal	J
Mustelus higmani	0.20	Tagliafico et al. (2015)	1957	0.2	0.884	10.78	-64.06	0.22	47	899	demersal	J
Mustelus higmani	0.51	Springer & Lowe (1963)	54	0.201	0.635	7.31	-54.78	3.69	47	899	demersal	J
Mustelus lenticulatus	0.45	King & Clark (1984)	428	0.6	1.19	-40.66	172.86	7.34	14	860	demersal	J
Mustelus manazo	0.68	Huh et al. (2010)	96	0.551	1.012	35.06	129.04	9.94	55	360	demersal	J
Mustelus schmitti	0.26	Chiaramonte & Pettovello (2000)	67	0.252	0.913	-47.76	-65.92	0.24	20	135	demersal	J

Species	Niche	Source	Sn	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Mustelus schmitti	0.28	Molen & Caille (2001)	24	0.167	0.301	-42.50	-64.50	5.50	20	135	demersal	J
Myliobatis aquila	0.55	Valls et al. (2011)	22	0.51	1.16	39.82	2.48	20.18	96	299	benthopelagic	A
Negaprion acutidens	0.79	White et al. (2004)	20	0.6	1.2	-25.98	-113.78	6.02	62	92	reef	J
Negaprion brevirostris	0.25	Newman et al. (2009)	265	0.435	0.9	25.77	-79.26	19.23	78	92	reef	J
Negaprion brevirostris	0.27	Cortés & Gruber (1990)	64	0.496	0.664	24.69	-81.15	20.31	78	92	reef	J
Negaprion brevirostris	0.32	Newman et al. (2009)	131	0.435	0.9	25.70	-79.27	19.30	78	92	reef	J
Negaprion brevirostris	0.36	Cortés & Gruber (1990)	78	0.47	2.05	25.69	-79.30	19.31	78	92	reef	J
Notorynchus cepedianus	0.39	Lucifora et al. (2005)	45	0.532	2.2398	-39.21	-61.72	15.79	111	570	demersal	С
Notorynchus cepedianus	0.50	Barnett et al. (2010)	203	1.05	2.7	-43.14	147.67	11.86	111	570	demersal	С
Notorynchus cepedianus	0.76	Crespi-Abril et al. (2003)	20	1.26	2.44	-44.00	-63.00	11.00	111	570	demersal	С
Orectolobus halei	0.49	Huveneers et al. (2007)	41	1.735	1.735	-33.00	152.00	6.00	8	195	demersal	F
Orectolobus maculatus	0.63	Huveneers et al. (2007)	39	1.338	1.338	-33.00	152.00	7.00	20	248	reef	F

Species	Niche	Source	Sn	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Orectolobus ornatus	0.45	Huveneers et al. (2007)	64	0.848	0.848	-33.00	152.00	7.00	41	100	reef	F
Oxynotus bruniensis	0.48	Finucci et al. (2016)	23	0.335	0.756	-43.63	178.17	11.37	24	1025	benthopelagic	D
Prionace glauca	0.09	Horn et al. (2013)	8584	0.5	3.1	-43.56	166.26	11.44	126	999	pelagic	J
Prionace glauca	0.12	Yatsu (1995)	26	0.85	2.05	-42.00	-112.00	13.00	126	999	pelagic	J
Prionace glauca	0.29	Vaske Júnior et al. (2009)	116	2.369	2.369	-7.11	-30.11	47.89	126	999	pelagic	J
Prionace glauca	0.29	Stevens (1973)	60	1.462	2.301	50.21	-4.25	20.79	126	999	pelagic	J
Prionace glauca	0.31	Henderson et al. (2001)	126	0.64	2.28	49.00	-12.00	22.00	126	999	pelagic	J
Prionace glauca	0.32	Preti et al. (2012)	114	0.76	2.48	32.40	-118.24	38.60	126	999	pelagic	J
Prionace glauca	0.32	Vaske Júnior et al. (2009)	106	2.362	2.362	-30.50	-45.40	24.50	126	999	pelagic	J
Prionace glauca	0.36	Lopez et al. (2010)	172	0.75	4.91	-28.00	-95.00	27.00	126	999	pelagic	J
Prionace glauca	0.37	Rosas-Luis et al. (2016)	114	0.8	2.6	-1.93	-82.77	53.07	126	999	pelagic	J
Prionace glauca	0.42	Hernández-Aguilar et al. (2016)	210	0.99	2.69	26.04	-112.38	44.96	126	999	pelagic	J

Species	Niche	Source	S <sub>n</sub>	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Prionace glauca	0.47	Fujinami et al. (2018)	221	0.609	2.24	38.60	151.30	32.40	126	999	pelagic	J
Prionace glauca	0.50	Clarke et al. (1996)	112	1.103	1.937	38.16	-27.06	32.84	126	999	pelagic	J
Prionace glauca	0.55	Vaske-Júnior & Rincón-Filho (1998)	40	1	1.62	-31.80	-45.70	23.20	126	999	pelagic	J
Prionace glauca	0.57	LeBrasseur (1964)	24	0.76	1.37	53.40	-137.70	17.60	126	999	pelagic	J
Prionace glauca	0.58	Stevens (1984a)	31	2.21	3.26	-34.50	151.27	20.50	126	999	pelagic	J
Prionace glauca	0.59	Yatsu (1995)	16	0.98	2.15	-27.00	-112.00	28.00	126	999	pelagic	J
Prionace glauca	0.61	Strasburg (1958)	64	0.8	3.19	40.00	-145.00	31.00	126	999	pelagic	J
Prionace glauca	0.65	Mendonça (2009)	137	0.79	2.58	35.00	-25.00	36.00	126	999	pelagic	J
Pseudobatos productus	0.37	Valenzuela-Quiñonez et al. (2018)	100	0.435	1.09	30.75	-113.67	7.25	20	90	demersal	A
Pteroplatytrygon violacea	0.46	Varghese et al. (2014)	43	0.4137	0.5063	18.02	70.82	33.98	102	380	pelagic	А
Raja clavata	0.40	Valls et al. (2011)	291	0.18	0.91	39.82	2.48	30.18	99	1015	demersal	В

Species	Niche	Source	Sn	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Raja miraletus	0.44	Valls et al. (2011)	31	0.24	0.43	39.82	2.48	4.18	79	445	demersal	В
Raja polystigma	0.74	Valls et al. (2011)	15	0.28	0.45	39.82	2.48	5.88	15.7	300	demersal	В
Rhizoprionodon acutus	0.65	Jabado et al. (2015)	38	0.509	0.875	25.45	55.09	15.55	71	199	benthopelagic	J
Rhizoprionodon acutus	0.75	White et al. (2004)	28	0.59	0.89	-25.98	-113.78	4.02	71	199	benthopelagic	J
Rhizoprionodon acutus	0.83	Simpfendorfer & Milward (1993)	50	0.34	0.74	-19.23	146.82	10.77	71	199	benthopelagic	J
Rhizoprionodon acutus	0.90	Brewer et al. (1991)	106	0.3	0.88	-12.75	141.50	17.25	71	199	benthopelagic	J
Rhizoprionodon lalandii	0.57	Bornatowski et al. (2014)	124	0.481	0.693	-25.71	-48.10	9.29	48	67	demersal	J
Rhizoprionodon taylori	0.84	Simpfendorfer & Milward (1993)	207	0.3	0.78	-19.23	146.82	8.77	20	110	pelagic	J
Rhizoprionodon terraeno- vae	0.39	Plumlee & Wells (2016)	51	0.513	0.895	29.20	-94.90	13.80	68	280	pelagic	J
Rhizoprionodon terraeno- vae	0.42	Gelsleichter et al. (1999)	129	0.81	1.1	37.00	-75.75	6.00	68	280	pelagic	J

Species	Niche	Source	S <sub>n</sub>	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Rhizoprionodon terraeno- vae	0.45	Avendaño-Alvarez et al. (2013)	25	0.5	1.04	19.25	-96.00	23.75	68	280	pelagic	J
Schroederichthys chilen- sis	0.48	Fariña & Ojeda (1993)	201	0.42	0.66	-33.03	-71.71	17.97	42	50	demersal	н
Scyliorhinus canicula	0.31	Valls et al. (2011)	706	0.11	0.53	39.82	2.48	23.18	51	770	demersal	G
Scyliorhinus canicula	0.54	Šantić et al. (2012)	852	0.104	0.46	43.20	16.02	19.80	51	770	demersal	G
Scyliorhinus capensis	0.58	Ebert et al. (1996)	97	0.245	0.88	-30.00	16.00	7.00	37	469	demersal	G
Scyliorhinus torazame	0.34	Huh et al. (2010)	160	0.131	0.385	35.06	129.04	4.94	18	420	demersal	G
Somniosus antarcticus	0.56	Yano et al. (2007)	12	1.032	4.38	-54.59	158.73	0.41	30	665	benthopelagic	D
Somniosus microcepha- lus	0.29	Fisk et al. (2002)	14	2.779	2.893	65.97	-66.68	17.03	48	2992	benthopelagic	D
Somniosus microcepha- lus	0.41	Yano et al. (2007)	37	0.648	4.8	68.64	-56.29	14.36	48	2992	benthopelagic	D

Min size Max DR S, Func. grp Species Niche Source Lat. DPE LR° С Long. (m) size (m) (m) Somniosus microcepha-McMeans et al. (2015) 2992 0.47 51 2.418 3.048 65.29 -65.78 17.71 48 benthopelagic D lus Somniosus microcepha-0.55 McMeans et al. (2010) 3.904 2992 benthopelagic 18 4.408 64.40 -22.78 18.60 48 D lus Somniosus microcepha-0.57 McMeans et al. (2012) 2.324 2.982 65.22 -65.75 17.78 2992 benthopelagic D 18 48 lus Somniosus microcepha-0.59 Leclerc et al. (2012) 33 2.45 4.04 79.00 11.67 4.00 48 2992 benthopelagic D lus Somniosus microcepha-Nielsen et al. (2014) 0.62 24 2.58 4.6 66.64 -31.59 16.36 48 2992 benthopelagic D lus Somniosus microcepha-0.66 Beck & Mansfield (1969) -79.67 10.35 2992 benthopelagic 13 2.17 3.11 72.65 48 D lus Somniosus pacificus Sigler et al. (2006) 0.31 165 1.06 2.4 58.78 -151.21 13.22 49 2205 benthopelagic D

Species	Niche	Source	Sn	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Somniosus pacificus	0.47	Yang & Page (1999)	11	2.396	2.894	56.80	-155.30	15.20	49	2205	benthopelagic	D
Somniosus pacificus	0.61	Yano et al. (2007)	16	1.05	1.744	58.39	-174.66	13.61	49	2205	benthopelagic	D
Sphyrna lewini	0.09	Clarke (1971)	33	0.395	0.693	21.42	-157.77	24.58	81	1000	pelagic	J
Sphyrna lewini	0.17	Clarke (1971)	35	1.95	2.72	21.45	-157.79	24.55	81	1000	pelagic	J
Sphyrna lewini	0.24	Clarke (1971)	108	0.395	0.895	21.44	-157.79	24.56	81	1000	pelagic	J
Sphyrna lewini	0.28	Bush (2003)	625	0.422	1.045	21.43	-157.79	24.57	81	1000	pelagic	J
Sphyrna lewini	0.37	Simpfendorfer & Milward (1993)	81	0.46	0.86	-19.23	146.82	15.77	81	1000	pelagic	J
Sphyrna lewini	0.40	Stevens & Lyle (1989)	518	0.468	3.16	-14.71	136.28	20.29	81	1000	pelagic	J
Sphyrna lewini	0.53	Flores-Martínez et al. (2016)	96	0.43	0.75	15.20	-93.21	30.80	81	1000	pelagic	J
Sphyrna lewini	0.57	de Bruyn et al. (2005)	832	0.537	2.43	-30.00	31.25	5.00	81	1000	pelagic	J
Sphyrna lewini	0.61	Bergés-Tiznado et al. (2015)	20	0.53	1.085	22.45	-105.65	23.55	81	1000	pelagic	J
Sphyrna lewini	0.71	Avendaño-Alvarez et al. (2013)	12	0.66	1.67	19.25	-96.00	26.75	81	1000	pelagic	J

Species	Niche	Source	Sn	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Sphyrna lewini	0.71	Bornatowski et al. (2014)	123	0.291	1.273	-25.71	-48.10	9.29	81	1000	pelagic	J
Sphyrna mokarran	0.17	Cliff (1995)	42	1.06	3.26	-30.00	31.25	7.00	77	299	pelagic	J
Sphyrna mokarran	0.47	Cliff (1995)	77	1.06	3.26	-30.00	31.25	7.00	77	299	pelagic	J
Sphyrna mokarran	0.63	Stevens & Lyle (1989)	304	0.659	3.9	-14.71	136.28	22.29	77	299	pelagic	J
Sphyrna tiburo	0.12	Bethea et al. (2007)	502	0.506	0.916	29.67	-85.22	15.33	81	70	reef	J
Sphyrna tiburo	0.22	Cortes et al. (1996)	338	0.31	0.84	27.00	-82.50	18.00	81	70	reef	J
Sphyrna tiburo	0.23	Parsons (1987)	92	0.37	1.15	27.71	-82.58	17.29	81	70	reef	J
Sphyrna tiburo	0.31	Plumlee & Wells (2016)	18	0.49	1.02	29.20	-94.90	15.80	81	70	reef	J
Sphyrna tiburo	0.32	Hueter & Manire (1994)	314	0.34	0.91	27.07	-82.51	17.93	81	70	reef	J
Sphyrna tiburo	0.48	Parsons (1987)	36	0.35	1.05	24.90	-80.70	20.10	81	70	reef	J
Sphyrna tudes	0.37	Castro (1989)	116	0.67	1.21	10.61	-61.02	35.39	103	40	benthopelagic	J
Sphyrna zygaena	0.19	Smale (1991)	370	0.543	3.03	-34.00	27.00	21.00	114	200	pelagic	J

Species	Niche	Source	S <sub>n</sub>	Min size (m)	Max size (m)	Lat.	Long.	DPE	LR°	DR (m)	Func. grp	С
Sphyrna zygaena	0.41	Ochoa-Díaz (2013)	48	0.63	2.83	25.38	-111.78	33.62	114	200	pelagic	J
Sphyrna zygaena	0.45	Bornatowski et al. (2014)	77	0.671	1.85	-25.71	-48.10	29.29	114	200	pelagic	J
Sphyrna zygaena	0.62	Rogers & Huveneers (2009)	19	0.98	1.68	-34.39	134.82	20.61	114	200	pelagic	J
Sphyrna zygaena	0.84	Stevens (1984a)	42	0.81	2.43	-34.50	151.27	20.50	114	200	pelagic	J
Squalus megalops	0.56	Huh et al. (2010)	38	0.76	1.325	35.06	129.04	6.94	83	720	demersal	D
Triakis megalopterus	0.22	Smale & Goosen (1999)	92	0.576	2.075	-33.56	27.25	2.44	6	49	demersal	J
Triakis semifasciata	0.41	Russo (1975)	37	0.53	1.3	37.87	-122.48	7.13	26	156	demersal	J
Triakis semifasciata	0.59	Russo (1975)	67	0.72	1.5	38.17	-122.91	6.83	26	156	demersal	J

## 4.3.1 Stomach content references.

- Allen, B. R., & Cliff, G. (2000). Sharks caught in the protective gill nets off Kwazulu-Natal, South Africa. 9. The spinner shark *Carcharhinus brevipinna* (Müller and Henle). *South African Journal of Marine Science*, 22(1), 199–215. https://doi.org/10.2989/025776100784125654
- Anastasopoulou, A., Mytilineou, Ch., Lefkaditou, E., Dokos, J., Smith, C. J., Siapatis, A., Bekas, P., & Papadopoulou, K.-N. (2013). Diet and feeding strategy of black-mouth catshark *Galeus melastomus*. *Journal of Fish Biology*, *83*(6), 1637–1655. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.12269
- Avendaño-Alvarez, J. O., Pérez-España, H., Salas-Monreal, D., & García-Rodríguez, E.
  (2013). Captures and Diet of Three Sharks Species in the Veracruz Reef System. *Open Journal of Marine Science*, 3(2), 66–73.

https://doi.org/10.4236/ojms.2013.32008

- Barnett, A., Abrantes, K., Stevens, J., Yick, J., Frusher, S., & Semmens, J. (2010). Predator-prey relationships and foraging ecology of a marine apex predator with a wide temperate distribution. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 416, 189–200. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps08778
- Barry, J. P., Yoklavich, M. M., Cailliet, G. M., Ambrose, D. A., & Antrim, B. S. (1996).
  Trophic Ecology of the Dominant Fishes in Elkhorn Slough, California, 1974-1980. *Estuaries*, 19(1), 115. https://doi.org/10.2307/1352657
- Bass, A. J., D'Aubrey, J. D., & Kistnasamy, N. (1973). Sharks of the east coast of southern Africa. I. The genus Carcharhinus (Carcharhinidae) (No. 33; Investigational

Report). South African Association for Marine Biological Research. Durban, South Africa.

- Bass, A. J., D'Aubrey, J. D., & Kistnasamy, N. (1975). Sharks of the east coast of southern Africa. IV. The families Odontaspididae, Scapanorhynchidae, Isuridae, Orectolobidae and Rhiniodontidae (No. 39; Investigational Report). South African Association for Marine Biological Research. Durban, South Africa.
- Beck, B., & Mansfield, A. W. (1969). Observations on the Greenland Shark, Somniosus microcephalus, in Northern Baffin Island. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada, 26(1), 143–145. https://doi.org/10.1139/f69-013
- Bergés-Tiznado, M. E., Márquez-Farías, F., Lara-Mendoza, R. E., Torres-Rojas, Y. E., Galván-Magaña, F., Bojórquez-Leyva, H., & Páez-Osuna, F. (2015). Mercury and Selenium in Muscle and Target Organs of Scalloped Hammerhead Sharks *Sphyrna lewini* of the SE Gulf of California: Dietary Intake, Molar Ratios, Loads, and Human Health Risks. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, *69*(4), 440–452. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-015-0226-8
- Bethea, D. M., Hale, L., Carlson, J. K., Cortés, E., Manire, C. A., & Gelsleichter, J. (2007). Geographic and ontogenetic variation in the diet and daily ration of the bonnethead shark, *Sphyrna tiburo*, from the eastern Gulf of Mexico. *Marine Biology*, *152*(5), 1009–1020. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-007-0728-7
- Bornatowski, H., Braga, R. R., Abilhoa, V., & Corrêa, M. F. M. (2014). Feeding ecology and trophic comparisons of six shark species in a coastal ecosystem off southern Brazil. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 85(2), 246–263. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.12417

- Brewer, D. T., Blaber, S. J. M., & Salini, J. P. (1991). Predation on penaeid prawns by fishes in Albatross Bay, Gulf of Carpentaria. *Marine Biology*, 109(2), 231–240. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01319391
- Bush, A. (2003). Diet and Diel Feeding Periodicity of Juvenile Scalloped Hammerhead Sharks, Sphyrna lewini, in Kāne'ohe Bay, Ō'ahu, Hawai'i. Environmental Biology of Fishes, 67(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1024438706814
- Cabrera-Chávez-Costa, A. A., Galván-Magaña, F., & Escobar-Sánchez, O. (2010). Food habits of the silky shark *Carcharhinus falciformis* (Müller & Henle, 1839) off the western coast of Baja California Sur, Mexico. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 26(4), 499–503. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0426.2010.01482.x
- Carrasson, M., Stefanescu, C., & Carles, J. (1992). Diets and bathymetric distributions of two bathyal sharks of the Catalan deep sea (western Mediterranean). *Marine Ecol*ogy Progress Series, 82, 21–30. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps082021
- Castro, J. I. (1989). The biology of the golden hammerhead, *Sphyrna tudes*, off Trinidad. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 24(1), 3–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00001605
- Chiaramonte, G. E., & Pettovello, A. D. (2000). The biology of *Mustelus schmitti* in southern Patagonia, Argentina. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 57(4), 930–942. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2000.tb02202.x
- Clarke, M. R., Clarke, D. C., Martins, H. R., & Da Silva, H. M. (1996). The diet of the blue shark (*Prionace glauca* L.) in Azorean waters. *Arquipélago*, *14A*, 41–56.
- Clarke, M. R., & Merrett, N. (1972). The Significance of Squid, Whale and Other Remains From the Stomachs of Bottom-Living Deep-Sea Fish. *Journal of the*

Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 52(3), 599–603. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315400021603

- Clarke, T. A. (1971). The Ecology of the Scalloped Hammerhead Shark, *Sphyrna lewini* in Hawaii. *Pacific Science*, 25, 12.
- Cliff, G. (1995). Sharks caught in the protective gill nets off KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. 8. The Great hammerhead shark *Sphyrna mokarran* (Rüppell). *South African Journal of Marine Science*, 15(1), 105–114. https://doi.org/10.2989/025776195784156331
- Cliff, G., & Dudley, S. F. J. (1991a). Sharks caught in the protective gill nets off Natal,
  South Africa. 4. The bull shark *Carcharhinus leucas* Valenciennes. *South African Journal of Marine Science*, 10(1), 253–270.
  https://doi.org/10.2989/02577619109504636
- Cliff, G., & Dudley, S. F. J. (1991b). Sharks caught in the protective gill nets off Natal, South Africa. 5. The Java shark *Carcharhinus amboinensis* (müller & Henle). *South African Journal of Marine Science*, *11*(1), 443–453. https://doi.org/10.2989/025776191784287817
- Cliff, G., & Dudley, S. F. J. (1992). Sharks caught in the protective gill nets off Natal, South Africa. 6. The copper shark *Carcharhinus brachyurus* (Günther). *South African Journal of Marine Science*, *12*(1), 663–674. https://doi.org/10.2989/02577619209504731
- Cliff, G., Dudley, S. F. J., & Davis, B. (1989). Sharks caught in the protective gill nets off Natal, South Africa. 2. The great white shark *Carcharodon carcharias*

(Linnaeus). *South African Journal of Marine Science*, 8(1), 131–144. https://doi.org/10.2989/02577618909504556

- Cliff, G., Dudley, S. F. J., & Davis, B. (1990). Sharks caught in the protective gill nets off Natal, South Africa. 3. The shortfin mako shark *Isurus oxyrinchus* (Rafinesque). *South African Journal of Marine Science*, 9(1), 115–126. https://doi.org/10.2989/025776190784378808
- Cortés, E., & Gruber, S. H. (1990). Diet, Feeding Habits and Estimates of Daily Ration of Young Lemon Sharks, *Negaprion brevirostris* (Poey). *Copeia*, 1990(1), 204–218. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/1445836
- Cortes, E., Manire, C. A., & Hueter, R. E. (1996). Diet, Feeding Habits, and Diel Feeding Chronology of the Bonnethead Shark, *Sphyrna tiburo*, in Southwest Florida. *Bulleten of Marine Science*, 58(2), 353–367.
- Crespi-Abril, A. C., García, N. A., Crespo, E. A., & Coscarella, M. A. (2003). Consumption of marine mammals by broadnose sevengill shark *Notorynchus cepedianus* in the northern and central Patagonian shelf. *Latin American Journal of Aquatic Mammals*, 2(2), 101–107. https://doi.org/10.5597/lajam00038
- de Bruyn, P., Dudley, S., Cliff, G., & Smale, M. (2005). Sharks caught in the protective gill nets off KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. 11. The scalloped hammerhead shark *Sphyrna lewini* (Griffith and Smith). *African Journal of Marine Science*, 27(3), 517–528. https://doi.org/10.2989/18142320509504112
- Dicken, M. L., Hussey, N. E., Christiansen, H. M., Smale, M. J., Nkabi, N., Cliff, G., & Wintner, S. P. (2017). Diet and trophic ecology of the tiger shark (*Galeocerdo*

*cuvier*) from South African waters. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(6), e0177897–e0177897. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177897

- Dudley, S., Cliff, G., Zungu, M., & Smale, M. (2005). Sharks caught in the protective gill nets off KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. 10. The dusky shark *Carcharhinus obscurus* (Lesueur 1818). *African Journal of Marine Science*, 27(1), 107–127. https://doi.org/10.2989/18142320509504072
- Dudley, S. F. J., & Cliff, G. (1993). Sharks caught in the protective gill nets off Natal,
  South Africa. 7. The blacktip shark *Carcharhinus limbatus* (Valenciennes). *South African Journal of Marine Science*, *13*(1), 237–254.
  https://doi.org/10.2989/025776193784287356
- Duffy, L. M., Olson, R. J., Lennert-Cody, C. E., Galván-Magaña, F., Bocanegra-Castillo, N., & Kuhnert, P. M. (2015). Foraging ecology of silky sharks, *Carcharhinus falciformis*, captured by the tuna purse-seine fishery in the eastern Pacific Ocean.
  Marine Biology, 162(3), 571–593. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-014-2606-4
- Ebert, D. A., Cowley, P. D., & Compagno, L. J. V. (1996). A preliminary investigation of the feeding ecology of catsharks (Scyliorhinidae) off the west coast of southern Africa. South African Journal of Marine Science, 17(1), 233–240. https://doi.org/10.2989/025776196784158563

Ellis, J. R., & Shackley, S. E. (1995). Notes on porbeagle sharks, *Lamna nasus*, from the Bristol Channel. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 46(2), 368–370. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1995.tb05976.x

- Fariña, J. M., & Ojeda, F. P. (1993). Abundance, Activity, and Trophic Patterns of the Redspotted Catshark, *Schroederichthys chilensis*, on the Pacific Temperate Coast of Chile. *Copeia*, 1993(2), 545–549. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/1447159
- Filmalter, J. D., Cowley, P. D., Potier, M., Ménard, F., Smale, M. J., Cherel, Y., & Dagorn, L. (2017). Feeding ecology of silky sharks *Carcharhinus falciformis* associated with floating objects in the western Indian Ocean. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 90(4), 1321–1337. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.13241
- Finucci, B., Bustamante, C., Jones, E. G., & Dunn, M. R. (2016). Reproductive biology and feeding habits of the prickly dogfish Oxynotus bruniensis. Journal of Fish Biology, 89(5), 2326–2344. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.13116
- Fisk, A. T., Tittlemier, S. A., Pranschke, J. L., & Norstrom, R. J. (2002). Using Anthropogenic Contaminants and Stable Isotopes to Assess the Feeding Ecology of Greenland Sharks. *Ecology*, 83(8), 2162–2172. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/3072048
- Flores-Martínez, I. A., Torres-Rojas, Y. E., Galván-Magaña, F., & Ramos-Miranda, J. (2016). Diet comparison between silky sharks (*Carcharhinus falciformis*) and scalloped hammerhead sharks (*Sphyrna lewini*) off the south-west coast of Mexico. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 97(2), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315416000424
- Frisch, A. J., Ireland, M., Rizzari, J. R., Lönnstedt, O. M., Magnenat, K. A., Mirbach, C.
  E., & Hobbs, J.-P. A. (2016). Reassessing the trophic role of reef sharks as apex predators on coral reefs. *Coral Reefs*, 35(2), 459–472.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-016-1415-2

- Fujinami, Y., Nakatsuka, S., & Ohshimo, S. (2018). Feeding Habits of the Blue Shark (*Prionace glauca*) in the Northwestern Pacific Based on Stomach Contents and Stable Isotope Ratios. *Pacific Science*, 72(1), 21–39. https://doi.org/10.2984/72.1.2
- Gauld, J. A. (1989). Records of Porbeagles Landed in Scotland, with Observations on the Biology, Distribution and Exploitation of the Species (No. 45; Scottish Fisheries Research Report, p. 15). Department of Agriculture and Fisheries for Scotland.
- Gelsleichter, J., Musick, J. A., & Nichols, S. (1999). Food habits of the smooth dogfish, *Mustelus canis*, dusky shark, *Carcharhinus obscurus*, Atlantic sharpnose shark, *Rhizoprionodon terraenovae*, and the sand tiger, *Carcharias taurus*, from the northwest Atlantic Ocean. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 54(2), 205–217. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007527111292
- Gorni, G. R., Goitein, R., & Amorim, A. F. de. (2013). Description of diet of pelagic fish in the southwestern Atlantic, Brazil. *Biota Neotropica*, 13(1), 61–69. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1676-06032013000100006
- Groeneveld, J. C., Cliff, G., Dudley, S. F. J., Foulis, A. J., Santos, J., & Wintner, S. P.
  (2014). Population structure and biology of shortfin mako, *Isurus oxyrinchus*, in the south-west Indian Ocean. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 65(12), 1045. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF13341

Heithaus, M. R. (2001). The Biology of Tiger Sharks, *Galeocerdo cuvier*, in Shark Bay,
Western Australia: Sex Ratio, Size Distribution, Diet, and Seasonal Changes in
Catch Rates. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, *61*(1), 25–36.
https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1011021210685

- Henderson, A. C., Flannery, K., & Dunne, J. (2001). Observations on the biology and ecology of the blue shark in the North-east Atlantic. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 58(5), 1347–1358. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2001.tb02291.x
- Hernández-Aguilar, S. B., Escobar-Sánchez, O., Galván-Magaña, F., & Abitia-Cárdenas,
  L. A. (2016). Trophic ecology of the blue shark (*Prionace glauca*) based on stable isotopes (δ<sup>13</sup>C and δ<sup>15</sup>N) and stomach content. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 96(7), 1403–1410.
  https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315415001393
- Horn, P. L., Ballara, S. L., Sutton, P., & Griggs, L. H. (2013). Evaluation of the diets of highly migratory species in New Zealand waters. Ministry for Primary Industries. http://docs.niwa.co.nz/library/public/AEBR\_116.pdf
- Hueter, R. E., & Manire, C. A. (1994). Bycatch and catch-release mortality of small sharks in the Gulf coast nursery grounds of Tampa Bay and Charlotte Harbor (Monograph or Serial Issue No. 368; Mote Marine Laboratory Technical Report, p. 183). Mote Marine Laboratory. https://dspace.mote.org/dspace/handle/2075/57
- Huh, S.-H., Park, J. M., Park, S. C., Kim, J. H., & Baeck, G. W. (2010). Feeding Habits of 6 Shark Species in the Southern Sea of Korea. *Korean Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science*, 43(3), 254–261.

Huveneers, C., Otway, N. M., Gibbs, S. E., & Harcourt, R. G. (2007). Quantitative diet assessment of wobbegong sharks (genus Orectolobus) in New South Wales, Australia. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, fsm111. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsm111

- Jabado, R. W., Ghais, S. M. A., Hamza, W., Henderson, A. C., & Mesafri, A. A. A.
  (2015). Diet of two commercially important shark species in the United Arab
  Emirates: Milk shark, *Rhizoprionodon acutus* (Rüppell, 1837), and slit-eye shark, *Loxodon macrorhinus* (Müller & Henle, 1839). *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*,
  31(5), 870–875. https://doi.org/10.1111/jai.12805
- Joyce, W. N., Campana, S. E., Natanson, L. J., Kohler, N. E., Pratt, H. L., & Jensen, C. F. (2002). Analysis of stomach contents of the porbeagle shark (*Lamna nasus* Bonnaterre) in the northwest Atlantic. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 59(6), 1263– 1269. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmsc.2002.1286
- King, K. J., & Clark, M. R. (1984). The food of rig (*Mustelus lenticulatus*) and the relationship of feeding to reproduction and condition in Golden Bay. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research*, 18(1), 29–42. https://doi.org/10.1080/00288330.1984.9516026
- LeBrasseur, R. J. (1964). Stomach Contents of Blue Shark (*Prionace glauca* L.) Taken in the Gulf of Alaska. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada*, 21(4), 861–862. https://doi.org/10.1139/f64-079
- Leclerc, L.-M. E., Lydersen, C., Haug, T., Bachmann, L., Fisk, A. T., & Kovacs, K. M. (2012). A missing piece in the Arctic food web puzzle? Stomach contents of Greenland sharks sampled in Svalbard, Norway. *Polar Biology*, *35*(8), 1197–1208. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-012-1166-7
- Lopez, S., Meléndez, R., & Barría, P. (2010). Preliminary diet analysis of the blue shark *Prionace glauca* in the eastern South Pacific. *Revista de Biología Marina y Oceanografía*, 45, 745–749. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-19572010000400017

- Lucifora, L. O., García, V. B., & Escalante, A. H. (2009a). How can the feeding habits of the sand tiger shark influence the success of conservation programs? *Animal Conservation*, 12(4), 291–301. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-1795.2009.00247.x
- Lucifora, L. O., García, V. B., Menni, R. C., Escalante, A. H., & Hozbor, N. M. (2009b).
  Effects of body size, age and maturity stage on diet in a large shark: Ecological and applied implications. *Ecological Research*, 24(1), 109–118.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s11284-008-0487-z
- Lucifora, L. O., Menni, R. C., & Escalante, A. H. (2005). Reproduction, abundance and feeding habits of the broadnose sevengill shark *Notorynchus cepedianus* in north Patagonia, Argentina. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 289, 237–244. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps289237
- Maia, A., Queiroz, N., Correia, J. P., & Cabral, H. (2006). Food habits of the shortfin mako, *Isurus oxyrinchus*, off the southwest coast of Portugal. *Environmental Biol*ogy of Fishes, 77(2), 157–167. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10641-006-9067-7
- Malcolm, H., Bruce, B. D., & Stevens, J. D. (2001). A review of the biology and status of white sharks in Australian waters (p. 114). CSIRO.
- McElroy, W. D., Wetherbee, B. M., Mostello, C. S., Lowe, C. G., Crow, G. L., & Wass,
  R. C. (2006). Food habits and ontogenetic changes in the diet of the sandbar shark, *Carcharhinus plumbeus*, in Hawaii. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 76(1), 81–92. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10641-006-9010-y
- McMeans, B. C., Arts, M. T., & Fisk, A. T. (2012). Similarity between predator and prey fatty acid profiles is tissue dependent in Greenland sharks (*Somniosus*

*microcephalus*): Implications for diet reconstruction. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 429, 55–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2012.06.017

- McMeans, B. C., Arts, M. T., & Fisk, A. T. (2015). Impacts of food web structure and feeding behavior on mercury exposure in Greenland Sharks (*Somniosus microcephalus*). Science of The Total Environment, 509–510, 216–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.01.128
- McMeans, B. C., Svavarsson, J., Dennard, S., & Fisk, A. T. (2010). Diet and resource use among Greenland sharks (*Somniosus microcephalus*) and teleosts sampled in Icelandic waters, using δ<sup>13</sup>C, δ<sup>15</sup>N, and mercury. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 67(9), 1428–1438. https://doi.org/10.1139/F10-072
- Medved, R. J., & Marshall, J. A. (1981). Feeding behavior and biology of young sandbar sharks, *Carcharhinus plumbeus* (Pisces, Carcharhinidae), in Chincoteague Bay, Virginia. *Fishery Bulletin*, 79(3), 441–447.
- Medved, R. J., Stillwell, C. E., & Casey, J. J. (1985). Stomach contents of young sandbar sharks, *Carcharhinus plumbeus*, in Chincoteague Bay, Virginia. *Fishery Bulletin*, 83(3), 395–402.
- Mendonça, A. (2009). *Diet of the blue shark, Prionace glauca, in the Northeast Atlantic* [Masters]. Universidade do Porto.
- Molen, S. V. der, & Caille, G. (2001). Bahía Engaño: A north Patagonian nursery area for the smoothhound shark *Mustelus schmitti* (Carcharhiniformes: Triakidae). *Journal* of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 81(5), 851–855.
  https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315401004684

Montemarano, J. J., Havelin, J., & Draud, M. (2016). Diet composition of the smooth dogfish (*Mustelus canis*) in the waters of Long Island, New York, USA. *Marine Biology Research*, 12(4), 435–442.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17451000.2016.1148819

- Moteki, M., Arai, M., Tsuchiya, K., & Okamoto, H. (2001). Composition of piscine prey in the diet of large pelagic fish in the eastern tropical Pacific Ocean. *Fisheries Science*, 67(6), 1063–1074. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1444-2906.2001.00362.x
- Nair, R. V., & Appukkuttan, K. K. (1973). Observation on the food of deep sea sharks Halelerus hispidus (Alcock), Eridacnis radcliffei Smith and Iago omanensis Compagno and Springer. Indian Journal of Fisheries, 20(2), 575–583.
- Newman, S. P., Handy, R. D., & Gruber, S. H. (2009). Diet and prey preference of juvenile lemon sharks *Negaprion brevirostris*. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 398, 221–234. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps08334
- Nielsen, J., Hedeholm, R. B., Simon, M., & Steffensen, J. F. (2014). Distribution and feeding ecology of the Greenland shark (*Somniosus microcephalus*) in Greenland waters. *Polar Biology*, 37(1), 37–46. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-013-1408-3
- Ochoa-Díaz, M. R. (2013). Ecología Trófica de los Tiburones Martillo Sphyrna lewini y Sphyrna zygaena en el Pacífico Ecuatoriano Basada en Isótopos Estables [Masters]. Instituto Politecnico Nacional.
- Parsons, G. R. (1987). Life history and bioenergetics of the bonnethead shark, Sphyrna tiburo (Linnaeus): A comparison of two populations [PhD]. University of South Florida.

- Plumlee, J., & Wells, R. (2016). Feeding ecology of three coastal shark species in the northwest Gulf of Mexico. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 550, 163–174. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps11723
- Polo-Silva, C., Newsome, S. D., Galván-Magaña, F., Grijalba-Bendeck, M., & Sanjuan-Muñoz, A. (2013). Trophic shift in the diet of the pelagic thresher shark based on stomach contents and stable isotope analyses. *Marine Biology Research*, 9(10), 958–971. https://doi.org/10.1080/17451000.2013.793802
- Preti, A., Kohin, S., Dewar, H., Ramon, D., & Preti, A. (2008). Feeding habits of the bigeye thresher (*Alopias superciliosus*) sampled from the California-based drift gillnet fishery. *California Cooperative Oceanic Fisheries Investigations Report*, 49, 11.
- Preti, A., & Smith, S. E. (2001). Feeding habits of the common thresher shark (*Alopias vulpinus*) sampled from the California-based drift gill net fishery, 1998-1999.
   *California Cooperative Oceanic Fisheries Investigations Report*, 42, 8.
- Preti, A., Soykan, C. U., Dewar, H., Wells, R. J. D., Spear, N., & Kohin, S. (2012). Comparative feeding ecology of shortfin mako, blue and thresher sharks in the California Current. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 95(1), 127–146. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10641-012-9980-x
- Randall, J. E. (1992). Review of the biology of the Tiger Shark (*Galeocerdo cuvier*). Marine and Freshwater Research, 43(1), 21–31. https://doi.org/10.1071/mf9920021
- Rogers, P. J., & Huveneers, C. (2009). *Diet and reproductive biology of pelagic sharks in southern Australia: Understanding their ecology to enhance policy development and conservation management* (Final Report to Wildlife Conservation Fund No.

362; SARDI Research Report Series, p. 32). South Australian Research and Development Institute.

- Rosas-Luis, R., Loor-Andrade, P., Carrera-Fernández, M., Pincay-Espinoza, J. E., Vinces-Ortega, C., & Chompoy-Salazar, L. (2016). Cephalopod species in the diet of large pelagic fish (sharks and billfishes) in Ecuadorian waters. *Fisheries Research*, 173, 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2015.07.002
- Rountree, R. A., & Able, K. W. (1996). Seasonal abundance, growth, and foraging habits of juvenile smooth dogfish, *Mustelus canis*, in a New Jersey estuary. *Fishery Bulletin*, 94(3), 522–534.
- Russo, R. A. (1975). Observations of food-habits of Leopard Sharks (*Triakis semifas-ciata*) and brown Smoothhounds (*Mustelus henlei*). *California Fish and Game*, 61(2), 95–103.
- Saldanha, L., Almeida, A. J., Andrade, F., & Guerreiro, J. (1995). Observations on the Diet of Some Slope Dwelling Fishes of Southern Portugal. *Internationale Revue Der Gesamten Hydrobiologie Und Hydrographie*, 80(2), 217–234. https://doi.org/10.1002/iroh.19950800210
- Salini, J. P., Blaber, S. J. M., & Brewer, D. T. (1994). Diets of trawled predatory fish of the Gulf of Carpentaria, Australia, with particular reference to predation on prawns. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 45(3), 397–411. https://doi.org/10.1071/mf9940397
- Šantić, M., Rađa, B., & Pallaoro, A. (2012). Feeding habits of small-spotted catshark (*Scyliorhinus canicula* Linnaeus, 1758) from the eastern central Adriatic Sea.

*Marine Biology Research*, 8(10), 1003–1011.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17451000.2012.702912

- Sigler, M. F., Hulbert, L. B., Lunsford, C. R., Thompson, N. H., Burek, K., O'Corry-Crowe, G., & Hirons, A. C. (2006). Diet of Pacific sleeper shark, a potential Steller sea lion predator, in the north-east Pacific Ocean. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 69(2), 392–405. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2006.01096.x
- Simpfendorfer, C. (1992). Biology of Tiger Sharks (*Galeocerdo cuvier*) caught by the Queensland Shark Meshing Program off Townsville, Australia. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, *43*(1), 33–43. https://doi.org/10.1071/mf9920033
- Simpfendorfer, C. A., Goodreid, A. B., & McAuley, R. B. (2001a). Size, Sex And Geographic Variation in the Diet of the Tiger Shark, *Galeocerdo cuvier*, From Western Australian Waters. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 61(1), 37–46. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1011021710183
- Simpfendorfer, C. A., Goodreid, A., & McAuley, R. B. (2001b). Diet of three commercially important shark species from Western Australian waters. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 52(7), 975–985. https://doi.org/10.1071/mf01017
- Simpfendorfer, C. A., & Milward, N. E. (1993). Utilisation of a tropical bay as a nursery area by sharks of the families Carcharhinidae and Sphyrnidae. *Environmental Bi*ology of Fishes, 37(4), 337–345. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00005200

Smale, M. J. (1991). Occurrence and feeding of three shark species, *Carcharhinus brach-yurus*, *C. obscurus* and *Sphyrna zygaena*, on the Eastern Cape coast of South Africa. South African Journal of Marine Science, 11(1), 31–42. https://doi.org/10.2989/025776191784287808

- Smale, M. J., & Goosen, A. J. J. (1999). Reproduction and feeding of spotted gully shark, *Triakis megalopterus*, off the Eastern Cape, South Africa. *Fishery Bulletin*, 97(4), 987–998.
- Snelson, F. F., Mulligan, T. J., & Williams, S. E. (1984). Food Habits, Occurrence, and Population Structure of the Bull Shark, *Carcharhinus leucas*, in Florida Coastal Lagoons. *Bulleten of Marine Science*, 34(1), 71–80.
- Springer, S., & Lowe, R. H. (1963). A New Smooth Dogshark, *Mustelus higmani*, from the Equatorial Atlantic Coast of South America. *Copeia*, 1963(2), 245–251. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/1441339
- Stevens, J. D. (1973). Stomach Contents of the Blue Shark (*Prionace Glauca* L.) Off South-West England. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 53(2), 357–361. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315400022323
- Stevens, J. D. (1984a). Biological observations on sharks caught by sport fisherman of New South Wales. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 35(5), 573–590. https://doi.org/10.1071/mf9840573
- Stevens, J. D. (1984b). Life-History and Ecology of Sharks at Aldabra Atoll, Indian Ocean. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences, 222(1226), 79–106. JSTOR.

Stevens, J. D., & Lyle, J. M. (1989). Biology of three hammerhead sharks (*Eusphyra blochii*, *Sphyrna mokarran* and *S. lewini*) from Northern Australia. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 40(2), 129–146. https://doi.org/10.1071/mf9890129

- Stillwell, C. E. (1993). Food habits of the sandbar shark *Carcharhinus plumbeus* off the
  - U.S. northeast coast, with estimates of daily ration. Fishery Bulletin, 91, 138-150.

- Stillwell, C. E., & Casey, J. G. (1976). Observations on the bigeye thresher shark, Alopias superciliosus, in the western north Atlantic. Fishery Bulletin, 74(1), 221– 225.
- Stillwell, C. E., & Kohler, N. E. (1982). Food, Feeding Habits, and Estimates of Daily Ration of the Shortfin Mako (*Isurus oxyrinchus*) in the Northwest Atlantic. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 39(3), 407–414. https://doi.org/10.1139/f82-058
- Strasburg, D. W. (1958). Distribution, abundance, and habits of pelagic sharks in the central Pacific Ocean. *Fishery Bulletin*, 138(58), 335–361.
- Tagliafico, A., Hernández-Ávila, I., Rangel, S., & Rago, N. (2015). Size of catch, reproduction and feeding of the small-eye smooth-hound, *Mustelus higmani* (Carcharhiniformes: Triakidae), in Margarita Island, Venezuela. *Scientia Marina*, 79(4), 443–452. https://doi.org/10.3989/scimar.04245.09A
- Taniuchi, T. (1988). Aspects of Reproduction and Food Habits of the Japanese Swellshark Cephaloscyllium umbratile from Choshi, Japan. Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi, 54(4), 627–633. https://doi.org/10.2331/suisan.54.627
- Thorburn, D. C. (2006). *Biology, ecology and trophic interactions of elasmobranchs and other fishes in riverine waters of Northern Australia* [PhD]. Murdoch University.

Trystram, C., Rogers, K. M., Soria, M., & Jaquemet, S. (2017). Feeding patterns of two sympatric shark predators in coastal ecosystems of an oceanic island. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 74(2), 216–227. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2016-0105

- Valenzuela-Quiñonez, F., Galván-Magaña, F., Ebert, D. A., & Aragón-Noriega, E. A.
  (2018). Feeding habits and trophic level of the shovelnose guitarfish (*Pseudo-batos productus*) in the upper Gulf of California. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 98(7), 1783–1792.
  https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315417000832
- Valls, M., Quetglas, A., Ordines, F., & Moranta, J. (2011). Feeding ecology of demersal elasmobranchs from the shelf and slope off the Balearic Sea (western Mediterranean). *Scientia Marina*, 75(4), 633–639. https://doi.org/10.3989/scimar.2011.75n4633
- van der Elst, R. P. (1979). A proliferation of small sharks in the shore-based Natal sport fishery. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 4(4), 349–362. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00005524
- Varghese, S. P., Gulati, D. K., Unnikrishnan, N., & Ayoob, A. E. (2016). Biological aspects of silky shark *Carcharhinus falciformis* in the eastern Arabian Sea. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 96(7), 1437–1447. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315415001575
- Varghese, S. P., Somvanshi, V. S., & Dalvi, R. S. (2014). Diet composition, feeding niche partitioning and trophic organisation of large pelagic predatory fishes in the eastern Arabian Sea. *Hydrobiologia*, 736(1), 99–114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-014-1895-4
- Vaske Júnior, T., Lessa, R. P., & Gadig, O. B. F. (2009). Feeding habits of the blue shark (*Prionace glauca*) off the coast of Brazil. *Biota Neotropica*, 9(3), 55–60. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1676-06032009000300004

- Vaske-Júnior, T., & Rincón-Filho, G. (1998). Stomach content of blue sharks (*Prinace glauca*) and anequim (*Isurus oxyrinchus*) from oceanic waters of southern Brazil. *Revista Brasileira de Biologia*, 58(3), 445–452. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0034-71081998000300009
- Wass, R. C. (1971). A comparative study of the life history: Distribution and ecology of the sandbar shark and the gray reef shark in Hawaii [PhD]. University of Hawaii.
- Wetherbee, B., Crow, G. L., & Lowe, C. G. (1997). Distribution, reproduction and diet of the gray reef shark *Carcharhinus amblyrhynchos* in Hawaii. *Marine Ecology Pro*gress Series, 151, 181–189. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps151181
- Wetherbee, B. M., Crow, G. L., & Lowe, C. G. (1996). Biology of the Galapagos shark, *Carcharhinus galapagensis*, in Hawai'i. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 45(3), 299–310. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00003099
- White, W. T., Platell, M. E., & Potter, I. C. (2004). Comparisons between the diets of four abundant species of elasmobranchs in a subtropical embayment: Implications for resource partitioning. *Marine Biology*, 144(3), 439–448. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-003-1218-1
- Wood, A. D., Wetherbee, B. M., Juanes, F., Kohler, N. E., & Wilga, C. (2009). Recalculated diet and daily ration of the shortfin mako (*Isurus oxyrinchus*), with a focus on quantifying predation on bluefish (*Pomatomus saltatrix*) in the northwest Atlantic Ocean. *Fishery Bulletin*, 107(1), 76–88.
- Yang, M.-S., & Page, B. N. (1999). Diet of Pacific sleeper shark, Somniosus pacificus, in the Gulf of Alaska. Fishery Bulletin, 97(2), 406–409.

- Yano, K., Stevens, J. D., & Compagno, L. J. V. (2007). Distribution, reproduction and feeding of the Greenland shark *Somniosus (Somniosus) microcephalus*, with notes on two other sleeper sharks, *Somniosus (Somniosus) pacificus* and *Somniosus (Somniosus) antarcticus*. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 70(2), 374–390. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2007.01308.x
- Yatsu, A. (1995). The Role of Slender Tuna, *Allothunnus fallai*, in the Pelagic Ecosystems of the South Pacific Ocean. *Japanese Journal of Ichthyology*, 41(4), 367– 377. https://doi.org/10.11369/jji1950.41.367
# 4.4 Model covariate sample sizes and residuals

Supplementary Table 4. Sample sizes of categorical covari-

	Hemisphere		
Covariate	N	S	
Ecosystem			
Estuary	8	4	
Coastal	14	38	
Shelf	51	47	
Offshore	45	30	
Functional group			
Demersal	29	20	
Reef-associated	19	36	
Benthopelagic	25	14	
Pelagic	45	49	

ates in the northern and southern hemisphere models.



**Figure 4.2** Pearson residuals versus fitted values (Standardized Levin's dietary niche) for the best-fit northern hemisphere linear mixed effects model applied to the full niche dataset.



**Figure 4.3** Pearson residuals versus fitted values (Standardized Levin's dietary niche) for the best-fit southern hemisphere linear model applied to the full niche dataset.

#### 4.5 Model results with smaller sample sizes excluded

In order to further test the effects of sample size (*e.g.*, number of stomachs sampled within each predator population) on niche breadth, a second set of models was run with a higher sample size cutoff. Any studies that reported fewer than 100 non-empty stomachs were excluded from the dataset and models re-run. In all models, ecosystem, body size, and their interaction were retained as variables explaining the greatest variance in niche breadth.

In the northern hemisphere, the effect of sample size completely disappeared (Supplemental Table 6). Estuarine and coastal species were more specialized than offshore species (Fig. 4.5). In the southern hemisphere, offshore species were more specialized than coastal species (Fig. 4.7), which may reflect the greater number of larger, more specialized pelagic sharks, such as white and shortfin mako sharks, in the southern hemisphere dataset. Supplementary Table 5. Sample sizes of categorical covariates in the northern and southern hemisphere models with smaller stomach sample sizes excluded.

	Hemisphere			
Covariate	Ν	S		
Ecosystem				
Estuary	3	-		
Coastal	6	17		
Shelf	14	19		
Offshore	19	9		
Functional group				
Demersal	10	9		
Reef-associated	6	13		
Benthopelagic	6	4		
Pelagic	20	19		

Expression	df (df resid)	AIC	ΔΑΙϹ	R²
lat + long + s + sr + e + s:sr + s:e + lat:long + lat:sr +	16 (26)	-59.1	_	0.93
RE(Study)				
dpe + s + sr + dr + e + dpe:sr + dpe:dr + dpe:s +	18 (24)	-58.3	0.8	0.75
e:s + e:sr				
lat + long + s + sr + e + s:sr + s:e + lat:long + lat:sr	15 (27)	-57.9	1.2	0.71

**Supplementary Table 6.** Three best-fit models applied to northern hemisphere niche breadth, with a minimum stomach sample size of 100 stomachs. N = 42

lat, sampling latitude; long, sampling longitude; s, predator size; sr, predator size range; e,

ecosystem; dpe, distance to polar edge; dr, depth range; RE(Study), study as random effect.

**Supplementary Table 7.** Four best-fit models applied to southern hemisphere niche breadth, with a minimum stomach sample size of 100 stomachs. N = 45

Expression	df (df resid)	AIC	ΔΑΙϹ	R²	
ss + long + s + sr + e + e:s + e:sr	12 (33)	-25.2	_	0.59	-
SS + S + Sr + e + e:S + e:Sr	11 (34)	-22.0	3.2	0.53	
ss + s + sr + e + e:s + e:sr + RE(Study)	12 (33)	-19.8	5.4	0.54	
ss + long + s + sr + e + e:s + RE(Study)	11 (34)	-17.8	7.4	0.58	

ss, sample size; long, sampling longitude; s, predator size; sr, predator size range; e, ecosys-

tem; RE(Study), study as random effect.



**Figure 4.4** Pearson residuals versus fitted values (Standardized Levin's dietary niche) for the northern hemisphere linear mixed effects model applied to data with small sample sizes (*n* <100) excluded.



**Figure 4.5** Forest plot of northern hemisphere best-fit model applied to dietary niche data with small sample sizes (n < 100) excluded. Red dots indicate negative effects, while blue indicate positive. Ecosystem, body size, and their interaction remain significant and explain a large amount of variation in niche breadth. (N = 42;  $R^2 = 0.93$ )



**Figure 4.6** Pearson residuals versus fitted values (Standardized Levin's dietary niche) for the southern hemisphere linear model applied to data with small sample sizes (*n* <100) excluded.



**Figure 4.7** Forest plot of best fit southern hemisphere model applied to dietary niche data with small sample sizes (n < 100) excluded. Red dots indicate negative effects, while blue indicate positive. Ecosystem, body size, and their interaction remain significant and explain a large amount of variation in niche breadth. (N = 45;  $R^2 = 0.59$ )

#### Clade-only models *4.6*

As clade was highly colinear with other model parameters, a separate suite of models was run in order to test the effect of clade on niche breadth. Model selection then proceeded as described in the main text (see "Methods" above). In both the northern and southern hemispheres, clade was a poor predictor of niche breadth (Supplemental Table 8).

Hemisphere	Expression	df (df	AIC	ΔΑΙϹ	R <sup>2</sup>
		resid)			
	ss + dpe + s + lr + dr + e + fg + e:fg + e:lr	36 (82)	-119.5	—	0.75
Northern n = 118	+ e:dr + s:fg + s:dr + s:lr + s:e + dpe:lr +				
	RE(Study)				
	ss + dr + c + e + e:c + e:dr	18 (100)	-84.3	35.2	0.39
	ss + dpe + s + sr + dr + e + fg + s:d +	23 (96)	-67.0	_	0.60
Southern <i>n</i> = 119	s:fg + s:dr + fg:dr				
	ss + dpe + s + sr + lr + dr + c + e + e:c +	25 (94)	-39.0	28.0	0.53
	e:lr + s:sr + lr:dr				

Supplementary Table 8. Rost fit porthern and southern models applied to picke broadth

c, clade; ss, sample size; dpe, distance to polar edge; s, predator size; sr, predator size range; Ir, latitudinal range; dr, depth range; e, ecosystem; fg, functional group; long, sampling longitude; lat, sampling latitude; RE(Study), study as random effect.

#### 4.7 SEA<sub>B</sub> and KDE methodology

Dietary niche was averaged together by species in order to obtain a single mean dietary niche value per elasmobranch species. This mean value was then compared to mean isotopic or telemetric niche value (see below) in order to create Fig. 3.1.

### 4.7.1 Isotopic niche

Isotopic ratios derived from animal tissues can be used to estimate isotopic niche (Bearhop et al., 2004; Newsome et al., 2007). Isotopic niche was calculated as Bayesian standard ellipse areas (SEA<sub>B</sub>) in carbon ( $\delta^{13}$ C) and nitrogen ( $\delta^{15}$ N) isotopic space with the **R** package SIBER, following methodology outlined in Jackson et al. (2011) and using data prepared by the Chondrichthyan Stable Isotope Project (CSIDP;

https://github.com/Shark-Isotopes/CSIDP; see Bird et al., 2018 for detailed methodology on compilation of the CSIDP dataset). SEA<sub>B</sub> was calculated for each species in the CSIDP dataset by sampling region. In order to derive a single isotopic niche value per species, SEA<sub>B</sub> for each species across all regions was then averaged together.

#### 4.7.2 Telemetric niche

Home range size can be used as a proxy for space use and is frequently used in studies comparing other metrics of niche breadth to home range size (Slatyer et al., 2013). Home ranges were calculated as 50% kernel density estimates (KDE) using telemetry data (Kie et al., 2010; Silva-Opps et al., 2011) of satellite tagged sharks prepared by the Global Shark Movement Project (GSMP; https://www.globalsharkmovement.org; for detailed methodology of telemetry data preparation, see Queiroz et al., 2019). GSMP data were first filtered to only include telemetry tracks 1) derived from SPOT tags, as they have higher spatial accuracy (Hammerschlag et al., 2011) and 2) with greater than 5 detections. Detections were then gridded at a 0.25° spatial resolution and reprojected into equal area projections by UTM zone in order to obtain eastings and northings, in meters, for each detection, prior to any spatial analysis involving area calculations. Home range, measured as 50% kernel density estimations in m<sup>2</sup>, was then calculated for each species in each region using the **R** package latticeDensity (Barry & McIntyre, 2011), resulting in one KDE estimate for each species-region combination (*i.e.*, one KDE estimate per regional population). Detection data were not temporally partitioned and as such this estimate represents a 50% KDE across the entire lifetime of the tag. KDE estimations for each species within a region were then averaged together to derive a mean home range size per species.

#### 4.7.3 References

- Barry, R. P., & McIntyre, J. (2011). Estimating Animal Densities and Home Range in Regions with Irregular Boundaries and Holes: A Lattice-Based Alternative to the Kernel Density Estimator. *Ecological Modelling*, 222(10), 1666–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2011.02.016
- Bearhop, S., Adams, C. E., Waldron, S., Fuller, R. A., & MacLeod, H. (2004). Determining Trophic Niche Width: A Novel Approach Using Stable Isotope Analysis.

*Journal of Animal Ecology*, *73*(5), 1007–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0021-8790.2004.00861.x

- Bird, C. S., Veríssimo, A., Magozzi, S., Abrantes, K. G., Aguilar, A., Al-Reasi, H., Barnett, A., Bethea, D. M., Biais, G., Borrell, A., Bouchoucha, M., Boyle, M.,
  Brooks, E. J., Brunnschweiler, J., Bustamante, P., Carlisle, A., Catarino, D., Caut, S., Cherel, Y., ... Trueman, C. N. (2018). A global perspective on the trophic geography of sharks. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, *2*(2), 299–305. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0432-z
- Hammerschlag, N., Gallagher, A. J., & Lazarre, D. M. (2011). A Review of Shark Satellite Tagging Studies. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 398(1-2), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JEMBE.2010.12.012
- Jackson, A. L., Inger, R., Parnell, A. C., & Bearhop, S. (2011) Comparing Isotopic Niche Widths among and within Communities: SIBER - Stable Isotope Bayesian Ellipses in R. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 80(3), 595–602. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01806.x
- Kie, J. G., Matthiopoulos, J., Fieberg, J., Powell, R. A., Cagnacci, F., Mitchell, M. S.,
  Gaillard, J.-M., & Moorcroft, P. R. (2010). The Home-Range Concept: Are Traditional Estimators Still Relevant with Modern Telemetry Technology? *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 365(1550), 2221–31. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0093
- Newsome, S. D., del Rio, C. M., Bearhop, S., & Phillips, D. L. (2007) A Niche for Isotopic Ecology. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 5(8), 429–36. https://doi.org/10.1890/060150.1

- Queiroz, N., Humphries, N. E., Couto, A., Vedor, M., da Costa, I., Sequeira, A. M. M., Mucientes, G., Santos, A. M., Abascal, F. J., Abercrombie, D. L., Abrantes, K., Acuña-Marrero, D., Afonso, A. S., Afonso, P., Anders, D., Araujo, G., Arauz, R., Bach, P., Barnett, A., ... Sims, D. W. (2019). Global spatial risk assessment of sharks under the footprint of fisheries. *Nature*, *572*(7770), 461–466. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1444-4
- Silva-Opps, M., & Opps, S. B. (2011). Use of Telemetry Data to Investigate Home Range and Habitat Selection in Mammalian Carnivores. In O. Krejcar (Ed.), *Modern Telemetry*. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/25221
- Slatyer, R. A., Hirst, M., & Sexton, J. P. (2013). Niche Breadth Predicts Geographical Range Size: A General Ecological Pattern. *Ecology Letters*, 16(8), 1104–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12140

Ahlmann-Eltze, C. (2019). ggsignif: Significance Brackets for "ggplot2."

https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=ggsignif

Aphalo, P. J. (2020). ggpmisc: Miscellaneous Extensions to "ggplot2." https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=ggpmisc

Auguie, B. (2017). gridExtra: Miscellaneous Functions for "Grid" Graphics. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=gridExtra

- Bache, S. M., & Wickham, H. (2014). magrittr: A Forward-Pipe Operator for R. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=magrittr
- Barry, R. (2018). LatticeDensity: Density Estimation and Nonparametric Regression on Irregular Regions. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=latticeDensity.
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1), 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Bivand, R., Keitt, T., & Rowlingson, B. (2019). *Rgdal: Bindings for the "Geospatial" Data Abstraction Library*. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=rgdal.
- Bivand, R., & Lewin-Koh, N. (2019). Maptools: Tools for Handling Spatial Objects. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=maptools.
- Bivand, R. S., Pebesma, E., & Gomez-Rubio, V. (2013). Applied Spatial Data Analysis with R. 2nd ed. Springer, NY. https://asdar-book.org/.
- Boettiger, C., Lang, D. T., & Wainwright, P. (2012). rfishbase: Exploring, manipulating and visualizing FishBase data from R. *Journal of Fish Biology*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2012.03464.x

- Dowle, M., & Srinivasan, A. (2019). *data.table: Extension of `data.frame`*. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=data.table
- Firke, S. (2020). *janitor: Simple Tools for Examining and Cleaning Dirty Data*. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=janitor
- Huling, J. (2019). *jcolors: Colors Palettes for R and "ggplot2", Additional Themes for "ggplot2."* https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=jcolors
- Harrell, F. E. Jr., & Dupont, C. (2019). *Hmisc: Harrell Miscellaneous*. https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=Hmisc
- Kassambara, A. (2020). ggpubr: "ggplot2" Based Publication Ready Plots. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=ggpubr
- Lin, D. (2012). VIF: VIF Regression: A Fast Regression Algorithm For Large Data. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=VIF
- Lüdecke, D. (2020). sjPlot: Data Visualization for Statistics in Social Science. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=sjPlot
- Nakazawa, M. (2019). *fmsb: Functions for Medical Statistics Book with some Demo*graphic Data. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=fmsb
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F. G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P. R., O'Hara, R. B., Simpson, G. L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M. H. H., Szoecs, E., & Wagner, H. (2019). *vegan: Community Ecology Package*. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan
- Pebesma, E. (2018). Simple Features for R: Standardized Support for Spatial Vector Data. *The R Journal*, *10*(1), 439–446. https://doi.org/10.32614/RJ-2018-009.

- Pebesma, E., & Bivand, R. S. (2005). "Classes and Methods for Spatial Data in R." R News, 5(2). https://cran.r-project.org/doc/Rnews/.
- Pedersen, T. L. (2019). ggforce: Accelerating "ggplot2." https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=ggforce
- Peterson, B. G., & Carl, P. (2020). PerformanceAnalytics: Econometric Tools for Performance and Risk Analysis. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=PerformanceAnalytics
- Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., Sarkar, D., & R Core Team. (2020). *nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models*. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=nlme
- R Core Team. (2020). *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/
- Sarkar, D. (2008). *Lattice: Multivariate Data Visualization with R.* Springer. http://lmdvr.r-forge.r-project.org
- Schiettekatte, N. M. D., Brandl, S. J., & Casey, J. M. (2020). *fishualize: Color Palettes Based on Fish Species*. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=fishualize

Sievert, C. (2018). *Plotly for R*. https://plotly-r.com

- Teucher, A., & Russell, K. (2020). *Rmapshaper: Client for "mapshaper" for "Geospatial" Operations*. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=rmapshaper.
- Wehrwein, A. (2020). *awtools: Misc tools and themes for austinwehrwein.com*. http://github.com/awhstin/awtools
- Wickham, H. (2007). Reshaping Data with the reshape Package. *Journal of Statistical Software*, *21*(12), 1–20.

- Wickham, H. (2016). ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Springer-Verlag New York. https://ggplot2.tidyverse.org
- Wickham, H. (2019). stringr: Simple, Consistent Wrappers for Common String Operations. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=stringr
- Wickham, H., François, R., Henry, L., & Müller, K. (2020). *dplyr: A Grammar of Data Manipulation*. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=dplyr
- Wickham, H., & Henry, L. (2020). *tidyr: Tidy Messy Data*. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=tidyr

## **VITA AUCTORIS**

NAME: Sarah Popov

PLACE OF BIRTH: Massachusetts, USA

YEAR OF BIRTH: 1994

EDUCATION:

New Providence High School, New Providence, NJ,

USA, 2012

McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada, 2015